
OFFICIAL

#plymplanning

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Thursday 16 January 2020
4.00 pm
Council House, Plymouth

Members:
Councillor Stevens, Chair
Councillor Tuohy, Vice Chair
Councillors Allen, Mrs Bridgeman, Derrick, Loveridge, McDonald, Nicholson, Mrs Pengelly, 
Rebecca Smith, Vincent, Ms Watkin and Winter.

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf.

This meeting will be webcast and available on-line after the meeting.  By entering the Council 
Chamber, councillors are consenting to being filmed during the meeting and to the use of the 
recording for the webcast.

The Council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act.  Data collected during this 
webcast will be retained in accordance with authority’s published policy.

For further information on attending Council meetings and how to engage in the democratic 
process please follow this link - http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/accesstomeetings

Tracey Lee
Chief Executive

Oversight and Governance
Chief Executive’s Department
Plymouth City Council
Ballard House
Plymouth  PL1 3BJ

Please ask for  Democratic Support
T 01752 305155
E democraticsupport@plymouth.gov.uk
www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy
Published 10 January 2020

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/accesstomeetings
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/


OFFICIAL

Planning Committee

1. Apologies  

To receive apologies for non-attendance submitted by Committee Members. 

2. Declarations of Interest  

Members will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items on this 
agenda.

3. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 6)

The Committee will be asked to confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 5 December 
2019.

4. Chair's Urgent Business  

To receive reports on business which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 
forward for urgent consideration.

5. Questions from Members of the Public  

The Chair will receive and respond to questions from members of the public submitted in 
accordance with the Council’s procedures. Questions shall not normally exceed 50 
words in length and the total length of time allowed for public questions shall not exceed 
10 minutes. Any question not answered within the total time allowed shall be the subject 
of a written response.

6. Planning Applications for consideration  

The Assistant Director for Strategic Planning and Infrastructure will submit a schedule 
asking Members to consider Applications, Development proposals by Local Authorities 
and statutory consultations under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the 
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

6.1. 14 West Hill Road - 19/01457/S73 (Pages 7 - 16)

Applicant: Mr Ben Elliott
Ward:  Efford and Lipson
Recommendation: Grant Conditionally

6.2. Civic Centre - 19/00439/FUL (Pages 17 - 74)

Applicant: Mr Phillip Yunnie
Ward:  St Peter and the Waterfront



OFFICIAL

Recommendation: Grant conditionally subject to S106 planning obligation with 
delegated authority to Service Director for Strategic Planning 
and Infrastructure to refuse if not signed within agreed 
timeframes.

6.3. Civic Centre - 19/00440/LBC (Pages 75 - 104)

Applicant: Mr Phillip Yunnie
Ward:  St Peter and the Waterfront
Recommendation: Grant conditionally.

7. Planning Enforcement  (Pages 105 - 106)

8. Planning Application Decisions Issued  (Pages 107 - 122)

The Assistant Director for Strategic Planning and Infrastructure, acting under powers delegated 
to him by the Council, will submit a schedule outlining all decisions issued since the last 
meeting.

1)  Committee decisions;
2)  Delegated decisions, subject to conditions where so indicated;
3)  Applications withdrawn;
4)  Applications returned as invalid.

Please note that these Delegated Planning Applications are available to view online at: 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/planningapplicationsv4/welcome.asp 

9. Appeal Decisions  (Pages 123 - 124)

A schedule of decisions made by the Planning Inspectorate on appeals arising from the decision 
of the City Council will be submitted.  Please note that these Delegated Planning Applications 
are available to view online at: 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/planningapplicationsv4/welcome.asp 

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/planningapplicationsv4/welcome.asp
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/planningapplicationsv4/welcome.asp


This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Thursday 5 December 2019

OFFICIAL

Planning Committee

Thursday 5 December 2019

PRESENT:

Councillor Stevens, in the Chair.
Councillor Tuohy, Vice Chair.
Councillors Allen, Mrs Bridgeman, Derrick, McDonald (substitute for Councillor 
Corvid), Nicholson, Riley (substitute for Councillor Loveridge), Tuffin, Ms Watkin 
and Winter.

Apologies for absence: Councillors Corvid, Loveridge, Mrs Pengelly and Rebecca 
Smith.

Also in attendance: Peter Ford (Head of Development Manager, Strategic Planning 
and Infrastructure), Mark Lawrence (Lawyer), Mike Stone (Planning Officer), Amy 
Thompson (Planning Officer), Gary Lester (Transport Planning Officer), Jane 
Turner (Natural Infrastructure Officer), Jamie Sheldon (Democratic Advisor) and 
Amelia Boulter (Democratic Advisor).

The meeting started at 4.00 pm and finished at 5.56 pm.

Note: At a future meeting, the committee will consider the accuracy of these draft minutes, so they may be 
subject to change.  Please check the minutes of that meeting to confirm whether these minutes have been 
amended.

68. Declarations of Interest  

There were no declarations of interest made.

69. Minutes  

Agreed the minutes of the meeting held on 10 October 2019.

70. Chair's Urgent Business  

There were no items of Chair’s urgent business.

71. Questions from Members of the Public  

There were no questions from members of the public.

72. Planning Applications for consideration  

The Committee considered the following applications, development proposals by 
local authorities and statutory consultations submitted under the Town and Country 
Planning Act, 1990, and the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservations Areas) Act, 
1990.

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



Planning Committee Thursday 5 December 2019

OFFICIAL

73. Ground Floor Flat, 25 Grand Parade - 19/01017/LBC  

Mr Didier Cavrot
Decision:
Application GRANTED conditionally, with an amendment to condition 3 (Materials) 
to clarify that the aluminium door frames are to be coloured white, proposed by 
Councillor Nicholson and seconded by Councillor Derrick.

74. 1 Bounds Place - 19/01217/FUL  

Mr Dara Mohammed
Decision:  Grant conditionally

The Committee requested that the case officer contact the relevant Building Control 
Officer and the Fire Service to ensure that issues raised by the objector regarding 
means of access for fire purposes at the adjacent property are properly addressed 
and to delay the issuing of the decision until these reassurances can be given.  An 
email confirmation on these matters to be circulated to the Committee.   

(The Committee heard from Michael Freeman against the application).

The Committee site visit was held on 4 December 2019 in respect of this item).

75. 21 Mutley Road - 19/01646/PIP  

Mr N Bishop
Decision:  Refused due for the following reason

The amount of development proposed at four dwellings is considered 
overdevelopment of a residential garden and would result in town cramming.  The 
amount of development would impact on the protected trees on site and would not 
be able to provide adequate mitigation on site.  The loss of protected trees are 
considered to have an unacceptable impact on the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area.  The proposal is therefore contrary to Joint Local Plan policies 
DEV10, DEV20, DEV21, DEV23 and DEV28 and the NPPF.

(The Committee heard from Councillor Carson, Ward Councillor).

(The Committee heard from Stephen James against the application).

(A site visit was held on 4 December 2019 in respect of this item).

76. Planning Enforcement  

Members noted the Planning Enforcement Report.

77. Planning Application Decisions Issued  

The Committee noted the report from the Assistant Director for Strategic Planning 
and Infrastructure on decisions issued since the last meeting.

Page 2



Planning Committee Thursday 5 December 2019

OFFICIAL

78. Appeal Decisions  

The Committee noted the schedule of appeal decisions made by the Planning 
Inspectorate.  The Committee were informed that the appeal at Land at St Anne’s 
Road was upheld by the inspector and the applicant was awarded costs against the 
council.

VOTING SCHEDULE 5 DECEMBER 2019  (Pages 5 - 6)

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



OFFICIAL

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 5 December 2019

SCHEDULE OF VOTING

Minute number and 
Application

Voting for Voting 
against

Abstained Absent due 
to interest 
declared

Absent

6.1 Ground Floor Flat, 25 
Gran Parade, Plymouth, 
PL1 3DQ

Councillors 
Stevens, 
Tuohy, 
Bridgeman, 
Riley, 
Nicholson, 
Ms Watkin, 
Derrick, 
Allen, 
McDonald, 
Tuffin and 
Winter.

6.2 1 Bounds Place, 
Plymouth, PL1 3LS

Councillors 
Stevens, 
Tuohy, Ms 
Watkin, 
Derrick, 
Allen, 
McDonald, 
Tuffin and 
Winter.

Councillors 
Bridgeman 
and Riley

Councillor 
Nicholson

6.3 21 Mutley Road, 
Plymouth, PL3 4SB

Councillors 
Stevens, 
Tuohy, 
Bridgeman, 
Riley, 
Nicholson, 
Ms Watkin, 
Derrick, 
Allen, 
McDonald, 
Tuffin and 
Winter.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   

PLANNING APPLICATION 
OFFICERS REPORT 

 
 

Site Address 14 West Hill Road  Plymouth  PL4 7LE       

Proposal 
Variation of condition 1 of application 18/00521/FUL to allow amended 
design (Part Retrospective) 

Applicant Mr Ben Elliott 

Application Type Removal or variation of a condition 

Target Date    14.11.2019 
Committee 
Date 16.01.2020 

Extended Target Date 17.01.2020   

Decision Category Councillor Referral 

Case Officer Miss Josephine Maddick 

Recommendation Grant Conditionally 
 

Application 
Number   19/01457/S73  Item 01 

Date Valid 19.09.2019  Ward EFFORD AND LIPSON 

Page 7 Agenda Item 6.1



 

 

 
 
This application has been referred to committee by Cllr Murphy 
 
1.  Description of Site 
14 West Hill Road is a two-storey end terrace dwelling located within the Efford and Lipson 
neighbourhood. The site is a plot set at street level adjacent to Maida Vale Terrace.  
 
2.  Proposal Description 
Variation of condition 1 (Approved Plans) 18/00521/FUL to allow amended design. 
 
Original approved dimensions  
 
Erection of a single storey rear annex 19/01547/FUL 
 
The proposed internal space measures approximately 28.9 sq. metres.  

Page 8



 

 

The proposed external perimeter measures approximately 36 sq. metres  
The roof is part pitched with part flat roof with a surface area of approximately 14.3 sq. metres.  
The northeast elevation, the length measures approximately 4.88m  
The southeast elevation the length measures approximately 6.82m  
The southwest elevation the length measures approximately 5.46m 
The northwest elevation the length measures approximately 7.14m 
Height to eaves: 2.55m 
Height to flat roof to ground floor level: 3.6m  
 
New dimensions under 19/01272/S73: 
 
The proposed internal space measures approximately 31 sq. metres.  
The proposed external perimeter measures approximately 40 sq. metres  
The roof is part pitched with part flat roof with a surface area of approximately 18.9 sq. metres.  
The northeast elevation, the length measures approximately 5.4m  
The southeast elevation the length measures approximately 7.1m  
The southwest elevation the length measures approximately 5.46m 
The northwest elevation the length measures approximately 7.59m 
Height to eaves: 2.55m 
Height to flat roof to ground floor level: 3.64m  
 
The proposed materials include roof tiles to match existing roof of the dwelling house and render to 
match existing house. 
 
3. Pre-application Enquiry 
None. 
 
4. Relevant Planning History 
19/00212/ENF Enforcement Case – Not built in accordance with plans 
19/00041/ENF Enforcement Case - Alleged unauthorised dumping of building waste 
18/00521/FUL - Erection of a single storey rear annex – grant conditionally  
 
5. Consultation Responses 
None requested. 
 
6. Representations 
7 Objections received  
Overdevelopment  
Lack of parking  
Air B&B use 
Lack of space for bins 
Open enforcement case, plans not being followed 
Removal of boundary wall 
Harm to overall amenity of the area due to increase in C4 use  
 
7. Relevant Policy Framework 
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the 
development plan, any local finance and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of the 2004 
Planning and Compensation Act requires that applications are to be determined in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  For the purposes of 
decision making, as of March 26th 2019, the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 
2034 is now part of the development plan for Plymouth City Council, South Hams District Council 

Page 9



 

 

and West Devon Borough Council (other than parts South Hams and West Devon within Dartmoor 
National Park. 
 
On 26 March 2019 of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan was adopted by all three 
of the component authorities. Following adoption, the three authorities jointly notified the Ministry 
of Housing, Communities and Local Government of their choice to monitor at the whole plan level. 
This is for the purposes of the Housing Delivery Test and the 5 Year Housing Land Supply 
assessment.  A letter from MHCLG to the Authorities was received on 13 May 2019. This confirmed 
the Plymouth, South Hams and West Devon’s revised joint Housing Delivery Test Measurement as 
163% and that the consequences are “None”.  It confirmed that the revised HDT measurement will 
take effect upon receipt of the letter, as will any consequences that will apply as a result of the 
measurement. It also confirmed that that the letter supersedes the HDT measurements for each of 
the 3 local authority areas (Plymouth City, South Hams District and West Devon Borough) which 
Government published on 19 February 2019. 
  
Therefore a 5% buffer is applied for the purposes of calculating a 5 year land supply at a whole plan 
level. When applying the 5% buffer, the combined authorities can demonstrate a 5-year land supply 
of 6.4 years at end March 2019 (the 2019 Monitoring Point). This is set out in the Plymouth, South 
Hams & West Devon Local Planning Authorities’ Housing Position Statement 2019 (published 26 July 
2019). The methodology and five year land supply calculations in the Housing Position Statement are 
based on the relevant changes in the revised National Planning Policy Framework published 19 
February 2019 and updates to National Planning Practice Guidance published by the Government in 
September 2018, subsequently amended by NPPG Housing Supply and Delivery published 22 July 
2019. 
 
Other material considerations include the policies of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), National Design Guide and guidance in Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). Additionally, the 
following planning documents are also material considerations in the determination of the 
application:  
• Development Guidelines: Supplementary Planning Document: First Review (2013) 
• Plymouth and South West Devon Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). (Currently 
under consultation)  
  
8. Analysis 
1. This application turns upon the adopted Joint Local Plan and its policies DEV1 (Protecting 
health and amenity), DEV20 (Place shaping and the quality of the built environment) and DEV10 
(Delivering high quality housing), the Framework and other material policy documents as set out in 
Section 7. 
 
2. Officers note the Plymouth and South West Devon SPD has completed its consultation phase 
but can carry limited weight prior to its formal adoption. Guidance is set out in the draft of the 
Plymouth and South West Devon SPD that expands on JLP policy DEV10.4 by setting out criteria for 
residential annexes, though officers have been unable to consider the policy as the annexe already 
has permission under planning consent 18/00521/FUL and the policy is not yet adopted. 
 
3. This application seeks retrospective consent by way of variation of condition for a larger 
annexe building to what was approved. The original consent was issued on 26th June 2018 for 
erection of a single storey annexe. The development started on site and the Local Planning Authority 
received a report that the development was not being built in accordance with the plans. As a result 
planning enforcement officers conducted a site visit on the 27th June 2019 and made contact with 
the owner regarding the breach of planning control. Officers invited a section 73 application so that 
the material changes can be properly considered, as well as providing an opportunity for public 
consultation.  

Page 10



 

 

 
Party Wall 
4. Officers note that objections have been raised regarding encroachment and party wall 
concerns between 12 and 14 West Hill Road. Officers deem this not to be a material planning 
consideration as it is a civil matter between both parties. The positon of the built annexe has been 
considered in conjunction with the site location plan and position of the red line. Officers consider 
that the annexe currently in situ is within the red line, as the red outline is quite thickly marked on 
the site location plan and consequently allows for interpretation in terms of its exact location within 
the red line. As a result, officers have been able to continue determination of this s73 application 
rather than ensue non-determination and the applicant proceeding to appeal on grounds of non-
determination.   
  
Design/Impact on Streetscene 
5. 14 West Hill Road is an end terrace property and has a large side elevation fronting onto 
Maida Vale Terrace. The annexe building which was approved under 18/00521/FUL measures 36 sq 
metres when measured externally, the annexe which has been built measures 41 sq. metres and 
proposal subject to this application measures 40 sq. metres. The increase in size externally is due to 
a wider external wall on the southwest elevation. Under the original consent, the north east 
elevation measured 4.88 metres in length and the previous officer report described the annexe as 
being tucked into the rear curtilage. Under the new application, the annexe appears more prominent 
on the street scene as the north-east elevation of the annexe is wider than what was approved. It 
now measures 5.4 metres due to it being extended by 52cms. 
 
6. However, on balance, the changes to the design are not considered significant and officers 
consider the proposal complies with Policy DEV20 of the JLP. 
 
7. The street scene is fragmented already with some rear elevations, side elevations and front 
elevations fronting onto Maida Vale Terrace. Its topography means that the rear of properties on 
Queens Road are quite exposed as they sit at a higher level and consequently, the rudimental 
retaining walls and hardstandings belonging to 24 and 24a Queens Road impair the street scene 
somewhat. The development at 14 West Hill Road should enhance the street scene and not degrade 
it further, especially given its adjacent position next to the rear of 24a Queens Road. The Joint Local 
Plan highlights this point in policy DEV20 whereby new development should rectify and repair 
damaged environments, and paragraph 130 of the NPPF advises that permission should be refused 
for development that fails to improve the quality of an area. Officers consider the proposed increase 
in size, which is subject to this s73 application does not constitute damage to the amenity of the 
area.  
 
8. The increase in size of the annexe has a cumulative impact on the property and should 
further development of the site take place it is likely to damage the amenity of the area especially 
given its sensitive location has an end terrace house. Officers deem it necessary to remove permitted 
development rights due to the enlargement of the annexe as there would be concern that further 
development would constitute overdevelopment of the site. 
 
 
Use of the property 
9. The property is currently being used as a self-contained holiday let (Class c3).  
Officers have carried out an internal inspection and note the property is laid out with a kitchen, 
double bedroom and bathroom on ground floor. It has three double bedrooms on the first floor 
with two en suite bathrooms. The court yard has been split into two with a solid wooden close 
boarded fence, the fence provides separate outdoor space and access to the rear of the house and 
separate access to the annexe. The dividing fence has not been included on the drawings as part of 
this application as the applicant confirmed the fence is in place to stop guests going near the annexe 

Page 11



 

 

whilst it is under construction and being exposed to a building site. Under permitted development, 
the courtyard fence could stay in situ and as it is permitted development, however officers consider 
the fence to demonstrate clear separation between the house and the annexe in that both units 
could be used independently with separate access points and the would effectively function as two 
separate units. Officers note the applicant has shown two entrances on the north-east elevation and 
therefore, it is probable that the separate access to the annexe will be retained. The creation of an 
independent access conflicts with guidance set out in paragraph 2.2.87 of the adopted SPD and 
officers have addressed the matter with the applicant’s agent who confirmed the two gates are not 
entirely necessary although would prefer to keep them in situ at this point. A condition has been 
added to this consent asserting the removal of one gate once the annexe is occupied and for the 
applicant submit evidence to the Local Planning Authority for written approval that the condition has 
been complied with. This is to ensure there is only one gate into the courtyard area from Maida Vale 
Terrace.  
 
10. Officers have discussed the use of the annexe with the applicant and it was confirmed in an 
email dated 28th Oct 2019 the annexe once complete will be used ancillary to the main dwelling to 
accommodate larger families. Officers consider that on a practical level the setup is unlikely to work 
for larger groups, because when families or groups holiday together it is normally centred around 
shared amenity space. At 14 West Hill Road there are two separate amenity spaces; the 
kitchen/dinner within the house and the lounge/kitchen within the annexe. On balance, should the 
owner of the property be unable to let the dwelling to larger families or groups which would include 
the annexe, there might be a temptation to let the annexe out as a single unit separate to the house. 
Occupiers of the annexe would not need to access the house, as the annexe is self-contained with its 
own bathroom, bedroom and kitchen living space. Officers are concerned that there is potential for 
unlawful C4 use. Notwithstanding this, the annex already has planning permission and should a 
breach of planning control take place in terms of unauthorised C4 use the local planning authority 
will investigate accordingly and escalate enforcement action where appropriate.  
 
11. Officers acknowledge that an annexe has already been approved on the site. The previous 
officer report under planning reference 18/00521/FUL raised concern about potential self-contained 
occupation and consequently added a condition in reference to a previous appeal outcome on a 
different site (APP/N1160/D/17/3175288).   
 
12. Officers note that the policy context has been clarified since the time of the original 
submission and Policy DEV10 of the JLP explicitly stipulates annexes should be ancillary to the 
principal dwelling via a functional link, with no separate demarcation or boundary. However, the 
application currently being assessed is a s73 variation of condition and officers are unable to revisit 
the principle of the annex itself. Furthermore whilst the use of the property as a holiday let may 
make monitoring of the property more difficult from an enforcement perspective, at present the unit 
would remain a C3 dwelling and no change of use is considered to have occurred.  
 
13. Officers note that objections from residents raise concern regarding over development of the 
site. However given the proposal is comparable to the original application in that the proposal is only 
four square metres bigger than what was given consent officers do not deem the increase in size to 
be significantly harmful.  The ancillary use condition will remain in place.  
 
Amenity 
14. An annexe building has already been approved at 14 West Hill Road and officers consider the 
new proposal to not be significantly different in size and shape to that, which was given consent 
originally.   
 
15. The proposed annexe is an unusual quadrilateral shape and sits on the boundary between 12 
and 14 West Hill Road. During construction of the annexe the existing boundary wall between 12 

Page 12



 

 

West Hill Road and 14 West Hill Road was removed. This point has been raised within letters of 
representation, however officers deem the removal or potential construction of a new garden wall 
within the curtilage of 12 West Hill Road is a civil matter.  The original approved plans indicated the 
annexe would be constructed on the boundary.  
 
16. Other amenity issues have been raised through a letter of representation (LOR) in regards to 
parking. The increase in size of the property and increased bed space could mean holidaymakers 
arrive in multiple vehicles to use the accommodation. The resident explains within the LOR that 
parking is already an issue along West Hill Road and Maida Vale Terrace and the annexe will 
exacerbate the issue. Officers recognise that parking is at a premium but an annexe has already been 
given planning consent on the site. Officers note the annexe user would be more likely to share 
transport needs with the main household if the site was not used as holiday accommodation, 
however as noted above a change of use has not occurred. 
 
17. Since August 2015 national planning policy requires consideration to be given as to whether 
intentional unauthorised development has been carried out. The new policy applies to all relevant 
planning decisions made by Local Planning Authorities and Planning Inspectors. The policy has been 
introduced largely as a result of Government concerns about the harm caused by unauthorised 
developments in the Greenbelt, but applies equally elsewhere. The policy does not indicate exactly 
how much weight should be afforded to this in relation to the weight to be given to other material 
planning considerations. Neither does the policy clarify exactly what evidence is required to 
demonstrate the unauthorised development has been carried out intentionally. 
 
18. It is clearly highly undesirable for any development to take place before planning permission 
has been properly sought, and obtained, in any circumstances. However, it should be noted that this 
new policy only applies where unauthorised development has taken place with the full knowledge of 
the person(s) undertaking the work that it lacks the necessary consent. In reality, given the 
difficulties in interpreting these points, it is considered that little or no weight can be given to this 
aspect, unless the Council has clearly indicated to the applicant that unauthorised development is 
being carried out, and that works have then continued beyond that point, or where there is some 
other compelling evidence that such work has intentionally been carried out. 
 
19. Neither of these factors appear to apply in this case, and so it is considered that no weight 
should be afforded to this particular point in the determination of this application. 
 
20. Officers have considered this application in detail and negotiated with the applicant to secure 
improvements, which has included: reducing the size of the annexe from 41sq metres to 40 sq. 
metres; reinstating a pitch to the roof; and reinstating the part demolished rear tenement of 14 
West Hill Road.   
 
9. Human Rights 
Human Rights Act - The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Human Rights 
Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act itself. This Act gives 
further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human Rights. In arriving at this 
recommendation, due regard has been given to the applicant's reasonable development rights and 
expectations which have been balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as 
expressed through third party interests / the Development Plan and Central Government Guidance. 
 
10. Local Finance Considerations 
N/A 
 
11. Planning Obligations 
Planning obligations not required due to the nature and size of proposal. 

Page 13



 

 

 
12. Equalities and Diversities 
Officers note that there is an equality and diversity issue for the resident of 12 West Hill Road, in 
terms of access into the rear service lane and ongoing party wall matters with the owner of 14 West 
Hill Road. Officers deem the issue to be a civil matter between both parties. The annexe itself in 
terms of usability or function does not cause concern. 
This planning application has had due regard to Section 149 of the Equality Act with regard to the 
Public Sector Equality Duty and has concluded that the application does not cause discrimination on 
the grounds of gender, race and disability.   
 
13. Conclusions and Reasons for Decision 
Officers have taken account of the NPPF and S38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 and concluded that the proposed Variation of Condition 1 (Approved Plans) accords with 
policy and national guidance in terms of design and neighbourhood amenity. The proposal is four 
square metres bigger than what was originally approved and on balance the small increase in size 
does not cause harm to the amenity of the area and is therefore recommended for approval. 

 

14. Recommendation 

In respect of the application dated 19.09.2019 it is recommended to   Grant Conditionally. 

 

15. Conditions / Reasons 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans:  

  
1 CONDITION: APPROVED PLANS 
Roof Plan Remedial Works - Existing and Proposed Roof Plans 0112 032 REV C  received 23/12/19 
Remedial Works - Proposed Plans and Elevations 0112 030 REV H  received 23/12/19 
Site and Location Plan Site location plan 0112 001   received 18/09/19 
      
Reason: 
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of good planning, in accordance with the Plymouth & 
South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014–2034 (2019). 
 
 
 2 CONDITION: IMPLEMENTATION AND COMPLETION OF DEVELOPMENT 
Within six months of the date of this planning permission, the applicant shall submit evidence to the 
Local Planning Authority for written approval that this permission has been implemented and 
completed in accordance with the  approved drawings 
 
Reason: 
To protect the amenity of the area and ensure that the details of the development are in keeping 
with the standards of the vicinity in accordance with Policy DEV1 (Protecting Health and Amenity) of 
the Plymouth and West Devon Joint Local Plan (2014-2034) and the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019. 
 
 3 CONDITION: RESIDENTIAL ANNEXE 
The rear annexe hereby permitted shall not be occupied at any time other than for purposes 
ancillary to the residential use of the dwelling known as 14 West Hill Road.  
 
Reason: 

Page 14



 

 

Due to the close relationship between the proposed annexe and the existing dwelling and shared 
access and amenity areas, the accommodation is considered unsuitable for independent occupation. 
In accordance with Policy DEV10 of Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 
(2019) and the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 
 
 
 
 4 CONDITION: RESTRICTIONS ON PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT 
Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 and Classes A, B, C and E of Part 1 to Schedule 2 of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking 
and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no enlargements, improvements, erections 
or other alterations, including to the roof, shall be constructed to the dwelling hereinafter 14 West 
Hill Road.  
 
Reason: 
In order to protect the amenity of the area and prevent overdevelopment of the site in accordance 
with policies DEV1, DEV10 and DEV20 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and 
paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 
 
 5 CONDITION: TEMPORARY USE OF SECOND GATE 
Prior to first use of the annex, the second gate on the side elevation shall be removed and 
notwithstanding the provisions of the permitted development order, no further gates or openings 
shall be inserted in the boundary wall. 
 
Reason: 
Due to the close relationship between the proposed annexe and the existing dwelling and shared 
access and amenity areas, the accommodation is considered unsuitable for independent occupation 
in accordance with Policy DEV10 of Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 
(2019) and the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 
 
 6 CONDITION: TEMPORARY USE FENCE WITHIN COURYARD 
Prior to first use of the annex, all fencing and safety barriers dividing the rear courtyard shall be 
removed. Notwithstanding the provisions of the permitted development order, no further 
structures, demarcations or fences shall be erected within the courtyard of the dwelling house.  
 
Reason: 
Due to the close relationship between the proposed annexe and the existing dwelling and shared 
access and amenity areas, the accommodation is considered unsuitable for independent occupation 
in accordance with Policy DEV10 of Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 
(2019) and the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 
 
 7 CONDITION: RESTRICTIONS ON PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT 
Notwithstanding the provisions of Class A of Part 2 to Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order 
with or without modification), no erection, construction, maintenance, improvement or alteration of 
a gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure or opening, shall be constructed to the dwelling 
hereinafter 14 West Hill Road.  
 
Reason: 
In order to protect the amenity of the area and prevent overdevelopment of the site in accordance 
with policies DEV1, DEV10 and DEV20 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and 
paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 
 

Page 15



 

 

 8 CONDITION: WINDOW OPENINGS 
Prior to first use of the annexe hereby permitted any window opening on the northeast elevation 
shall be fitted with casement restrictor stays that limit opening to 100mm.  The restrictors shall be 
retained in perpetuity. 
 
 
 
Reason: 
To protect the health and safety of residents in the area in accordance with Policy DEV1 (Protecting 
Health and Amenity) of the Plymouth and West Devon Joint Local Plan (2014-2034) and the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 
 

 
INFORMATIVES 

 
 1 INFORMATIVE: (NOT CIL LIABLE) DEVELOPMENT IS NOT LIABLE FOR A 
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY CONTRIBUTION 
The Local Planning Authority has assessed that this development, due to its size or nature, is 
exempt from any liability under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
 
 2 INFORMATIVE: CONDITIONAL APPROVAL (NEGOTIATION) 
In accordance with the requirements of Article 31 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019, the Council has worked in a positive and pro-active way with the Applicant and 
has negotiated amendments to the application to enable the grant of planning permission. 
 
 3 INFORMATIVE: PROPERTY RIGHTS 
Applicants are advised that this grant of planning permission does not over-ride private property 
rights or their obligations under the Party Wall etc. Act 1996. 
 
 4 INFORMATIVE: STRUCTURES OVERHANGING THE HIGHWAY 
Applicants are advised that this grant of planning permission does not over-ride their obligations 
under section 153 of the Highway Act 1980 Act.  
 

Page 16



 

   

OFFICIAL 

PLANNING APPLICATION 
OFFICERS REPORT 

 
 

Site Address Civic Centre   Armada Way  Plymouth  PL1 2AA     

Proposal 

Conversion to 144 residential units (Class C3) and mixed uses 
including A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, B1, D1 & D2 uses, part demolition,  
glazed extension , alterations to elevation including new cladding,  new 
public realm including staircase, parking and associated works 

Applicant Mr Phillip Yunnie 

Application Type Full Application 

Target Date    27.06.2019 
Committee 
Date 16.01.2020 

Extended Target Date 28.02.2020   

Decision Category Service Director of SPI 

Case Officer Miss Katherine Graham 

Recommendation 
Grant conditionally subject to S106 planning obligation with delegated 
authority to Service Director for Strategic Planning and Infrastructure 
to refuse if not signed within agreed timeframes. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Application 
Number   19/00439/FUL  Item 02 

Date Valid 28.03.2019  Ward ST PETER AND THE WATERFRONT 

Page 17 Agenda Item 6.2



 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
 
This planning application has been referred to committee by service director of Strategic Planning 
and Infrastructure due to public interest reasons. 
 
1.  Description of Site 
The Civic Centre is located within the city centre, north of the Hoe. The application site is formed 
of the Grade II listed Civic Centre Tower, a vacant fourteen storey office block, along with two 
storey blocks to the north and south and a reception area, which the Tower sits above.  
 
The application site also includes a disused pond located between the Council House and Civic 
Centre. This forms part of the listed park and garden. Immediately east of the site is Armada Way 
and the Civic Square which is a Grade II listed park and gardens.  
 
The application site also includes two bridge links physically connecting the Council House and Civic 
Centre. These have been enclosed on the Council House side.  

Page 18



 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
The Civic Centre car park is located to the west. Further to the west and in close proximity of the 
site is the Theatre Royal, The Bank, and the Clock Tower, all of which are Grade II listed buildings.  
 
South west of the site is the Theatre Royal multi-storey car park and north of the site is a line of 
trees along Royal Parade. 
 
The site located within the City Centre Conservation Area.  
 
2.  Proposal Description 
This is a full application for the conversion of the Civic Centre to 144 residential units (Class C3) 
within the tower of the building. The roof terrace is proposed as communal amenity space for 
residents.  
 
The ground and first floor are proposed for a mixed uses including A1 (retail), A2 (offices), A3 
(café/restaurants), A4 (Pubs/drinking establishments), A5 (hot food takeaway), B1 (office), D1 (art 
gallery, crèche and day nursery) & D2 (gym). 
  
The application also includes works to the building including: 
• demolition of part of north block and reception undercroft area  
• glazed extension at ground floor between Civic Centre and Council House 
• replacement façade including new glazing and cladding and other alterations to elevation 
• new public realm including new staircase towards the Theatre Royal on the west elevation 
and creation of new public space under the tower 
• associated works including internal works, works to roof to create amenity space 
 
3. Pre-application Enquiry 
A pre-application submission was submitted 18/00565/MAJ which was for the “redevelopment of the 
former council offices to provide a mixed use scheme comprising the (C3) residential fit-out of the 
Tower and commercial 'active' uses”.  This included a variety of meetings including with external 
statutory consultees: Historic England, Garden History Society and C20th Society. A public 
consultation was held in June 2018.  
 
The pre-application enquiry looked at different options for the new glazing/cladding system, and 
made a number of improvements to the scheme including removing a glazed extension to address 
C20th Society objections, removing gates and deck infill proposed between the south block and 
Council House, and retaining the reflective pool between the south block and Council House.  
 
4. Relevant Planning History 
As there have been a large number of applications, the most relevant ones are listed below: 
88/03970/30 Two storey office extension and refurbishment of reception facilities (regulation 4 
proposal) – Granted Conditionally 
94/01473/30 Installation of canopy over main entrance for a temporary period of two years – 
Granted Conditionally  
97/00056/30 Retention of canopy over main entrance - Granted Conditionally 
99/00960/30 Retention of canopy over main entrance for a temporary period of two years – 
Granted Conditionally  
10/02031/FUL Retention of temporary protective shelters at main and staff entrances to the Civic 
Centre for five years, alterations to main entrance shelter, installation of cycle shed and erection of 
fencing around grassed areas to north and east of the Civic Centre – Granted Conditionally  
10/02032/LBC Retention of temporary protective shelters at main and staff entrances to the Civic 
Centre for five years, alterations to main entrance shelter, installation of cycle shed and erection of 
fencing around grassed areas to north and east of the Civic Centre – Application Returned  

Page 19



 

 

OFFICIAL 

13/00507/FUL Retention of front entrance and side entrance canopies for a temporary period of two 
years – Granted Conditionally 
15/01754/LBC Amendment to application 14/01990/LBC first floor separation – Granted 
Conditionally 
16/00126/FUL Retrospective application for hoardings – Grant Conditionally 
18/01117/LBC Structural Investigations – Granted Conditionally 
18/01194/LBC Part strip out of north block, refurbish WC and new partition – Granted 
Conditionally 
 
Associated application on same agenda: 
19/00440/LBC Internal and external works to convert building (inc part demolition), glazed 
extension, alterations to elevation including new cladding, public realm and associated works 
 
5. Consultation Responses 
City Centre Company – “The Plymouth City Centre Company supports these proposals to bring 
much needed residential accommodation into the city centre. We believe this application, by a 
developer with a track record in the sensitive conversion of historic buildings, will bring new life to 
the city centre and improve its economic viability.” 
 
Designing Out Crime officer – Support application and make a recommendation regarding the roller 
shutter doors 
 
Economic Development Department – Supports overall intent of the conversion, and the value of 
the buildings occupation and generating footfall and jobs. Disappointing that office development is 
now limited. It is recognised that viability issues likely rule out mitigation for loss of employment 
space. If viability allows, request contribution towards improvements to recreational space at the 
Hoe. Employment and Skills plan will be required.  
 
Environment Agency (EA) – Recommend not to determine application until Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) is satisfied that foul and surface drainage can be disposed of without increasing the 
risk of sewer flooding and pollution of water environment. The site is located within Critical 
Drainage Area. Whilst EA would not normally comment on this type of application, it is noted that 
the proposal will continue to discharge foul and surface water to the combined sewer , and will 
inevitably result in an increase in foul flows to the sewer, and therefore increasing the risk of sewer 
flooding and sewer spills in storm events. Permeable paving is proposed to separate foul and surface 
water before discharging to main sewer. The Flood Risk Assessment should demonstrate whether 
the reduction in surface water flow expected as a result of introducing permeable paving would 
outweigh the increase in foul flows to the combined sewer. Alternatively consideration should be 
given to seeking contributions towards the new surface water drainage works for the wider city 
centre.  
 
Highway Authority – No in principle objection. It is acknowledged that the former use of the building 
as Council Offices is likely to have generated significantly more trips than the proposed development. 
It is also accepted that the commercial floor space offering is unlikely to be a significant generator of 
trips in its’ own right and instead would form part of a linked-trip to the wider City Centre retail 
area. 
A limited amount of car parking has been provided which is allocated to the residential element of 
the scheme (43 spaces serving 144 apartments). “In view of the close proximity of the development 
to the various bus services and pay and display car parks within close proximity to the site, such a 
level of car parking is acceptable.” 
The public car parking offer includes the existing pay and display car park next to the Civic Centre 
which is being retained for such purposes although the alterations/improvements to the car park will 
result in the number of public spaces reducing slightly from 108 to 104. Clearly these spaces would 

Page 20



 

 

OFFICIAL 

be available for use by residents of the apartments if required. Request for Electric Vehicle Charging 
(EVC) spaces. “In view of the limited car parking provision provided for residents of the 
apartments, I would suggest that it is justified to seek a Section 106 contribution towards Travel Plan 
measures”. Recommend conditions.  
Updated highway queries: Clarify request for Electric Vehicle Charging (EVC) points: 5 bays with 
infrastructure for additional 5 bays in basement, and 4 bays with additional infrastructure for 4 bays 
in future and recommend condition on this basis. Advise the applicant to consider how all residents 
will have access to EV charging in the future. 
Updated comments with regard to draft planning conditions: Basement car park should have ducting 
that would allow all spaces to have access to EV charging point.  The charging points specification 
should be 3kw output minimum. Maintain that 10 EVC spaces are required in the basement.   
 
Historic England (HE) – “Historic England has been involved in considerable pre application 
discussions regarding the Civic Centre over the course of many years, and are pleased to be able to 
support these proposals. We acknowledge that certain aspects of the proposals will harm the 
significance of the listed buildings, but believe that the harm has been minimised, as far as is possible, 
and that the proposals will result in a sustainable new use that will provide for the necessary 
conservation of the building. In our view, the harm to the significance of the building is less than 
substantial, and outweighed by the wider heritage benefits offered by the proposals.” 
Summarised comments: 
- Support removal of 1980s lobby walls to create under croft, “which will provide a visual link 
from the Civic Square to the Theatre Royal”. A strategy for protecting the terrazzo should be 
supplied, or conditioned as part of any planning approval. 
- The new staircase is logical and will assist in connectivity between Civic Centre and newly 
listed Theatre Royal 
- Proposed glazed pavilions (extension) to west end of the south block will terminate the 
undercroft in a logical manner , and is a form of construction of that is new and reversible 
- It is regrettable that the proposals do not extend to restoration of the civic square but 
understand not under applicant control and part of the Council Better Places scheme. Need to 
consider phasing 
- Conversion of tower to residential potentially most contentious. Converting from the civic 
function to private residential will harm historic value however introducing residential use may bring 
about wider benefits through improved public perception of the post war city centre. Lack of 
residential in city centre has meant a lack of sense of ownership. The introduction of residential in 
Civic Centre has potential to change this, and will bring new life into city centre 
- Accept that it is necessary to rebuild two elevations. A 2007 HE report concluded that the 
façades need replacing. Significance of the façades lies more in their design than their actual fabric. 
Given the change of use in the building, it is appropriate for the new façade system to reference the 
existing, but not copy it. Consider that the need to replace the façades will give rise to less than 
substantial harm and has been mitigated through good design and recommend condition requiring 
samples to be agreed. Fibonacci influenced design should be recreated.  
- Public access days for heritage open days should be secured through conditions 
- The gullwing roof is currently littered with telecoms equipment. A condition is recommended 
to seek to remove the telecoms equipment.  
- The applicant has demonstrated that the harm to the building has been minimised. The 
proposals will provide a use that is viable and will lead to the investment in the Civic that is 
necessary for its long-term conservation  
- The proposals will cause harm to the significance of the Civic complex through tangible 
alterations such as the refaçading and also intangible aspects such as a building designed for public 
purposes becoming a private complex of apartments. However, can also appreciate the heritage 
benefits offered by the proposals, chief amongst which is securing a viable use for the building which 
will provide for its long-term conservation. 
 

Page 21



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Historic Environment Officer: Support HE comments and “given that whilst there is a recognition of 
harm the ‘replication’ design offered forms a sufficient level of mitigation especially when weighed 
together with bringing this long vacant building back into beneficial use and to prevent and reverse 
further deterioration of the building’s fabric.” 
The addition of lettering atop the Civic building (i.e CIVIC) is a superfluous and unnecessary 
embellishment to this listed building, request justification.  
 
Housing Delivery Team – Welcome the provision of housing within the city centre which will 
contribute to the aim of creating balanced, mixed and sustainable communities and bring an empty 
building back into use. We welcome the inclusion of some larger units as there is a shortage of family 
housing in the area. DEV7 requires 30% affordable housing provision. Understand viability will be 
provided. No information has been provided on the provision of category M4 (3) units. No Gross 
Internal Area has been provided but appears to be quite a way short of National Described Space 
Standards.  
 
Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) – The site is in a critical drainage area and an area identified as 
being at significant risk of flooding. The proposed increase in residential dwellings effectively reduces 
the capacity of the downstream combined sewer to receive surface water, potentially increasing 
flood risk to properties downstream. Options should be assessed to discharge surface water to a 
future surface water drainage corridor in Armada Way to the east of the development. There is also 
the potential to remove surface water from combined sewers (Surface Water Separation SWS) to 
increase the capacity of the sewerage system and to minimise pollution incidents. Surface water 
exceedance flow route should be identified on a plan that shows the route exceedance flows will 
take both on and off site and demonstrating that these flows do not increase the risk of flooding to 
properties on and off the site and or to Third Party Land including the Public Highway. Details of 
how and when the surface water drainage system is to be managed and maintained should be 
submitted. Recommend condition. 
Updated comments: Request amended condition 
 
Low Carbon – Original comments summarised: Object to application. The Plymouth City-wide 
District Energy Strategy (evidence base for the JLP) shows the development falls within a District 
Energy Opportunity Area and therefore (Policy) DEV 32.6 is the priority. The policy requirements 
for carbon reductions outlined in (policy) DEV32.5 can be achieved by connecting to renewable heat 
solution using ground source heat pumps. The submitted details are not currently compliant with the 
planning policy DEV32.6, as they are only showing a technical solution that is able to partially connect 
(for domestic hot water only and not for space heating). The solution would not meet policy 
DEV32.5 either and cannot recommend approval. 
 
Updated comments (summarised): After negotiations the scheme has been changed with an amended 
Energy Statement.  The key JLP policy is DEV32 ‘Delivering low carbon development’ which sets out 
6 policy criteria, with the intention to half 2005 levels of carbon emissions by 2034. No objection in 
relation to DEV32.1 - 4. 
DEV32.5 There is no renewable energy generation proposed as part of this scheme. However this is 
considered acceptable on the basis that the scheme addresses district heating requirements which 
will utilise renewable energy and achieve these reductions. This solution will involve a ground source 
well located within the civic centre boundary, for the potential provision of a renewable heat source 
to serve Civic Centre and other buildings in the vicinity. DEV32. An area of negotiation in this 
application has been attempts to secure a fully compliant scheme that fully connects to the future 
district energy network. The amended Energy Statement proposes a Low Temperature Hot Water 
(LTHW) heating system serving the space heating and domestic hot water requirement for the 
residential apartments. This system will be designed to be suitable for future connection to a district 
heating scheme when it is available. This means the residential units will now be capable of future 
connection to a district energy network. In addition, it is stated that the podium commercial units 

Page 22



 

 

OFFICIAL 

could be connected to the District Heating system for heating and cooling.  The basement plan, 
included in Appendix A includes an area proposed for use as the district energy centre.  It has also 
identified potential areas for additional plant space for the energy centre and the routes for 
connecting the energy centre to the site boundary to serve a wider area. The provision of space 
within the basement for the energy centre is considered to constitute a proportionate contribution, 
which will help to establish the provision of a district energy centre within the city centre. On the 
basis of the above, it is now considered that the proposal has been designed to be capable of 
connection to a district heating network.  By providing space for an energy centre and future 
proofing the scheme for future connection to a district heating scheme, this application will 
contribute towards the provision of district heating within the city centre.  
Recommend approval, with the inclusion of a number of conditions, informatives and S106 overage. 
The condition wording recognises the unique characteristics of this development, in terms of the 
challenges of connecting a listed building, the long delivery period, as well its unique role in providing 
an energy centre to serve a wider area. 
 
Natural Infrastructure Team (NIT) (summarised) –  
Biodiversity: Support of mitigation and enhancement measures however request further information 
in relation to the EMES (need to quantify mitigation and enhancement measures in biodiversity 
budget table), perching opportunities for peregrines needs to be maintained throughout construction 
and mitigation needs to be incorporated into the landscape. 
Landscape: Further info required on tree planters, consideration of SUDS in car park, and landscape 
management plan (could be conditioned).  
Trees: Does not comply with JLP as insufficient assurances in relation to longevity of tree planting 
and recommend further long term tree planting. 
Request for S106 contributions towards local green space, children play space, playing pitches and 
strategic greenspace.  
Updated comments following receipt of further information: No objection subject to appropriate 
mitigation and recommend conditions.  
 
Natural England (NE) – The site falls within the “zone of influence” for Plymouth Sound and Estuaries 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and Tamar Estuaries Complex Special Protection Area (SPA), as 
set out in the Local Plan. New housing development in this area is ‘likely to have a significant effect’ 
when considered either alone or in combination, upon the interest features of European Sites due to 
the risk of increased recreational pressure caused by that development. Therefore advise that 
specific measures will be required to prevent such harmful effects from occurring as a result of this 
development and recommend that permission should not be granted until such time as the 
implementation of these measures has been secured. 
 
Public Health (PH) - Original comment summarised: Broadly in favour of development however have 
concerns over the use of the roof terrace by residents, their guests and members of the public. On 
this basis recommend the provision of a physical barrier on the roof at least 2. 5m high.  
The area is just outside cumulative impact policy area, which would prevent sale of alcohol unless 
ancillary activity.  
Updated comments on the proposed management system: Supervision of visitors should be 
undertaken by trained staff in suicide awareness, CCTV monitoring is only useful in suicide 
prevention if monitored permanently and again by trained staff, and agree restricted/managed access 
at night. Recommend condition.  
 
Public Protection Service (PPS) – Conclusion to acoustic report agreed, and particular attention 
should be paid to floors separating commercial and residential. Conclusion of Phase 1 (contaminated 
land) study agreed. Recommend conditions including compliance with British Standard (BS) sound 
insulation and noise reduction for buildings. Accept findings of air quality report. 
Updated comments following applicant advising cannot comply with condition:  

Page 23



 

 

OFFICIAL 

The BS does allow for a 5dB relaxation and advise this would be acceptable in theory. However even 
with the relaxation of the noise guideline the target value will still not be met if the window is open. 
Whilst the window is closed (in effect in winter when it is cold and you don’t need it open for 
ventilation) the noise will be acceptable. However in the summer when the ventilation is not 
adequate the choice is to be too hot as there are no alternative ventilation options, or to have a 
noise level that exceeds even the relaxed limit. The daytime noise levels in the flats in the summer 
are likely to be 12dB above the standards recommended level and a 7dB above the relaxed limit, 
with night-time levels of 10dB above the standard or 5dB above the relaxed limit. The only way that 
the development can meet the relaxed level is by ‘averaging over the year’ which is in effect saying 
the residents should be fine in winter but in summer they have to choose between cooling 
ventilation and acceptable noise levels. This is a noisier space than PPS would normally accept if the 
relaxed limit was accepted. Given the significance of the levels do not see how this is something PPS 
can support even should the relaxed limit be accepted and object. The suggested conditions will not 
address the objection, as there is no guarantee that the BS can be met.    
 
South West Water (SWW) – No objection 
 
The Gardens Trust – Happy to support the proposals 
 
Twentieth Century Society (C20th Society) (summarised) – Object to application as outstanding 
concerns about specific aspects of application that cause avoidable harm. Pleased to have been 
involved in pre-application discussions, and pleased to see some harmful areas of the scheme have 
been reconsidered. The current scheme retains more original fabric, bringing it closer to a 
conservation led approach. 
Support the conversion of the tower to residential and securing public access to plaza, undercroft 
and plinth blocks.  
Outstanding concerns - Principle aspect opposed to is the replacement of the tower façades to east 
and west elevation in a way that departs from the architects original design intentions. Acknowledge 
survey work that recommends components of the façades are replaced and recognise need for 
environmental upgrades required for residential use. The need to replace the glazing is not 
considered to be a reason to introduce floor to ceiling glazing. 
It is considered that the existing façade provides a “sense of rhythm and textural detail to the 
otherwise monolithic tower”, which are “successful in softening the impact upon city skyline”. The 
listing designation also refers to the attention paid to “alleviating the uniformity of the façade with 
the modulation of the component materials and careful arrangement of the granite spandrel panels”. 
The proposed façade design , including the increase in height of the glazing, reduction in height of 
spandrel panels, bronze coloured windows frames, a reduction of the setback of the high level glazed 
units, are major departures from the original design, and will result in substantial harm to the 
buildings architectural and historical significance. These changes will have a far reaching impact due to 
the towers prominence within the city. Departing from the original design concept and materials that 
identify the buildings age, purpose, and quality will harm its historic value as the evidence of ambition 
and investment of the city in the post war reconstruction.  
Concern is also raised in relation to the glazed extension as this will block views through the 
undercroft space and reduce sense of openness, which is a characteristic of Jellicoe’s design. Do not 
consider its potentially temporary nature to reduce the negative impact upon the listed building. 
Recommend the glazed extension is removed from the scheme and the façade design altered to 
maintain the original proportions of the spandrel panels and glazing units. Cannot support the 
scheme as it fails to sustain existing heritage value of the building. 
In line with HE guidance (Conservation Principles Policy and Practice), consider that the surviving 
historic fabric underpins its heritage value and should be retained wherever possible. Where it has 
been shown that the loss of historic fabric is necessary, the optimal solution is to replace it like for 
like. 

Page 24



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Consider the proposal to be substantial harm, and therefore substantial public benefits that outweigh 
the harm need to be shown. Recognise the benefits that will result in bringing the building back into 
use and aspects that seek to enhance the heritage value, however remain unconvinced that on 
balance these benefits outweigh the harm.  
Consider the cumulative harmful impact of the proposals are substantial, primarily due to the 
remodelling of the principle façades. The change of façades will have an irreversible, negative effect 
on existing authenticity and integrity of the buildings historically important design as well damaging its 
role as the centrepiece of Abercrombie’s plan. Object and recommend refusal.  
 
Urban Design Officer (summarised) –  
Principle is supported. The following elements are supported: 
• Works to the undercroft and retention of terrazzo floor.  
• Ground floor glazed extension.  
• Bookable roof terrace areas and public access. 
• Full height glazing which is considered to better reflect Hector Stirlings original concept. 
• Use of mesh screens for plant equipment. 
• Retention, repair and re-use of Civic Centre’s existing palette of materials 
• The proposed mix of uses are consistent with JLP policy PLY15.  
• The high level of active ground floor frontage and creating a destination is welcomed.   
• Positive that fibre cement panels will continue Fibonacci pattern 
It is important that the scheme does not prejudice the future development of the car park site, and 
raise concerns over indicative scheme and recommend conditions in relation to the application to 
address these concerns.  
Object to CIVIC sign  
The west elevation of the podium deck and service access is not ideal in urban design terms.  
“Regrettable that polyester powder coatings proposed for aluminium components such as windows”, 
as anodised coating would be more robust.   
Query areas proposed to be painted, which may give rise to a maintenance requirement.  
Recommend conditions and informatives. 
 
6. Representations  
None 
 
7. Relevant Policy Framework 
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the 
development plan, any local finance and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of the 2004 
Planning and Compensation Act requires that applications are to be determined in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  For the purposes of 
decision making, as of March 26th 2019, the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 
2034 is now part of the development plan for Plymouth City Council, South Hams District Council 
and West Devon Borough Council (other than parts South Hams and West Devon within Dartmoor 
National Park. 
 
The relevant Joint Local Plan policies are: 
SPT1 Delivering Sustainable Development 
SPT2 Sustainable linked neighbourhoods 
SPT3 Provision for new homes 
SPT4 Provision for employment floorspace 
SPT5 Provision for retail development 
SPT6 Spatial provision of retail and main town centre uses 
SPT9 Strategic principles for transport planning and strategy 
SPT10 Balanced transport strategy for growth and healthy and sustainable communities 
SPT11 Strategic approach to the historic environment 

Page 25



 

 

OFFICIAL 

SPT12 Strategic approach to the natural environment 
SPT13 Strategic infrastructure measures to deliver the spatial strategy 
SPT14 European Sites - mitigation of recreational impacts from development 
Strategic Objective SO2 Strengthening Plymouth role in the region 
PLY1 Enhancing Plymouths strategic role 
PLY2 Unlocking Plymouths regional growth potential 
Strategic Objective SO3 Delivering growth in Plymouth City Centre and Waterfront Growth area 
PLY6 Improving Plymouth city centre 
PLY15 Civic Centre and Council House site 
PLY21 Supporting the visitor economy 
PLY22 Cultural Quarters 
DEV1 Protecting health and amenity 
DEV2 Air water soil noise land and light 
DEV6 Hot food takeaways in Plymouth 
DEV7 Meeting local housing need in the Plymouth Policy area 
DEV9 Meeting local housing need in the Plan Area 
DEV10 Delivering high quality housing 
DEV14 Maintaining a flexible mix of employment sites 
DEV16 Providing retail and town centre uses in appropriate locations 
DEV18 Protecting local shops and services 
DEV19 Provisions for local employment and skills 
DEV20 Place shaping and quality of the built environment 
DEV21 Development affecting the historic environment 
DEV23 Landscape character 
DEV26 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation 
DEV28 Trees woodlands and hedgerows 
DEV29 Specific provisions relating to transport 
DEV30 Meeting the community infrastructure needs of new homes 
DEV31 Waste management 
DEV32 Delivering low carbon development 
DEV35 Managing flood risk and water quality impacts 
DEL1 Approach to development delivery and viability, planning obligations and the CIL 
 
On 26 March 2019 of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan was adopted by all three 
of the component authorities. Following adoption, the three authorities jointly notified the Ministry 
of Housing, Communities and Local Government of their choice to monitor at the whole plan level. 
This is for the purposes of the Housing Delivery Test and the 5 Year Housing Land Supply 
assessment.  A letter from MHCLG to the Authorities was received on 13 May 2019. This confirmed 
the Plymouth, South Hams and West Devon’s revised joint Housing Delivery Test Measurement as 
163% and that the consequences are “None”.  It confirmed that the revised HDT measurement will 
take effect upon receipt of the letter, as will any consequences that will apply as a result of the 
measurement. It also confirmed that that the letter supersedes the HDT measurements for each of 
the 3 local authority areas (Plymouth City, South Hams District and West Devon Borough) which 
Government published on 19 February 2019. 
  
Therefore a 5% buffer is applied for the purposes of calculating a 5 year land supply at a whole plan 
level. When applying the 5% buffer, the combined authorities can demonstrate a 5-year land supply 
of 6.4 years at end March 2019 (the 2019 Monitoring Point). This is set out in the Plymouth, South 
Hams & West Devon Local Planning Authorities’ Housing Position Statement 2019 (published 26 July 
2019). The methodology and five year land supply calculations in the Housing Position Statement are 
based on the relevant changes in the revised National Planning Policy Framework published 19 
February 2019 and updates to National Planning Practice Guidance published by the Government in 

Page 26



 

 

OFFICIAL 

September 2018, subsequently amended by NPPG Housing Supply and Delivery published 22 July 
2019. 
 
Other material considerations include the policies of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
and guidance in Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), including the National Design Guide. Additionally, 
the following planning documents are also material considerations in the determination of the 
application:   
• Plymouth and South West Devon SPD Consultation Draft (November 2019).   
• Development Guidelines SPD (adopted April 2013) 
• Sustainable Development SPD (adopted July 2009) 
• Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD (adopted 2012) 
 
In terms of weight of the SPDs, the following points should be considered in making the decision: 
• The Plymouth and South West Devon SPD has completed its consultation phase but can 
carry limited weight prior to its formal adoption.  However, at best very limited weight should be 
given to provisions of the SPD that have objected to in a substantive way. 
• The adopted SPDs were set within the context of the previous development plan (Core 
Strategy).  However, provisions of these SPDs would only carry weight where they are clearly 
consistent with the policies of the adopted Joint Local Plan.    
 
8. Analysis 
1. This application has been considered in the context of the development plan, the submitted 
Joint Local Plan, the Framework and other material policy documents as set out in Section 7. 
 
2. Principle 
PLY15 of the Joint Local Plan is a site allocation policy that specifically relates to the Civic Centre as 
well as the Council House. The Council House does not fall within the application site.  
 
3. The first part of the policy states: 
“The Civic Centre and Council House site will continue to play a key role in the civic life of 
Plymouth as well as providing new opportunities, through the retention of civic functions, the reuse 
of the existing buildings, and the delivery of new development on the existing surface level car park. 
New uses which will be acceptable include residential, offices, hotel, restaurants, bars, leisure and 
cultural uses. Provision is made for in the order of 248 new homes as part of the mix of uses.” 
 
4. This proposal is for the retention and conversion of the Civic Centre, e.g. the reuse of the 
existing building.  
 
5. The Civic Centre does not propose to retain civic functions, however the Council House will 
retain its civic functions. On this basis, it is considered that there is no conflict with this part of the 
policy.  
 
6. This application does not include the delivery of new development of the car park but does 
not preclude its future development. This will be considered in greater detail under the design 
section below. 
 
7. The policy then states what uses will be considered acceptable, and this is reviewed in more 
detail in the section below.  
 
8. This application is for 144 residential units, short of the policy requirement, however it does 
not include the new build on the carpark site. This is considered in more detail further below.  
 

Page 27



 

 

OFFICIAL 

9. The policy then lists 5 criteria that the development should provide for, which are addressed 
briefly below. 
 
10. 1. The reuse and enhancement of the listed Civic Centre and Council House. 
The application proposes the reuse of the Civic Centre. Whilst there is harm to the listed building, 
the overall scheme is considered to represent an enhancement to the listed building. The heritage 
considerations are detailed further in this report.  
 
11. 2. Enhancement of the Civic Square, a registered park and garden. 
The application site does not include the Civic Square, however the proposals are considered to 
enhance the Civic Square by improvements to its setting. This is considered in more detail below.  
 
12. 3. The retention of civic functions within the existing Council House building. 
As noted above, the Council House does not form part of this application and therefore the civic 
functions are retained. 
 
13. 4. Active ground floor frontages to Armada Way, Royal Parade, Princess Street, Old George Street, 
The Bank and Theatre Royal. 
It is considered that this part of the policy relates more to the new build proposal in the car park, 
however it is acknowledged there are opportunities for active frontages for the Civic Centre. The 
Urban Designer has acknowledged and supported the active uses within the podium and the high 
level of active frontage proposed. The level of active frontage onto Royal Parade is limited, as there 
is no direct access from this elevation however the existing elevation is improved by removing 
spandrel panels and increasing the amount of glazing.  Overall, it is considered that this application 
provides a high level of active frontages where possible and complies with this element of the policy.  
 
14. 5. New build development on the existing surface level car park which optimises the use of the site 
but conserves and where appropriate enhances the historic and architectural interest and setting of the Civic 
Centre and Council House, Plymouth Theatre Royal and The Bank. 
The new build proposal is not part of this application. The need to safeguard the car park site for 
new development is discussed further in paragraphs 110 -112 below.  
 
15. Uses 
Policy PLY15 advises a number of uses are acceptable: 
Residential, offices, hotel, restaurants, bars, leisure and cultural uses 
A total of 3791sqm of commercial uses are proposed in the podium, north and south block of the 
Civic Centre. The proposed uses are considered separately below. 
 
16. A1 retail 
Retail is not listed under Policy PLY15 as an acceptable use, however the site is located within the 
city centre boundary and therefore retail is supported in this location in accordance with SPT5, 
SPT6, PLY1, PLY6, DEV16 and DEV18. Any retail could support the food, drink and leisure offer at 
the building. On this basis, there is not considered to be any requirement for a maximum retail floor 
space condition.  
 
17. A2 and B1 offices 
Offices are listed as an acceptable use within policy PLY15, and as a main town centre use also 
complies with SPT4, SPT6, PLY1 and PLY6. It is also the existing use of the building.  
 
18. Economic Development have raised concern at the overall reduction of offices within the 
scheme from the existing provision. However site allocation policy PLY15 does not require a 
minimum provision of offices to be provided on this site, and on this basis there is no objection to 
the amount of office floor space proposed.  

Page 28



 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
19. A3 café / restaurants 
Restaurants are listed as an acceptable use within policy PLY15, and as a main town centre use also 
complies with SPT6, PLY1, PLY6, DEV16 and DEV18. As such there is no objection in principle to 
this use. The key consideration will be potential noise and smell impacts upon the proposed 
residential which is considered further later in this report.  
 
 
20. A4 pubs/drinking establishments 
Bars are listed as an acceptable use within policy PLY15 and as a main town centre use, it also 
complies with SPT6, PLY1, PLY6, DEV16 and DEV18. As such there is no objection in principle to 
this use. The key consideration will be potential noise and smell impacts upon the proposed 
residential which is considered further later in this report.  
 
21. A5 hot food takeaway 
Hot food takeaway is not listed in site allocation policy PLY15, however its exemption from this 
policy does not automatically deem it unacceptable. As it is a main town centre use, it complies with 
SPT6, PLY1, PLY6, DEV16 and DEV18. 
 
22. DEV6 requires hot food takeaways to be located away from providers of secondary school 
education, and to resist providers within 400m of secondary school provision. There are no 
secondary school providers within 400m, and therefore no conflict with this policy.  As such there is 
no objection in principle to this use. The key consideration will be potential impacts upon the 
amenity of the proposed residential which is considered later in this report.  
 
23. D1 Non-residential institutions 
The D1 uses proposed have been confirmed to be art galleries, crèche and day nurseries. Art 
galleries are main town centre uses, and therefore complies with SPT6, PLY1, PLY6, PLY21 and 
PLY22. Whilst a crèche/day nursery use is not listed as a main town centre use in the NPPF, it is 
considered that they are suitable uses for a city centre location and would be a suitable location 
when considering the potential for linked trips to places of work. On the basis of the above, there is 
no objection in principle to these uses. 
 
24. D2 Assembly and Leisure 
The D2 use has been confirmed to be a gym, which is considered a main town centre use and 
therefore complies with SPT6, PLY1, PLY6, DEV16 and DEV18. As such there is no objection in 
principle to this use. The key consideration will be noise and vibration impacts which is considered 
later in this report.  
 
25. Economic impacts and impact upon city centre 
Economic Development have been consulted on this application. As noted above, they support the 
conversion of the building, and the benefits this will bring to the city centre. Whilst they have raised 
disappointment over the lack of office accommodation proposed, there is no policy requirement for 
office to be provided for on site. DEV14 is also applicable as it states the change of use of existing 
employment sites will only be allowed when certain provisions apply. One of these provisions is 
when the proposal is specifically provided for by the local plan to deliver wider strategic objectives. It 
is considered that this application therefore complies with this provision.  
 
26. The mixed use commercial floor space will give rise to new job creation in accordance with 
PLY2.  
 
27. Economic Development have recommended a condition requiring an employment and skill 
strategy. This is in accordance with DEV19 ‘Provision for local employment and skills’. 

Page 29



 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
28. The City Centre Company have also commented and have supported the proposal, noting it 
will “bring much needed residential accommodation into the city centre. We believe this application, 
by a developer with a track record in the sensitive conversion of historic buildings, will bring new life 
to the city centre and improve its economic viability.” 
 
29. JLP policy PLY6 relates to ‘Improving Plymouth's city centre’. The application is considered to 
comply with this policy through the following criteria as listed in the policy:  
 
30. Criteria 1. This application will introduce residential within the city centre, proposes active 
ground floor uses and main town centre uses and will bring a very prominent vacant listed building 
back into use.  This will capitalise and strengthen the city centre role as regional centre.  
 
31. Criteria 2. The conversion and re-use of this prominent listed building which forms a key part 
of the Abercrombie Plan, is considered to respect and celebrate the mid-twentieth century built 
heritage, including the Beaux Arts grid of the 1943 Abercrombie Plan. 
 
32. Criteria 3. This proposal, whilst not a new build development, will help to reinforce the 
primacy of Armada Way through enhancing the Civic Centre which fronts onto Armada Way.  
 
33. Criteria 4, 5 and 7.  The mixed use proposal includes a diversity of uses, including making 
best use of Armada Way through creating a vibrant destination and helping to create a new 
residential community. 
 
34. Criteria 6. The application is not considered to have a negative impact upon the West End 
Independent Quarter. 
 
35. Criteria 8. The A3, A4 and A5 uses will contribute towards a diverse and active evening and 
night time economy. 
 
36. Criteria 9. Whilst the application does not deliver a new high quality public car park, the 
application retains the existing surface level public car park and is located adjacent to the strategically 
located Theatre Royal car park. 
 
37. Criteria 10. The site will facilitate easier movement within the city centre as it includes new 
pedestrian links to the Theatre Royal. It is located adjacent to Armada Way, and improvements to 
the public realm will help to enhance and reconnect the city centre route to the Hoe. 
 
38. Criteria 11. The proposal supports the delivery of a coordinated programme of investment in 
the public realm through the proposed public realm works and coordination with the Better Places 
public realm project. 
 
39. Criteria 12. The proposals are considered to be resilient and to respond to the challenges of 
climate change through attenuation to improve the drainage infrastructure and also providing future 
connections to district heat networks. 
 
40. PLY21 ‘Supporting the visitor economy’ supports proposals to protect and deliver growth for 
Plymouths visitor economy, in its core tourism areas which includes the city centre. It is considered 
that the proposal complies with this policy. The proposed mixed use commercial, public realm 
improvements and improved links through the site, will help to support the use of the city centre for 
events, and has the potential to support business and tourism within the city centre. It will re-enliven 
a key connection between the city centre and the Hoe.  It is also considered that the visual impact of 

Page 30



 

 

OFFICIAL 

the conversion and bringing the building back into use, will have a substantial impact upon the 
appearance and vibrancy of the city centre.  
 
41. PLY22 ‘Cultural Quarters’ supports cultural development proposals in three cultural hubs. 
One of these hubs, the city centre hub, includes Royal Parade. This application includes D1 provision 
for art galleries. In addition the scheme which provides links to the Theatre Royal and food and drink 
uses, has the potential to support this area as a vibrant cultural quarter.  
 
42. Notwithstanding the detailed heritage considerations below, the principle of development is 
considered to be acceptable. In addition, the proposal is considered to have a positive impact upon 
the city centre, in accordance with SPT5, SPT6, PLY1, PLY2, PLY6, PLY21, PLY22, DEV16 and 
DEV18. 
 
43. Heritage – Listed Building 
This application proposes works to a Grade II listed building. As the NPPF places great weight on the 
conservation of heritage assets, this should be given considerable importance and weight. 
Consideration is also given to JLP policy DEV 21 ‘Development affecting the historic environment’ 
and SPT11 ‘Strategic approach to the historic environment’. There is a duty under Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in considering whether to grant 
planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting to have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  The works to the listed building are reviewed 
below. The assessment below has been informed by the comprehensive heritage statement 
submitted with the application.   
 
44. As a procedural point, the 20th Century Society has objected to the associated listed building 
application. These comments are addressed in this report. 
 
45. Structural 
A structural statement has been submitted with this application, this states that the externally 
exposed reinforced concrete structure is in a poor condition. Detailed inspections have been carried 
which has identified the amount of corrosion, caused by chlorine attack, and has proposed a 
programme of targeted reinforcement repairs including localised strengthening in certain areas.  
 
46. Tower - Tower Use 
Historic England (HE) have acknowledged that converting the tower to residential will give rise to a 
level of harm to the historical significance of the building, as it will lose its intended civic function. 
However it is also acknowledged that by bringing residential into the city centre this will have a 
positive impact by bringing new life into the city centre, and potentially changing attitudes towards 
post war heritage.   
 
47. Tower - Internal works to tower 
Internally, each floor is proposed to be divided into residential units (13 to 15 units on each floor). 
The subdivision of the previously open plan offices will change the character of the listed building. HE 
have not raised any concerns with regard to the internal subdivision and have stated “The open-plan 
former office spaces within the tower and North block are of very little interest and can easily be 
subdivided for new uses with no impact on significance.” In addition the C20th Society support this 
aspect of the proposal. It is considered that the works to convert the tower to residential will not 
harm the significance of the listed building. 
 
48. Tower - Loss of existing east and west façades 
The most significant intervention to the tower is the new cladding and window elements, e.g. the 
façade design, on the east and west elevation. Following inspections and surveys, it is stated that the 

Page 31



 

 

OFFICIAL 

single glazed units and concrete cladding panels are beyond their original design life and in need of 
replacement. This is accepted by Historic England, who have confirmed that the need to replace the 
east and west elevations was confirmed in a specialist report they commissioned in 2007. The C20th 
Society have also not objected in principle to the loss of the existing façade.  
 
49. The loss of the two existing elevation façades will represent a significant loss of historic fabric. 
As well as the glazing, the concrete and Portland stone mullions are also proposed to be replaced. 
However HE has advised that they consider “the significance of the façades lies more in their design 
than their actual fabric.” NPPF para 194 states that any harm or loss of significance to a heritage 
asset requires clear and convincing justification and that substantial harm or loss of grade II listed 
buildings should be exceptional.  It is considered that the loss of the façades have been justified 
through surveys of the building. It is acknowledged this is very much an exceptional circumstance 
where the total replacement of two façades of a listed building is considered acceptable by HE, 
C20th Society and the LPA HEO. In this case it has been accepted, and therefore the key 
consideration is the design of the replacement façades.  
 
50. Tower - Proposed replacement of east and west façades 
The proposed replacement façades are not like for like replacements. The proposed replacement 
scheme is full-height floor to ceiling glazing. This will include a high level transom, a central mullion 
and recessed top lights, all of which seeks to reflect an element of the original design.  The vertical 
pilasters and spandrel panels between floors will be clad in fibre cement panels to try and reflect the 
texture and colour of the original design. The new glazing will be double glazed.  
 
51. The proposed replacement façade design was a key area of negotiation in the pre-application 
process, and the current proposal is the result of this negotiation. HE have considered whether the 
façades should be replicas of the existing and have concluded that “we think it is appropriate for the 
new façade system to reference the existing, but not slavishly copy it.” The new cladding panels are 
smaller in depth than the original panels but will still provide an opportunity to reinstate the 
Fibonacci sequence (explained further in para 58 below). The “clerestorey” window (high section of 
wall that contains windows above eye level)/top lights of the glazing will be recessed from the main 
glazing façade. This will provide some depth, and HE states this will recreate some of the 
characteristic relief of the original façade.    
 
52. The C20th Society have objected to the proposed façade design. They have stated that the 
need to replace the existing glazing is not justification to introduce floor to ceiling glazing and to 
depart from the original design. The C20th Society consider the existing proportions and materials 
give a sense of rhythm and textural detail to the tower. They consider that the proposals to change 
the design, including the increased height of glazing, the reduction in depth of the spandrel panels, 
introducing bronze coloured frames and reducing the depth of the set back of the top lights, will 
result in “substantial harm to the buildings architectural and historic significance.” The C20th Society 
go on to state these changes will have a far reaching impact due to the buildings prominence within 
the city, and that “Departure from original design concepts and materials that identify the building’s 
age, purpose and quality will harm its historic value as evidence of the ambition and investment of 
the City Council in their plan for Plymouth’s reconstruction following WWII.” 
 
53. It is considered that the loss of the existing façades and proposed replacement will result in 
harm. In accordance with the NPPF, it is required to determine whether the works will result in 
substantial harm or less than substantial harm, and then apply the relevant tests. The C20th Society 
consider the proposal to result in substantial harm, therefore para 195 of the NPPF will apply.  
 
54. Paragraph 195 states “Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to (or 
total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse 

Page 32



 

 

OFFICIAL 

consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve 
substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or all of the following apply: 
a) the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and 
b) no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term through 
appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and 
c) conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or public ownership 
is demonstrably not possible; and 
d) the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use.” 
 
55. HE consider that the works are less than substantial harm, and therefore para 196 applies: “ 
Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal 
including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.” 
 
56. In order to address C20th Society objection to the facade, their comments are broken down 
below with consideration given to their areas of concern. 
 
57. Façade design – Proportions 
The C20th Society object to the departure “from the architects original design intentions” e.g. the 
increased height of glazing and reduction in depth of spandrel panels. In terms of the full height 
glazing, the Councils Urban Designer has confirmed that the original design intention by Hector 
Stirling was full height glazing, and therefore it could be considered that the proposal is more in 
keeping with the architects original design intentions. Notwithstanding this, it is considered that the 
change in proportions will have a harmful impact upon the significance of the building.  
 
58. Façade design – Materials 
The granite spandrel panels are a key feature of the façade. The list description states “The green 
granite panels below the windows are also modulated with a slight variation of colour and arranged 
in a series in a Fibonacci system of harmonic proportions which was intended to symbolise the 
diversity of activities within the building and alleviate the monotony of what otherwise is a uniform 
façade.” The Old Plymouth Society’s book on the Civic Centre defines the Fibonacci sequence as “a 
series of numbers that is related to the golden ratio and in which each number is the sum of the two 
proceeding numbers”. HE state in their comments that the Fibonacci pattern was intended to 
symbolise the diversity of activities within the building. It is proposed to reinstate the variation of the 
colour of cladding to reinstate the Fibonacci sequencing pattern. This is considered to enhance and 
better reveal the significance of the building, as the pattern is not currently obvious and has faded 
due to weathering over the years. 
 
59.  As noted above HE considers the design to have more significance than the fabric of the 
building. It is noted that the proposed cladding material will not be able to be granite aggregate 
panels as per the existing, due to structural constraints. It is suggested by the applicants that the fibre 
cement cladding is the only viable alternative that complies with post Grenfell requirements. Building 
Control advise that residential buildings over 18m should be made of non combustible materials. In 
principle fibre cement is a non-combustible material, however Building Control will need further 
details to agree the exact material including manufacturers specification, proposed insulation and 
how it will be installed and affixed. This will need to be reviewed through the Building Control 
process. HE have recommended a condition to request and agree the cladding material, and this has 
been included within the proposed detailed design and external materials condition, as well as the 
listed building consent.   
 
60. The glazing is proposed to be bronze coloured marine grade powder coated aluminium 
frames. The existing window units are metal windows. The C20th Society’s comments appears to 
object to the colour, as opposed to the material. The change in colour will impact upon the 

Page 33



 

 

OFFICIAL 

appearance of the building, but it is not considered that the proposed bronze coloured frames will 
result in harm to the significance of the listed building.  
 
61. Façade design – Depth 
The C20th Society have objected to the reduction in the depth of the set back of the top 
lights/clerestorey. Discussions at pre-application stage with HE clarified the need to retain the depth 
within the façade to retain some of the towers detailing. The proposed façade sets back the top 
lights by approx 250mm. This is a reduced amount than the existing, but it is considered it will 
achieve a similar visual impact. The proposed façade will have varying planes of depth, including the 
new glazing and cladding, the recessed top light, and the projecting new pilasters. The existing 
projecting concrete surround is proposed to be retained and repaired. It is considered that the new 
façade proposes a variation in depth, which respects a feature of the existing façade, and therefore of 
significance.  
 
62. Façade conclusion 
The proposed replacement façade design will have a significant impact upon the appearance of the 
building. Key elements of the façade design are retained, including glazing with a central mullion and 
recessed top lights, vertical pilasters and spandrel/cladding panels. These elements also seek to 
reflect the different depths of the existing façade. The proposed cladding panels are proposed to 
reflect the Fibonacci design. Through the retention of these key features in the new design, it is 
considered the overall appearance of the new façade will respect the existing special character of the 
listed building. The overall appearance will retain the repetition of the existing façade but with 
variations and detail within this repetition.  
 
63. It is also considered that the façade design is not trying to imitate the existing façade. It is 
clearly a modern intervention and therefore not trying to be a pastiche/copy of the existing.  
 
64. Notwithstanding this, there will be a level of harm caused by the new façade. On the basis of 
para 50 to 61 above, by seeking to retain key elements of the existing façade, albeit in different 
proportions, these will help to mitigate the harm caused.  In addition, it is considered that much of 
the tower’s significance comes from its landmark location and height, and the butterfly roof design, 
which remain unchanged as part of this application. On this basis it is considered that the new façade 
will result in less than substantial harm. This conclusion is consistent with the consultation response 
from HE.   
 
65. Conditions are proposed to deal with the detail of the new façade design. This includes a 
condition HE have recommended, requiring material samples of the proposed transom panels to be 
approved prior to construction commencing. 
 
66. Roof Area works 
The roof area, including existing glazed pavilion is proposed to be retained and proposed for a 
communal roof terrace and resident’s lounge. The glazed pavilion is proposed to be refurbished, with 
the existing glazing system retained and refurbished. There will be some minor external works 
including installation of glazed double doors and internal works to create the dining room and winter 
garden. The existing stair core will be retained and painted grey. The existing steel balustrade will be 
retained and timber balustrade is to be replaced. The existing concrete floor is proposed to be 
retained and repaired. All these works are considered to preserve the character and appearance of 
the listed building. One of the key features of architectural interest is the yellow gull wing roof. This 
will be retained and repaired.  
 
67. The application proposes two illuminated ‘Civic’ signs on the roof, on the east and west 
elevation. This is not specifically referred to in either HE or C20th Society comments.  The Urban 
Design comments have commented that the signage is considered an unnecessary accent feature 

Page 34



 

 

OFFICIAL 

which clutters the roof space and obscures and distracts from the gull-wing roof and which should 
remain the distinctive accent feature in its own right.  The Historic Environment Officer has also 
stated that “the addition of lettering atop the Civic building is a superfluous and unnecessary 
embellishment to this listed building.” The removal of the signage was requested on this basis 
however in discussion with the applicant it was stated that the signage is proposed in order to signal 
a new life of the building. It is considered that the roof signage would give rise to less than substantial 
harm to the listed building and adds visual interest and as such on balance is considered acceptable. 
Consideration is also given to its reversibility, as they would be able to be removed without harm to 
the structure of the building.  
 
68. Currently there are various pieces of telecommunication equipment on the roof. HE have 
requested that the equipment should either be removed or relocated out of sight, to restore the 
original streamlined aesthetic of the building. As the equipment is in use as base station serving 
Plymouth, the design condition asks for final details of telecommunication equipment, and a more 
detailed condition on the listed building consent as per the HE request.  
 
69. Roof area - Public access 
Public access to the roof for open days, including heritage open days will be secured through a S106 
Planning Obligation. This addresses one of HE’s request for a condition which is for public access to 
the rooftop area which guarantees access on at least two weekends per year, one of which will 
coincide with the National Heritage Open Days. The S106 secures 12 days a year public access, 
including a heritage open day. The principle of access to the roof is also supported by the Council’s 
Urban Designer. The design and access statement states that: “public open days to be held each year 
during which escorted groups will be given the opportunity to experience the drama of these 
spaces.” A roof terrace management strategy condition is recommended which will include the 
requirement to agree the detail of the public access. 
 
70. Ground Floor - Demolition of glazed enclosure/reception 
The undercroft glazing that forms the reception area will be demolished. This will create an area of 
open space under the tower of the building, creating a new central square. The undercroft glazing 
dates from the 1980s.  HE support this aspect of the proposals and state it will “increase dramatic 
visual effect of the tower”. C20th Society also support the public access to the undercroft and plaza.  
 
71. One of the features of this area is the original terrazzo floor treatment under the carpet tiles. 
This treatment will be exposed, but treated with a resin bonded finish to ensure it is protected and 
preserved. The first floor internal balcony slab will be retained and extended, with the balcony edge 
extended by 2m. A new timber deck will be laid on top of the existing and new balustrading is 
proposed. The use of this space will be for events and the tenants of the first floor commercial units. 
The plans indicate outside seating. Concrete columns will be will exposed and repaired.  
 
72. Overall, the works of the demolition of the later glazing, and exposing and repairs of the 
terrazzo floor, will better reveal the significance of the listed building. With the provision of 
conditions ensuring protection of the terrazzo floor, it is considered that these works do not have a 
harmful impact upon the significance of the listed building.  
 
73. Demolition of west extension  
A two storey extension that runs along the west elevation of the building is proposed to be 
demolished. This is accommodation located the rear of the reception area/adjacent to the car park 
and encloses the reception area. By removing this later extension, it is considered that this will 
better reveal the original proportions of the building and therefore enhances the significance of the 
listed building. It is noted HE and C20th Society do not specifically comment upon this element of 
the scheme.  
 

Page 35



 

 

OFFICIAL 

74. North block works 
The north block consists of the ground and first floor accommodation to the north of the tower and 
adjacent to Royal Parade. This area is proposed for the mix of commercial uses as outlined 
previously.    
 
75. Internally, a new lift and stair core is proposed to be created at the east end of the building. 
The existing central stair core is retained with a new lift installed. The first floor is already largely 
open plan due to a previous application, however there are some further removal of internal 
partitions, including original masonry on both the ground and first floor.  
 
76. On the north/Royal Parade elevation, the existing glazing and aluminium curtain walling will be 
retained, although the lower spandrel panels will be replaced with clear glazing. The concrete panels 
will be made good, and concrete block painted grey. The east/Armada Way elevation proposes new 
double height glazing. The existing pre cast concrete will be made good and cleaned. The south/new 
civic square elevation will largely be a new elevation, consisting of a glazed façade within existing 
mullions at the first floor level, and a new aluminium glazed system at the ground floor. The existing 
murano glass columns are proposed to be retained and repaired where necessary.  
 
77. Overall, the works to the north block are considered to be sensitive in nature. The 
introduction of glazing will impact upon the appearance of the building, however this is not 
considered to give rise to any harm.  
 
78. South block works 
The south block consists of the ground and first floor accommodation to the south of the main 
tower which incorporates the previous staff entrance to the building and the first floor links across 
to the council house. This area is proposed for the mix of commercial uses as outlined previously, as 
well as the access to the residential units.  
 
79. The existing lift core and south block stairs are retained. There is a new ramped access to 
new entrance lobby doors and glazing on the south elevation, as well as retaining the existing timber 
glazing system. Internally, works are proposed to remove internal partitions, including original 
masonry. At the first floor there are number of offices with timber panelling, which are proposed to 
be removed.  
 
80. On the east/Armada Way elevation the delabole slate panels are proposed to be retained and 
repaired at the ground floor level. At the first floor, which includes the bridge link across to the 
Council House, the existing glazing is proposed to be retained and repaired. The north elevation/new 
civic square elevation proposes new aluminium glazing system at the ground floor. As per the north 
block, the existing murano glass columns are proposed to be retained and repaired where necessary. 
At the first level there are some new glazed openings, combined with the re-use of existing aggregate 
panels proposed to be painted grey. The existing south elevation proposes to retain and repair the 
delabole slate panels as well as an area of aluminium glazing where one corner where the 1980s 
extension is proposed to be demolished. At the first floor, which includes the bridge link across to 
the Council House, the existing glazing is proposed to be retained and repaired. At the first floor, 
the internal courtyard elevation proposes to retain and repair the existing glazing system, and glazing 
the lower panel.  Ventilation and extraction for the commercial uses is proposed to be incorporated 
into plant compounds proposed on the roof of the north and south blocks. These are proposed to 
be screened by dark grey mesh. 
 
81. The most significant intervention to the south block is the glazed extension. The extension is 
proposed at the ground floor to the west of the south block, extends towards the council house and 
partially encloses the courtyard and pool. The design of the extension is proposed to be lightweight 
with full height glazing. In support of the proposal it is suggested that the extension will create some 

Page 36



 

 

OFFICIAL 

activity in the courtyard whilst also providing some shelter when accessing the residential or 
commercial units.  
 
82. The C20th Society has objected to this extension as it is considered it will block views 
through the undercroft space and reduce the sense of openness, characteristics of Jellicoe’s design. 
HE state that “the glazed pavilion will terminate the southern undercroft in a logical manner, with a 
form of construction that is recognisably new and reversible; should the development of the adjacent 
car park ever proceed and it then becomes desirable for the southern undercroft to become more 
visually permeable.”  
 
83. The submitted heritage statement justifies the extension with the following comment “while 
there is nothing intrinsically sacrosanct about the design of the courtyard, the extension – despite its 
transparency – will partly close off the open space within the complex from the Civic Square, 
affecting their designed continuity and connectivity”. On this basis, it is considered that there will be 
harm resulting from the extension, however it is considered that this will give rise to less than 
substantial harm. 
 
84. Heritage – Council House 
The Council House forms part of the same listed building, although now separated from the Civic 
Centre in terms of use, and not included within the application site. On this basis, the impact is 
considered in terms of the impact on the building itself and its setting.  The works of repair to the 
link bridges and proposed elevational treatment are not considered to harm the significance of the 
Council House.  The proposed glazed extension extends towards the Council House and therefore 
has more potential to impact upon the setting. The form and size of the extension is such that it 
does not encroach any further than the edge of the pool. It is considered that these proportions and 
the lightweight design help to mitigate the impact of the extension. Notwithstanding this, it is 
considered that this will give rise to less than substantial harm to the listed Council House, through 
the partial enclosure of the currently open space.  
 
85. Heritage – Setting of Listed Buildings 
The Guildhall is a Grade II listed building located to the east of the Civic Centre. The works to the 
Civic Centre are not considered to harm the significance of the setting of this listed building. The 
landscape works are considered to have a minor impact which improves the setting of this listed 
building. 
 
86. The Theatre Royal is a Grade II listed building located to the west of the Civic Centre. The 
works to the Civic Centre are not considered to harm the significance of the setting of this listed 
building. The works to remove the harmful 1980s extension and changes to the west elevation of the 
Civic Centre including the proposed staircase link are considered to improve the setting of this listed 
building.  
 
87. The Bank public house and clock tower are Grade II listed buildings located to the west of 
the Civic Centre. The works to the Civic Centre are not considered to harm the setting or 
significance of these listed buildings.  
 
88. 22, 23 and 24 Lockyer Street are Grade II listed buildings located to the south west of the 
Civic Centre. The works to the Civic Centre are not considered to harm the setting or significance 
of these listed buildings. 
 
89. The Former Barclays Bank building is a Grade II listed building located to the southeast of the 
Civic Centre. The works to the Civic Centre are not considered to harm the setting or significance 
of these listed buildings. 
 

Page 37



 

 

OFFICIAL 

90. Heritage – Changes to and Setting of Listed Park and Garden 
The application site includes part of the Civic Square which is a listed park and garden. This area 
includes the pool that sits between the Civic Centre and Council House. Works are proposed to 
this pool, by raising the bed to decrease the depth with a new reflective stone finish in order to 
increase the intended reflective nature of this pool. In addition stepping stone slabs will be added to 
create additional access to the residential and commercial uses. Existing finishes such as the raised 
planter, east lawn and cobbles will be retained. These works are considered to enhance the 
significance of the listed park and garden. 
 
91. The glazed extension is located within the listed park and garden, and will encroach into the 
open space between the Civic Centre building and Council House, and will give rise to less than 
substantial harm.  
 
92. The listed park and garden includes the Civic Square to the east of the Civic Centre. Whilst 
this is not included as part of the application site, the setting needs to be considered.  The works as 
detailed above and the creation of a new area of public realm beneath the tower of the Civic Centre 
is considered to enhance the setting of the Civic Square.  
 
93. The Gardens Trust are statutory consultees and have advised they are “happy to support the 
proposals.” 
 
94. HE have commented that it is regrettable that works to enhance the wider Civic Square are 
not included as part of these proposals, but understand these works will come under PCC Better 
Places initiative. The landscape condition will ensure details are consistent with the Better Places 
scheme, when this is delivered.  
 
95. Overall, it is considered that the modest level of harm to the significance of the park and 
garden through the glazed extension, is outweighed by the improvements to the reflective pool 
which will enhance the features of special architectural interest. 
 
96. Heritage – Conservation Areas 
There is a duty under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement of the character of the surrounding 
conservation area.   During the course of this application, a city centre conservation area has been 
designated, which includes the Civic Centre. The conservation area is centred around Royal Parade 
and the Civic Square.  There is no Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan to inform this 
consideration as required by JLP policy DEV21, but the following is based upon the “designation 
assessment” that was produced to enable the designation of the conservation area. The conservation 
area is focused on the post war development as part of the ‘Plan for Plymouth’ and the Civic Centre 
is a key part of this significance. The beaux arts grid is another element of significance. It is 
considered that the proposal for conversion of a highly significant building, which respects the 
current layout of the conservation area is considered to preserve and enhance the character and 
appearance of the conservation area.  
 
97. The proposed elevational changes to the Civic Centre will give rise to harm upon the 
character of the conservation area. It is considered that as the proposal will be deviating from the 
original appearance of a highly prominent building, it will not preserve the character of the 
conservation area. The proposed residential use of the building also deviates away from the originally 
planned use, which formed part of the zoning and another element of character of the ‘Plan for 
Plymouth’.  
` 

Page 38



 

 

OFFICIAL 

98. Overall, the harm to the conservation area is considered to be less than substantial and the 
benefits of securing a new use to the building, landscape improvements and improved public access is 
considered to outweigh the harm.  
 
99. The Hoe Conservation Area is located to the south of the application site, and the Barbican 
Conservation Area is located to the south east of the application site. Given the height of the Civic 
Centre, the elevational changes will have a minor impact upon the appearance of these conservation 
areas. However, as post war design is not a key element of significance of these designated 
conversation areas, the changes to the elevation of the Civic Centre is not considered to have a 
harmful impact upon these conservation areas.  The character and appearance of these conservation 
areas are considered to be preserved and therefore complies with Section 72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  
 
100. Heritage – Conclusion 
To summarise the assessment above, the following works are considered to constitute less than 
substantial harm:  
- Loss of Civic use. Harm is mitigated through the introduction of new uses which will help to 
secure the future use of the civic centre 
- Loss, replacement and design of east and west façades. Harm is mitigated through the 
retention of key features of the existing design (glazing, variation in depth, Fibonacci pattern within 
cladding)  
- Civic sign on roof. Harm is mitigated through its reversible nature.  
- Glazed extension to south block. Harm is mitigated through the proposed lightweight glazed 
design 
 
Overall it is considered that the proposal will result in less than substantial harm to the listed Civic 
Centre and Council House.   
 
101. Therefore NPPF para 196 applies: 
196. Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal 
including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 
 
102. The building has been vacant for a number of years and its condition has deteriorated in that 
time. It is a prominent building in the city centre, and its condition and vacancy has a negative impact 
upon the city centre. Securing the optimum viable use is therefore a key consideration, as per the 
above paragraph of the NPPF. The NPPG states “Harmful development may sometimes be justified 
in the interests of realising the optimum viable use of an asset, notwithstanding the loss of 
significance caused, and provided the harm is minimised”. HE have stated that “In respect of these 
proposals, Historic England are of the view that the applicant has demonstrated that the harm to the 
building has indeed been minimised. The proposals will provide a use that is viable and will lead to 
the investment in the Civic that is necessary for its long-term conservation.” 
 
103. Whilst the viability of the proposals is still uncertain, it is considered that the proposals 
represent an opportunity in securing optimum viable future uses for the Civic Centre. In addition, by 
bringing the building back into use, there are a number of public benefits including: 
 
- Public access , including access days to the roof, and access at the lower levels for the 
commercial uses in accordance with PLY15 
- Creation of new public realm and improvement to existing public realm including tree 
planting and biodiversity enhancements in accordance with PLY6, PLY15 and DEV26 
- New staircase link to Theatre Royal in accordance with PLY6, DEV20, DEV29 

Page 39



 

 

OFFICIAL 

- Vibrant uses at the ground and first floor which will enhance the vibrancy and vitality of the 
city centre in accordance with PLY6, PLY15, DEV20 
- Delivery of city centre housing and associated benefits to the city centre in accordance with 
PLY6, PLY15, DEV10 
- Provision of space for an energy centre and safeguarding for future connection to the district 
heat network in accordance with PLY6 and DEV32 
 
104. In accordance with DEV21, it is considered that there has reasonable efforts to find new uses 
and to mitigate the extent of harm.  By securing new uses for this building it is also considered that 
this proposal complies with the NPPF (para 193) which states great weight should be given to the 
assets conservation. It is considered that the proposal also complies with SPT11, which gives support 
for heritage led regeneration and requiring development to make a positive contribution to local 
character.  
 
105. Para 192 of the NPPF directs LPA’s in determining planning applications to take account of: 
• The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting 
them to viable uses consistent with their conservation. 
• The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including economic viability and 
• The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness. 
 
106. Reflecting on the above, it is considered that this proposal will help to enhance the 
significance of the heritage asset, through removal of later extensions, reinstating Fibonacci pattern, 
repair works and improvements to the listed park and garden. Whilst securing viable uses for this 
building is a challenge it is considered that the proposal is an important opportunity to secure the 
future use of the building. The proposed uses are considered to make a positive contribution to the 
city centre, including the creation of a sustainable community. By bringing this landmark building back 
into use, this is considered to support economic viability of the city centre and will positively 
contribute towards local character and distinctiveness.  
 
107. As previously noted, there is a duty under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  
Paragraphs 43 to 106 above evidence the special regard of all the relevant heritage assets, and the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses. 
 
108. Consideration has been given to relevant case law in relation to listed buildings and heritage 
issues when determining planning applications, these include the notable Barnwell case and those 
later cases which followed on from Barnwell, such as Mordue and Tower Hamlets as well as several 
others. This advises that desirability of preserving the settings of listed buildings should not simply be 
given careful consideration but “considerable importance and weight” when carrying out the 
balancing exercise. It is considered that the NPPF policy considerations with regard to harm have 
been applied appropriately, arriving at less than substantial harm and justification on this basis (para 
196). The application is considered to comply with SPT11 and DEV21 of the Joint Local Plan.  
 
109. Design 
The Council’s Urban Designer has commented on this scheme, which is summarised above, and also 
referenced under the heritage considerations above where relevant. Support is given to the principle 
of the proposals and significant elements of the scheme. The amount of active ground floor frontage 

Page 40



 

 

OFFICIAL 

is addressed in para 13 above. This section will focus on areas where queries have been raised by the 
Urban Designer. 
 
110. The key area of consideration raised by the Urban Designer is in relation to safeguarding the 
future development of the car park site. As noted above, PLY15 includes provision for new build 
development on the car park site. On this basis an indicative plan has been provided within the 
Design and Access statement. The Urban Designer has raised concerns with this plan, however it is 
important to note that this plan does not form part of the planning application at this stage. It has 
been submitted to show that the car park site could be developed at a later date.  
 
111. The main consideration of the proposal and impact upon the future development, is the use 
of the public car park. The concern raised by the Urban Designer is that there is a risk that the 
current scheme would create a reliance on the car park as residential and commercial uses, visitors 
and staff come to depend upon it and this dependence could create a disincentive to deliver 
development on the car park.  The Urban Designer recommends that sufficient land should be set 
aside as part of this scheme now, to enable future development to be delivered in a successful way.  
 
112. The residential parking is proposed within the basement of the Civic Centre, and therefore 
should not impact upon the future ability to deliver the car park site, subject to providing suitable 
access. Whilst it would be preferable to set aside the future development plot, it is not considered 
that the continued use as a public car park will prevent the future delivery of this plot.  A condition 
can be recommended to ensure that the open car park remains unallocated to residents or 
occupants of the building and that no changes are made to the car park or building which prejudice 
the future redevelopment potential of the car park. 
 
113. The other area of consideration is the west elevation of the podium deck, including garage 
and service doors which front onto the Theatre Royal. This is not considered ideal in urban design 
terms. However consideration is given to the fact that this elevation will be improved through the 
removal of the 1980s extension and the installation of the steps and slide and therefore there is no 
objection to this elevation design.  
 
114. DEV20 requires using materials and design solutions that are resilient to their context and to 
endure over time. The Urban Designers comment relating to polyester powder coatings proposed 
for windows mainly relates to their durability within the marine context. It is noted that the windows 
are proposed to be marine grade. A condition is recommended to deal with maintenance of the 
building, and would address this comment. This condition also addresses the Urban Designers 
comment with regard to the areas proposed to be painted.  Further conditions are recommended in 
relation to details of the materials and finishes and coatings, the prevention of further roof 
equipment and prevention of window vinyl’s on the building’s active frontages.  
This will support the application in complying with DEV20, by ensuring materials are resilient to 
context and will endure over time. 
 
115. Through the conversion of the listed building, retention of trees and enhancement of the 
listed park and garden, it is considered that the development has had proper regard to the pattern of 
local development and achieves a good quality sense of place.  It is also considered that the works to 
enhance the building and public realm will contribute towards rectifying and repairing the townscape.  
 
116. During the course of the process a microclimatic study has been requested in order to assess 
the effect of the wind speeds resulting from the various demolitions upon the new Civic Square. This 
has the potential to impact upon pedestrians at ground floor level. In response to this concern, a 
study has not been produced, however a statement has been submitted suggesting that any prevailing 
wind would be sheltered by Theatre Royal and car park, the retention of a balcony and new 
structures in the public realm will help to dissipate any wind force through this area and the size of 

Page 41



 

 

OFFICIAL 

the new aperture will a larger 8m high space which should prevent any funnelling effect. The 
statement commits to monitoring the situation. As this does not fully address officers concerns a 
condition is recommend to ensure any issues are dealt with on site, including a review pre-
occupation/post demolition of the undercroft. 
 
117. DEV20 ‘Place shaping and the quality of the built environment’ is applicable. It is considered 
the scheme will contribute towards a quality sense of place and character through the use of the 
listed building, listed park and garden and surrounding landscape (criteria 3). The works to improve 
the reflective pool is considered to repair part of the damaged environment (criteria 7).  It will 
enhance the appearance of a key gateway location at the heart of the city centre (criteria 8). Overall, 
the proposal is considered to comply with DEV20. It is also considered that the application complies 
with the National Design Guide.   
 
118. Designing Out Crime 
The Design and Access Statement includes a statement on secure by design. The key considerations 
are that the site will have plenty of natural surveillance due to layout, design and the mixed use 
nature of development.  There will be outside lighting, secure cycle parking, refuse storage and a 
building management company on site. The residential will have secure by design entrance doors and 
remote camera access on communal areas.   
 
119. The Designing Out Crime Officer has supported this application. The only recommendation 
is in relation to the proposed roller shutter doors to the under croft car park, which should meet 
certain security standards. It is proposed to deal with this detail through a planning condition. The 
application is considered to comply with DEV10 and DEV20 through the consideration of designing 
out crime within the scheme. 
 
120. Landscape 
The proposal includes the creation of a new area of public realm, through the removal of the 
undercroft of the reception area and 1980s extension. The plans refer to this as the New Civic 
Square. This area is proposed to be hard landscaped, with large areas of outside seating and trees 
planted in planters. Due to the change in levels, there is a stepped and ramped access from the 
existing Civic Square. This area will then act as a main point of access to the commercial units. 
 
121. The materials proposed for the new Civic Square are a mix of new concrete paving and new 
granite paving as an alternative paving type to treat the areas around the trees and seating areas. 
Along the east elevation the material has not been clarified in order to leave flexibility so it can be 
reviewed and agreed in line with the Better Places scheme. There is no objection to this approach, 
which is dealt with by the proposed landscape condition. This condition along with the phasing 
condition, will also address Historic England’s comments which advise phasing needs to be 
considered.  For clarity the Better Places scheme is a council initiative to renew and rejuvenating 
open spaces and pedestrian areas within the city centre, including the Civic Square. 
 
122. As noted previously, the terrazzo floor will be retained under a resin finish.  The material 
proposed between the Council House and south block is stated to be refurbishment and the reuse 
of existing surface treatment. 
 
123. The landscape scheme will involve the loss of 4 trees to the east of the Civic Centre. A tree 
survey has been submitted in support of this application. This identifies the trees to be removed as 
Cherry tree group (two trees) and Norway Maple as Category C trees which means trees of low 
quality and value. The other trees to be removed, a Turkey Oak and Roble Beech, are noted a 
category U which are in such a poor condition that they cannot be retained. On this basis there is no 
objection to the loss of these trees which are not of sufficient quality or longevity for retention.  
 

Page 42



 

 

OFFICIAL 

124. Notwithstanding this, mitigation is required for the loss of these trees in terms of 
biodiversity, which is detailed later in this report. This mitigation has resulted in 4 trees proposed to 
be planted to the north of the application site along the Royal Parade elevation. All other trees, 
including those along Royal Parade are proposed to be retained. The landscape plan refers to 
pollarding, and conditions are recommended to agree any tree works and to protect trees during 
construction. 
 
125. In addition 20 trees are proposed to be planted within the hard landscape within planters. 
The maintenance of these trees will be important to ensure they are retained. A landscape 
management plan condition and condition requiring the retention of these trees is recommended on 
this basis.   
 
126. The landscape works between the Council House and south block are largely enhancing the 
features that are there, including the reflective pool, refurbishing the planter and grassed area. 
Details have not been provided of the steps across the pool which is proposed to be dealt with by 
condition.  
 
127. The car park is proposed to be retained, albeit with new markings as required. The planter 
that runs around the edge of the site is proposed to be retained. The new stair case and slide will 
require some alteration to the existing planters.  
 
128. Overall, it is considered that with the provision of conditions, the landscape scheme complies 
with DEV20 (5), DEV23 Landscape Character and DEV28 Trees woodlands and hedgerows.  
 
129. Amenity 
Future residents 
The proposed units are considered to have sufficient daylight, sunlight and outlook. Whilst there are 
a number of single aspect units, the increased amount of glazing serving these units is considered to 
allow for sufficient levels of sun and day light. There will be no significant issues of overshadowing 
affecting these units.   The development will be fully accessible for residents, including the roof 
terrace.  
 
130. One of the considerations of DEV1 ‘Protecting Health and Amenity’ requires that new 
development provides for the protection from noise disturbance for new residents. DEV 2 ‘Air, 
water, soil, noise, land and light’ states development should avoid harmful environmental impacts for 
new development arising from noise pollution. An acoustic report has been submitted with this 
application and Public Protection Service (PPS) consulted on this basis. PPS have reviewed this report 
and are in agreement with its conclusion. PPS requested a condition requiring the units to be 
constructed to a British Standard (BS) that focuses on sound insulation against externally generated 
noise. However this condition was rejected by the applicants as it is stated the development cannot 
be delivered in accordance with the BS criteria which is assessed in more detailed below.  
 
131. The BS relates to externally generated noise. The acoustic report indicates that the prevailing 
noise from outside the building is at a level which means the development needs to include 
mitigation. The required amount of sound insulation can be achieved through an enhanced glazing 
specification. This means that the BS can be met with the windows shut.  
 
132. However, the proposal does not include ventilation to address the overheating of the 
residential units, and it is proposed this would be addressed through opening windows.  This 
subsequently means that the noise impact with open windows needs to be assessed, and it is in this 
instance that the development does not meet the BS. The noise impact from outside will mean that 
on days requiring an open window, residents are likely be subject to a noise impact above the BS 
level.   

Page 43



 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
133. It is stated in support of the application that if you average the noise over a year, then the 
noise levels are in line with the relaxed BS noise criteria. PPS do not agree to this approach. PPS 
note that residents will need to choose between the need for ventilation to address overheating and 
noise impact from outside.  
 
134. The reason ventilation has not been incorporated into the residential scheme is stated partly 
to be due to heritage considerations, and restricting any further changes to the elevation. It is further 
suggested that ventilating internally, means ventilation ducts must rise to roof level which would have 
limited duct sizes and therefore would not enable the required ventilation rates.    
 
135. It is acknowledged that the proposed façade is highly sensitive in terms of its character and 
there will be significant challenges in agreeing further changes to this. However it is considered that 
there is potential scope for addressing ventilation to serve the residential units, in order to mitigate 
the noise impact from outside. A ventilation strategy condition is recommended on this basis.  The 
BS condition is also recommended, however this also includes the ability to agree different noise 
levels, as it cannot be guaranteed that ventilation can be incorporated into the scheme. PPS retain 
their objection to the scheme on this basis. Should ventilation not be achieved, a balanced judgement 
would need to be made by the Local Planning Authority, balancing the heritage considerations with 
the noise impact.  
 
136. There is also the potential for impact upon amenity from the commercial units below, such as 
the A3 (café/restaurants), A4 (drinking establishments) and A5 (takeaway) uses. DEV18 (criteria 5) 
requires that A4 and A5 uses will not be permitted where they result in unacceptable noise, smell, 
litter, disturbance or other detrimental impacts. On this basis a number of conditions have been 
proposed including a commercial development plan, to include hours of opening. In addition, a 
condition is also recommended to restrict the total amount of A5 floor space. The principle of a 
mixed use scheme is considered acceptable in a city centre location. It is not considered that these 
uses will give rise to a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the area, and the 
proposal is considered to comply with DEV18 on this basis.  
 
137. A ventilation and extract statement has been submitted with this application.  This confirms 
provision has been made for dedicated kitchen exhaust systems on the roof to the podium to serve 
the proposed restaurant units. This proposes horizontal ventilation away from the building and 
openable windows. It confirms that future tenants will be responsible for providing the final fit out. A 
condition is recommended to require development in accordance with this statement, and the 
commercial development plan condition requires details of the ventilation and extraction. On this 
basis, it is considered that there will not be an amenity issue posed by ventilation and extract from 
the commercial uses. 
 
138. It should be noted that as this is a city centre location, there is the potential for noise impacts 
and there should be a level of expectation living in the city centre of the potential for noise due to 
the vibrancy of the city centre. DEV1 states that unacceptable impacts will be judged against the level 
of amenity generally in the locality.  It is considered that within the context of the city centre, the 
impact from external noise will be mitigated to an acceptable level and is therefore considered to be 
in accordance with DEV1 and DEV2 of the JLP. 
 
139. In terms of internal amenity space, there are further considerations relating to national space 
standards, however in the context of DEV1 and DEV2 the proposal is considered to provide an 
acceptable level of amenity.  
 
140. Impact upon Amenity 

Page 44



 

 

OFFICIAL 

There are no residential units within close proximity of the site that could be affected by the 
development, in terms of overlooking. The closest residential accommodation is student 
accommodation along Royal Parade, which is over 50m to the north. These distances are considered 
to be sufficient to prevent any unacceptable impacts upon amenity. 
 
141. The proposal is not considered to give rise to any issues of overshadowing, as the nature of 
the proposal for the conversion of an existing building will not give rise to any increase in 
overshadowing or other loss of light. 
 
142. The proposal is not considered to impact upon amenity of neighbouring properties and 
therefore considered to comply with DEV 1 Protecting health and amenity. 
 
143. Suicide prevention 
Public Health have commented on this application, and raised concern with regard to suicide 
prevention. The use of the roof space as communal amenity space is considered by Public Health as a 
public space, given the use of the space could be used by various occupants of the building and any 
invited friends/family at the same time. On this basis, they have raised concern at the potential for 
suicide from the roof space, and recommended restrictions which included a 2.5m high barrier.  
 
144. The current steel balustrade is 1.3m which is proposed to be retained, albeit with a 
replacement timber barrier. The installation of 2.5m barrier is considered to conflict with the 
heritage considerations of the building, and would have a harmful impact upon the appearance of the 
building. If a glazed barrier, this would then give rise to structural issues, solar reflection and further 
impact upon viability issues. On this basis a proposed management system approach is proposed. 
This includes ensuring any general public access, such as heritage open days, are publicly escorted, 
CCTV coverage and reporting to concierge desk, and options for exploring restricted or managed 
access to external spaces at night. In response to this, Public Health make some further 
recommendations however are able to recommend approval with a condition. The application is 
considered to comply with DEV20 (6) by ensuring the development contributes towards high 
standards of community safety. 
 
145. Delivering Housing 
The principle of residential in this city centre location is supported through policies SPT3, PLY2 and 
PLY6. The location is considered to be highly sustainable with good pedestrian, cycling and public 
transport connectivity to shops, schools and open spaces (the Hoe) in accordance with DEV10 
Delivering Quality Housing.  
 
146. This application applies for C3 residential use class. This can include Built To Rent units. The 
viability appraisal indicates that the residential is planned to be delivered as a Built To Rent scheme, 
however assesses the viability for both Built To Rent and open market housing. 
 
147. The NPPF glossary defines Built to Rent as “Purpose built housing that is typically 100% 
rented out. It can form part of a wider multi-tenure development comprising either flats or houses, 
but should be on the same site and/or contiguous with the main development. Schemes will usually 
offer longer tenancy agreements of three years or more, and will typically be professionally managed 
stock in single ownership and management control.” 
 
148. DEV7 requires at least 30% of the units to be affordable housing. This application does not 
include any affordable housing provision. A viability appraisal has been submitted with this 
application. This indicates that the development without the provision of affordable housing is not 
currently viable, and with a significant viability gap between £3.9 and £6.3 million, explained below.  
 
Build for Sale 15% Profit on GDV has a deficit of £3.9m 

Page 45



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Build for Sale 20% Profit on GDV has a deficit of £5.5m 
Private Rented Sector (Build To Rent) has a deficit of £6.3m 
 
149. This indicates that affordable housing, along with other contributions, would not be viable in 
any instance. 
 
150. Vacant Building Credit has been applied to this application in accordance with the NPPF 
which states in para 63 “To support the re-use of brownfield land, where vacant buildings are being 
reused or redeveloped, any affordable housing contribution due should be reduced by a 
proportionate amount”. The NPPG further states “Where a vacant building is brought back into any 
lawful use, or is demolished to be replaced by a new building, the developer should be offered a 
financial credit equivalent to the existing gross floorspace of relevant vacant buildings when the local 
planning authority calculates any affordable housing contribution which will be sought.” As there is 
no increase in floor space above the current vacant building, this reduces the affordable housing 
requirement to nil. On this basis, whilst it is regrettable that there is no affordable housing provided 
as part of this development as this would be beneficial to meet a defined need in the city, this lack of 
provision is in accordance with the NPPF, which is considered to outweigh the local policy 
requirements. 
 
151. National Described Space Standards (NDSS) and amenity 
DEV 10 (5) requires “New dwellings (including conversions of existing properties into flats) should 
be of sufficient size and layout to provide good quality accommodation to meet the needs of their 
occupants, with developers required to meet Nationally Described Space Standards.”  The NPPF 
states in a footnote (46) that policies may make use of nationally described space standards where 
the need for internal space can be justified.  
 
152. A schedule of accommodation has been provided. 69 units comply with National Described 
Space Standards (NDSS) (when assessing against ‘1 bed 1 person’ and ‘2 bed 3 person’ criteria). The 
remaining 75 units do not comply, meaning there is a 47% compliance with NDSS when assessing 
against the lower criteria.  
 
153. There are 4 x 3 bed apartments. The NDSS requirements for these are 86sqm, and all the 3 
bed units proposed exceed this at 98sqm. 
 
154. The majority of the 1 bed apartments comply with NDSS (‘1 bed 1 person’ requires 37sqm), 
with 65 out of 69 units complying. The 4 units that do not comply are less than 2 sqm less than the 
NDSS, e.g. 35.1 and 35.2 sqm. It is considered that this is only slightly under the required NDSS, but 
nevertheless, does not fully comply. The Design and Access Statement advises that the apartments 
have been designed as open plan with entrance lobbies omitted (using a fire engineered strategy) to 
maximise usable space and efficiencies. 
 
155. None of the 71 x ‘2 bed 3 person’ apartments comply with NDSS. The requirement is 61sqm 
for a 3 person unit. The size of the apartments range from 48.3sqm to 60.4sqm. Please find a 
summary below.   
 
8 units at 48.3 sqm  (-12.7 sqm) 
11 units at 50.5 sqm (-10.5 sqm) 
8 units at 54.4 sqm (-6.6 sqm)  
8 units at 56.2 sqm (-4.8 sqm) 
21 units at 57.1 sqm (-3.9 sqm) 
3 units at 57.8 sqm (-3.2 sqm) 
12 units at 60.3/4 sqm (-0.6/7 sqm ) 
 

Page 46



 

 

OFFICIAL 

156. The smallest 2 bed units are 48.3 sqm, which is significantly below the NDSS, whereas 60.3 
sqm is only just below the required floor space.  
 
157. If considering against the more stringent ‘1 bed 2 person’ and ‘2 bed 4 person’ criteria, none 
of the 1 or 2 bed units comply with the requirements which are: 
‘1 bed 2 person’ 50 sqm 
‘2 bed 4 person’ 70sqm 
This would mean the scheme would equate to less than 3% compliance with NDSS. 
 
158. One of the reasons given regarding why NDSS cannot be achieved is that the office floors are 
constrained by existing bay widths, internal column locations and the north and south cores. 
Referring to the emerging consultation draft SPD, this states that a relaxed standard may be allowed 
in exceptional circumstances, “for example, for the conversion of a listed building or another building 
where bringing it back into use is considered a greater benefit”. The restrictions of the listed building 
are acknowledged partially as justification for why NDSS cannot be met. 
 
159. The viability of the development is given as another justification why NDSS cannot be met. If 
the number of units were reduced, or units changed from 2 bed to 1 bed, this would have a negative 
impact upon viability and deliverability. Again referring back to the emerging consultation draft SPD it 
also states that “where a relaxed standard is permitted, significant justification may be required 
through a viability statement.” It is considered that this application represents ones of these 
exceptional circumstances and the viability is considered a material consideration for justifying why 
NDSS cannot be met.   
 
160. Additional information has also been submitted which has noted that the applicants other 
development in Mills Bakery, Royal William Yard included micro apartments, which averaged 32sqm. 
It is stated that these were popular in terms of sales and rentals.   
 
161. In order to try and mitigate this, the Design and Access Statement advises that space savings 
have been made by the omission of entry lobbies, the adoption of fully open plan living spaces and 
the provision of sliding screens to allow flexible living arrangements and room configurations. The 
sliding door arrangement on one of the bedrooms, means that a 2 bed unit could be converted to 
more open plan 1 bed unit by the occupant if that was their preference.  
 
162. Another consideration is the extent of communal amenity space also proposed. The roof is 
proposed as a communal amenity space. The existing roof structure is retained and converted to 
two dining rooms and kitchen which can be hired out, a winter garden room, and the remaining roof 
space retained as a roof terrace.  The adopted Development Guidelines SPD and emerging 
consultation draft SPD requires 745 sqm. The roof terrace will provide approx. 800sqm of amenity 
space (16m x 50m) and therefore complies with the planning guidance.  
 
163. It is considered that the various forms of amenity space on the roof helps to address the 
shortfall in NDSS. This area will provide additional inside space for all residents to use in all seasons.   
 
164. Overall, it is considered that there is mitigation in place for the undersized units, which will 
mean there is sufficient amenity for future residents. The justification for not meeting the standards 
as detailed above are also in accordance with the emerging SPD. This matter is further reviewed in 
the planning balance in para 220-225 below.  
 
165. Accessible and adaptable dwellings 
DEV9 requires at least 20% of dwellings on all schemes of 5 or more dwellings, where practicable to 
meet standards for accessibility and adaptability (Category M4(2) of building regulations).  The design 
and access statement confirms that 28 of the apartments will meet the M4(2) requirements for 

Page 47



 

 

OFFICIAL 

accessible and adaptable dwellings.  These are noted to be a mix of 1, 2 and 3 bed units, with 1 and 2 
bed units provided on each floor. This complies with the requirements of DEV9.  
 
166. DEV9 also requires at least 2% of dwellings on all schemes of 50 or more to meet national 
standards for wheelchair user homes (Category M4(3) of building regulations). This would equate to 
3 of the units required to meet this standard. The original submission did not seek to address this 
policy requirement. Further information has been submitted that confirms that the application is 
unable to meet this policy criteria, and seeks to justify this on the grounds outlined below.  
 
167. It is stated that the existing structure creates constraints which means that accommodating 
the required increased circulation space or access widths is challenging and inefficient. This means 
that by changing any of the 1 or 2 bed apartments to M4(3), this would require the loss of total 
apartment numbers. As the viability statement demonstrates the economic shortfall in the viability, 
any reduction in apartment numbers will further impact upon viability and deliverability.  
 
168. In order to create M4(3) compliant units without changing apartment numbers, the 3 bed 
units will be required to become 2 bed units, which would also impact upon viability. However, it is 
stated that the 3 bed units have been designed so that they could be converted to a 2 bed category 
M4(3) unit through internal alterations, such as wheelchair storage and transfer space, extended 
kitchen worktops, and replacement of sanitary ware and door handles to DDA compliant. Whilst the 
3 bed units could be converted to 2 bed category M4(3) units, as these will not be delivered as 
M4(3) compliant properties, the scheme does not fully comply with DEV9.  
 
169. Overall, the proposal partly complies with policy DEV9 through the provision of 28 M4(2) 
units, however does not comply with the requirements for 3  x M4(3) units (wheelchair accessible). 
This is considered on balance to be acceptable, taking account of the viability issues, and also that it 
would be possible in the future to convert to M4(3) if required.   
 
170. Highway and Parking Impacts 
A Transport Statement has been submitted with this application, which has been reviewed by the 
Highways Authority. As noted previously, the site is located in a highly sustainable city centre 
location, adjacent to city centre bus stops. The existing use as offices generated more trips than the 
proposed uses. The Highways Authority have advised that the commercial elements of the proposed 
scheme are unlikely to be a significant generator of trips in their own right, and will form part of 
linked trips to the city centre. 
 
171. 43 parking spaces are proposed to serve the residential units. Given the sustainable location 
immediately adjacent to the city’s bus services on Royal Parade, and availability of public car parks 
close to the site, this level of parking provision is considered acceptable by the Highways Authority. 
This parking is provided for in the basement and will help to safeguard the future development of the 
car park site. As part of this application, the public car park is proposed to be retained, with some 
changes to layout. This will mean there will be a slight reduction in spaces from 108 to 104. 
 
172. Consideration has been given to the provision of Electric Vehicle Charging (EVC) spaces. The 
originally submitted plans proposed 4 EVC spaces in the public surface car park and no EVC in the 
residential basement parking area. Following request for additional EVC Spaces, an EVC Statement 
has been prepared. This reviewed various options for providing EVC spaces including the viability of 
different options. The emerging consultation draft SPD requires at least 25% of parking bays to be 
provided with “dedicated freestanding weatherproof standard charging points.” 50% of all other 
spaces to be serviced with passive wring to allow future charging point collection. The Highway 
Authority have requested 10 EVC spaces within the residential parking area and agreed the 4 spaces 
in the public surface car park.  
 

Page 48



 

 

OFFICIAL 

173. The resulting proposal is for 5 EVC spaces within the basement for the residential units. It is 
stated that the viability of proposal does not allow for the provision of 10 spaces, which would bring 
it in line with the emerging consultation draft SPD. 
 
174. The proposal also includes infrastructure for the futureproofing of a further 19 spaces within 
the basement and 4 in the surface public car park. The emerging consultation SPD requires 50% of all 
other spaces to be futureproofed for residential, and therefore the 19 spaces are compliant with the 
emerging SPD. The emerging SPD does not address requirements for public parking. The Highway 
Authority have not objected to the EVC provision within the public surface car park. The Highways 
Authority have also has for a 3kw minimum output for the charging points. It is considered that this 
is a detail that can be reviewed through the planning condition discharge process.  
 
175. Whilst the EVC spaces provision is not fully in accordance with the emerging SPD and the 
Highways Authority request, the proposal is considered to comply with the JLP policy DEV29 
‘Specific provisions relating to Transport’ as the proposal is providing facilities for zero emission 
vehicles. 
 
176. It is noted that the proposal does not include sufficient disabled parking spaces. The emerging 
consultation SPD recommends 10% of spaces are allocated for motorists with disabilities. On this 
basis a condition is recommended to require 5 DDA compliant spaces in the basement and 10 DDA 
compliant spaces in the public car parking area. This has been agreed by the applicant. 
 
177. In terms of servicing the commercial units, a surface loading bay is proposed within the 
surface level car park to serve the commercial units. 
 
178. Cycle parking in the form of 106 cycle lockers are also provided for in the basement to serve 
both residential and commercial units. The adopted Development Guidelines SPD, requires one 
cycle space per two dwellings, which would equate to 72 spaces. The cycle spaces required for the 
commercial in line with the SPD, is 13 spaces. This means that provision exceeds the SPD 
requirements.  A condition is recommended to ensure this is delivered. In addition public cycle 
parking has been proposed in the corner of the public car park.  
 
179. The Highways Officer have also recommended that S106 contributions are paid towards 
travel plan measures such as subsidised/free bus travel or vouchers towards  a bike purchase. Given 
the highly sustainable location, it is not considered that this is an essential requirement to mitigate 
the impacts of the development and therefore would not meet the tests for S106 requirement. 
However a travel plan condition is proposed to ensure a strategy is in place for sustainable transport 
measures. 
 
180. Overall, the application is considered to comply with DEV29 Specific provisions relating to 
Transport. 
 
181. Low Carbon and District Energy 
At a strategic level, the provision of a district heating scheme can be referred back to SPT1 
Delivering Sustainable Development, which states one of the principles for sustainable development 
is to promote “a low carbon economy.” PLY6 Improving Plymouth city centre also requires 
development to provide a future connection to district heat networks relevant to the site.  
 
182. It should be noted that the application originally submitted was not policy compliant.  The 
original submission was a hybrid scheme which proposed only to future proof connection for the 
residential domestic hot water heating system. It did not propose to safeguard connection for 
domestic or commercial heating which was proposed to be via direct electric panel heater. The lack 

Page 49



 

 

OFFICIAL 

of connection to the domestic or commercial heating meant the application was not policy 
compliant, and resulted in an objection to the application by the Low Carbon Team.  
 
183. DEV32 ‘Delivering low carbon development’ sets out 6 policy criteria, with the intention to 
half 2005 levels of carbon emissions by 2034. These criteria are addressed below on the basis of an 
amended energy statement.  
 
184. 1. Developments should identify opportunities to minimise the use of natural resources in the 
development over its lifetime, such as water, minerals and consumable products, by reuse or recycling of 
materials in construction, and by making best use of existing buildings and infrastructure. 
 
Whilst there will be elements of demolition, this application by nature of its conversion, is 
considered to make best use of an existing building. There will be re-use of materials on site due to 
the conservation approach relating to the listed building, and the need to retain quality elements of 
historic fabric. Officers agree with the supporting statement which advises “this approach to the 
retention of existing buildings avoids significant carbon emissions associated with the embodied 
energy and carbon emissions of alternative approaches”. 
 
185. 2. Major development should take account of projected changes in temperature, rainfall, wind and 
sea level in its design with the aim of mitigating and remaining resilient to the effects of changing climate. 
 
The supporting statement advises that “The new façade has been designed to provide solar control, 
thermal performance and effective ventilation. Thermal modelling has been undertaken to ensure the 
new façade will enable the building to comply with Chartered Institute of Building Services Engineers 
(CIBSE) Technical Memorandum TM59 document: Design methodology for the assessment of 
overheating risk.” On this basis it is considered that project changes in temperature have been 
considered. The submitted drainage modelling accounts for climate change, which addresses 
projected changes in rainfall.  
 
186. 3. Development proposals will be considered in relation to the ‘energy hierarchy’ 
i. Reducing the energy load of the development. policies 
ii. Maximising the energy efficiency of fabric. 
iii. Delivering on-site low carbon or renewable energy systems. 
iv. Delivering carbon reductions through off-site measures. 
 
The submitted sustainability strategy refers to a holistic energy strategy, ‘Be Lean, Be Clean, Be 
Green’, and identifies measures and interventions that are included within the scheme. It is 
considered that this approach is consistent with the above hierarchy.  
 
187. 4. Developments should reduce the energy load of the development by good layout, orientation and 
design to maximise natural heating, cooling and lighting, and reduce the heat loss area. For major 
developments, a solar master plan should show how access to natural light has been optimised in the 
development, aiming to achieve a minimum daylight standard of 27 per cent Vertical Sky Component and 10 
per cent Winter Probable Sunlight Hours. 
 
As the proposal is for the conversion of existing listed building, it is not considered that requiring a 
solar masterplan and calculating vertical sky components would be a proportionate and relevant 
approach to this proposal as there is no flexibility in terms of the orientation and layout of the 
building. Sun path plans have been submitted for summer and winter solstice. 
 
188. The supporting statement advises that the new façade will significantly improve the existing 
fabric heat loss, solar gains and daylighting by replacing a poorly performing façade with uninsulated 
concrete panels and single glazed windows with a high-performance façade with double glazed air 

Page 50



 

 

OFFICIAL 

tight window construction and u values which meet current building regulations. Daylight levels will 
be improved through the implementation of increased areas of high performance glazing. On this 
basis it is considered that the proposal has used design to help to reduce the energy load of the 
development.  
 
189. 5. All major development proposals should incorporate low carbon or renewable energy generation to 
achieve regulated carbon emissions levels of 20 per cent less than that required to comply with Building 
Regulations Part L. 
 
There is no renewable energy generation proposed as part of this scheme. However this is 
considered acceptable on the basis that the scheme addressees district heating requirements, as per 
criteria 6 below. Separate to this application there has been a number of boreholes located within 
the civic centre boundary, which is exploring the potential provision of a heat source for District 
Heating for the city centre. The boreholes are not included within this application. 
 
190. 6. Developments will be required to connect to existing district energy networks in the locality or, 
where there is a future network planned, to be designed to be capable of connection to that network. Where 
appropriate, proportionate contributions will be to enable a network to be established or completed. 
 
An area of negotiation in this application has been attempts to secure a fully compliant scheme that 
connects to the future district energy network. The establishment of a district heat network within 
the city centre has been a policy requirement since the city centre area action plan, adopted in 2010. 
Since then various applications in the city centre have been future proofed for connection to district 
heat network and S106 contributions sought towards the provision of a district energy within the 
city centre. The Plymouth City Wide District Heating Strategy, which formed part of the evidence 
base for the JLP, has identified the city centre as a strategic cluster location for district heating, 
acknowledging the existing heat network at the Guildhall. On this basis, it is considered that the 
compliance with this part of DEV32 is the priority for this site, above provision of renewable energy. 
The Low Carbon team have advised that compliance with DEV32.6 should be prioritised above 
compliance with DEV32.5 e.g. the provision of renewable energy generation.  
 
191. The amended sustainability strategy proposes a Low Temperature Hot Water (LTHW) 
heating system serving the space heating and domestic hot water requirement for the residential 
apartments. The gas fired LTHW heating system will be installed in the basement to serve the 
residential space heating and domestic hot water demand. This system will be designed to be suitable 
for future connection to a district heating scheme when it is available. This means the residential 
units will now be capable of future connection to a district energy network. In addition, it is stated 
that the podium commercial units could be connected to the District Heating system.  
 
192. The basement plan includes an area proposed for plant and maintenance space. This is 
proposed for use as the district energy centre. An updated sustainability statement has included an 
annotated basement plan. This has identified areas within the basement for the energy centre and 
various services for the Civic Centre.  It has also identified potential areas for additional plant space 
for the energy centre and the routes for connecting the energy centre off site. The provision of 
space within the basement for the energy centre is considered to constitute a proportionate 
contribution, which will help to establish the provision of a district energy centre within the city 
centre. 
 
193. A number of conditions and informatives have been proposed to deal with the provision of 
District Heating, including the timing for the delivery of District Energy infrastructure, the 
safeguarding of various routes for the infrastructure, details of secondary design for the residential 
connection to District Energy and safeguarding space in the basement for the energy centre.  
 

Page 51



 

 

OFFICIAL 

194. On the basis of the above, it is now considered that the proposal has been designed to be 
capable of connection to a district heating network.  By providing space for an energy centre and 
future proofing the scheme for future connection to a district heating scheme, this application will 
contribute towards the provision of district heating within the city centre.  
 
195. In the circumstance that the energy centre is not provided for, and/or the scheme is not 
future proofed for district heat connection, a S106 contribution is included within the overage 
provisions.  
 
196. On the basis of all the above the proposal is considered to comply with SPT1, DEV32 and 
PLY6 (12).  
 
197. The NPPF (para 153) states that when determining applications new development should 
comply with any development plan policies on local requirements for decentralised energy supply 
unless it can be demonstrated by the applicant, having regard to the type of development involved 
and its design, that this is not feasible or viable. In this case, the proposal has demonstrated 
compliance with the relevant development plan policy DEV32.  
 
198. Consideration has also been given to the heritage implications of the provision of District 
Heating. The main works are proposed in the basement. The proposed condition requires an 
amended basement plan. As the basement is not considered to have any particular significance, it is 
not considered that any amendments here would impact upon the listed building. The associated 
works including routes within the building does have the potential to impact upon the listed building, 
and the associated listed building consent includes provision for details including ventilation, servicing 
and plant, as well as final details of the basement area in order to ensure the works do not impact 
upon the features of special architectural or historic interest. 
 
199. Flood Risk and Drainage 
The site is located within flood zone 1 (lowest risk of fluvial flooding), but is located within a critical 
drainage area. A flood risk assessment has been submitted with this application. This identifies part of 
the site, the area of car park next to the basement, to be susceptible to flooding. It also identifies a 
potential risk of sewer flooding, given the developed nature of the area and the use of the existing 
drainage system. The drainage strategy has ruled out the use of underground attenuation, as it is 
stated that this could prevent the future development of the car park site.  
 
200. The updated drainage strategy proposes oversized pipes that will allow for a storm event. It 
also proposes an area of permeable paving. This will mean there will be an overall reduction of 
impermeable area drainage. This will result in a reduction in downstream flood risk. This reduction is 
required, as this will counter an increase in foul discharge. 
 
201. Consultation has been undertaken with the Environment Agency (EA), South West Water 
(SWW) and Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA). SWW have confirmed their agreement for the 
development to connect to the combined sewer, including the specified discharge rates.  
 
202. The Environment Agency have raised that the LLFA comments should be considered prior to 
determining the application. The EA want to ensure that consideration has been given to the 
increase in foul drainage, and therefore the reduction in capacity during storms events which could 
lead to sewer flooding and sewer spills. 
 
203. The LLFA has requested a condition to deal with the details of surface water drainage. 
Subject to this condition, the proposal is therefore considered to comply with SPT1, DEV35 (4, 7, 8) 
and PLY6 Improving Plymouth's city centre (12). 
 

Page 52



 

 

OFFICIAL 

204. Biodiversity 
A number of survey have been submitted with this application, including a bat and bird survey, a 
peregrine survey, and bat emergence surveys. The results of this show that a single bat uses a cavity 
in the bridge link for occasional day roosting. It is proposed to retain this roosting site, and any 
works to replace broken cladding within that area should be overseen by a suitably qualified 
ecologist outside of winter hibernation period.  
 
205. As there is a historic record of peregrines using the Civic Centre, a visual survey was 
undertaken and visual inspection of the roof. This observed a male peregrine using a window ledge 
to perch on the eastern elevation. No evidence of nesting was found although it is noted that there 
is potential for nesting to take place. On this basis a survey prior to commencement is 
recommended to ensure no nesting is taking place before works can start. This will also need to 
address any nesting herring gulls and pigeons. 
 
206. An Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy (EMES) has been submitted with this 
application. As well as confirming the above mitigation, this includes a number of biodiversity 
enhancements. This includes 20 different types of nest boxes proposed for various species, including 
peregrines and the creation of a number of cavities within the cladding or roofs are proposed in 
order to create bat roosting provisions.  
 
207. The EMES also looks at areas of habitat on site.  This confirms that there will be a small loss 
of amenity grassland (approx. 200m2) and 4 trees. A number of enhancements are proposed to 
mitigate and ultimately increase the biodiversity value of the site. This includes a wildflower lawn, 
enhanced pollinator planting within existing and proposed planters and hedgerow.  
 
208. Whilst the loss of trees is not considered significant in terms of landscape value, their loss still 
represents a loss of biodiversity, and therefore mitigation is required. This is proposed in the form of 
20 new trees in planters, to be planted within the new civic square located under the tower. The 
Natural Infrastructure Team have raised concerns with regard to the trees in planters as a form of 
mitigation, and the preference is for tree planting within the ground as this provides better chance of 
longevity. Trees in planted are more challenging to manage and also have a greater chance of being 
moved/removed. However, as the car park site is also proposed for future redevelopment, it is not 
possible to secure tree planting here, as this may impact upon the future deliverability of this site. 
Following negotiation, 4 trees are proposed to be planted along the north elevation (Royal Parade) 
as previously described.  
 
209. The proposal is therefore considered to comply with DEV26 ‘Protecting and enhancing 
biodiversity and geological conservation’. 
 
210. Impact upon European Sites 
The highest level of protection is given to European sites. The relevant sites in this case is the 
Plymouth Sound Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and Tamar Estuaries Complex Special 
Protection Area (SPA). Natural England (NE) have confirmed that the site falls with the zone of the 
influence for these areas. This means that new housing development in this area is ‘likely to have a 
significant effect’ when considered either alone or in combination, upon the interest features of 
European Sites due to the risk of increased recreational pressure caused by that development. NE 
advise that “specific measures will be required to prevent such harmful effects from occurring as a 
result of this development and recommend that permission should not be granted until such time as 
the implementation of these measures has been secured.” This impact is mitigated through CIL. The 
CIL Regulation 123 list (which identifies projects CIL money is spent on) includes projects to mitigate 
the impacts arising from the increased recreational use of the European Marine Site. The Natural 
Infrastructure Team have completed a Habitat Regulations Assessment on this basis, which has been 
agreed by NE.  

Page 53



 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
211. In addition, a condition requiring a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) is 
recommended which will manage the potential impact of pollution from construction activities.  
 
212. The application is therefore not considered to have harmful impact upon the protected 
European Marine site, in accordance with DEV26 ‘Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and 
geological conservation’. 
 
213. Air Quality 
An air quality assessment has been submitted with this application. This is an important consideration 
given the location adjacent to an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). This report confirms that 
provided suggested mitigation measures in relation to dust are put in place during construction, 
there should not be any significant residual impacts upon air quality. This mitigation will be dealt with 
through the proposed CEMP condition.  
 
214. The traffic generated is below criteria (set by Environmental Protection UK (EPUK) and 
Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) planning guidance) and the impact from additional traffic 
upon air quality will be insignificant. The overall operational air quality impacts are not considered to 
be significant and no mitigation is required. 
 
215. Para 181 of the NPPF states: “Planning decisions should ensure that any new development in 
Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones is consistent with the local air quality action 
plan”. JLP policy DEV2 states: “Where located in an Air Quality Management Area, mitigate its 
impact through positively contributing towards the implementation of measures contained within air 
quality action plans and transport programmes, and through building design and layout which helps 
minimise air quality impacts.” 
 
216. The application has been reviewed in the context of the air quality action plan and there is no 
conflict with the action plan. The additional tree planting, provision of cycle facilities, increased 
pedestrian permeability, provision of the electric vehicle charging spaces and travel plan condition are 
all consistent with the objectives of the action plan.  
 
217. Public Protection Service (PPS) have reviewed the air quality assessment and have advised 
that the findings are accepted, and there will be minimal impact upon future residents. Overall, the 
proposal is not considered to give rise to any unacceptable impact upon air quality, and the future 
residents will not be harmed by any impact upon air quality. Therefore the application is considered 
to comply with JLP policy DEV2. 
 
218. Waste 
DEV31 ‘Waste Management’ requires new developments to provide integrated facilities for the 
storage of recyclable and non-recyclable waste. This application proposes large area of bin storage 
within the basement, with a designated collection area for refuse vehicles.  
 
219. This separates residents and commercial bin storage, but does not have sufficient detail to 
show separate storage for recyclable and non-recyclable. As the overall space is considered sufficient 
to meet the operational needs of the building, then it is considered that this detail can be dealt with 
by condition. Demolition waste has been incorporated into the CEMP condition. This is in 
accordance with DEV31 which requires a site wide management plan “demonstrating how the 
demolition, construction and operational phases of the development will minimise the generation of 
waste”.  
 
 
220. Planning Balance 

Page 54



 

 

OFFICIAL 

The report above identifies a number of areas where the proposal does not comply with the Joint 
Local Plan. The areas of policy non-compliance are summarised below: 
- Limited compliance with NDSS (DEV10) 
- Lack of provision of 3 wheelchair user homes (DEV9) 
These areas of noncompliance need to be considered against the benefits of the scheme.  
 
221. These benefits are summarised below: 
- Bringing a vacant listed building back into use, allowing essential repairs to be undertaken and 

safeguarding its long term use  
- Improvements to listed park and garden 
- Public access , including access days to the roof, and access at the lower levels for the 
commercial uses 
- Creation of new public realm and improvement to existing public realm including tree 
planting and biodiversity enhancements 
- Active uses at the ground and first floor which will enhance the vibrancy and vitality of the 
city centre 
- Delivery of city centre housing and associated benefits to the city centre 
- New staircase link towards Theatre Royal  
- Provision of space for an energy centre and safeguarding for future connection to the district 
heat network  
 
222. In terms of weight, the NPPF attributes great weight to heritage, specifically para 193: “Great 
weight should be given to the assets conservation, irrespective of whether any potential harm 
amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm”. On this basis it is considered 
that securing the optimum viable uses and conserving the Grade II listed building should be given 
great weight in determining this application. 
 
223. The consideration of compliance with NDSS and provision of wheelchair user homes, both 
relate to the NPPF para 127(f), which states that development should “create places that are safe, 
inclusive, and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity 
for existing and future users”. As previously noted in para 164, it is considered that there will be 
sufficient amenity for future residents, and the units will be inclusive and accessible through the 
provision of accessible and adaptable dwellings. Therefore the partial noncompliance with policies 
DEV9 and DEV10 are not considered to constitute reasons for refusal. 
  
224. Officers also attribute significant weight to the delivery of housing within the city centre and 
bringing a landmark vacant building back into use within the city centre.  
 
225. Overall it is considered that the public benefits and heritage considerations of the scheme 
outweigh the areas of noncompliance. The application is therefore recommended for conditional 
consent (subject to S106).   
 
9. Human Rights 
Human Rights Act - The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Human Rights 
Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act itself. This Act gives 
further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human Rights. In arriving at this 
recommendation, due regard has been given to the applicant's reasonable development rights and 
expectations which have been balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as 
expressed through third party interests / the Development Plan and Central Government Guidance. 
 
10. Local Finance Considerations 
The site is located within the £0 CIL zone for residential, and the other uses are rated as £0 per 
square m. This application will therefore not currently attract any CIL monies.  

Page 55



 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
11. Planning Obligations 
The purpose of planning obligations is to mitigate or compensate for adverse impacts of a 
development, or to prescribe or secure something that is needed to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms.  Planning obligations can only lawfully constitute a reason for granting 
planning permission where the three statutory tests of Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations 2010 
are met. 
 
12 days public access to the building, including heritage open days, is secured through S106. This is 
consistent with HE comments. 
 
A viability appraisal has been submitted that shows the development has a deficit of at least £3.9m. 
S106 contributions are therefore not viable.  
 
The following contributions have been requested below: 
 
• Local Greenspace contribution towards The Hoe, sensory garden and clock garden 
improvements £70,177.73 
• Children’s Playspace contribution West Hoe park play improvements £30,556.23 
• Playing pitches contribution for the provision and maintenance of playing pitch provision at 
Stonehouse Creek £119,496.66 
• Strategic Greenspace Central Park drainage improvements £156,526.46 
• Should the energy centre and District Heating future proofing not be provided, a £200,000 
contribution towards District Energy within the City Centre area (or within 400m of site) or 
alternatively for other carbon mitigation measures 
 
These S106 requests are considered to be justified and in accordance with DEV30 and DEL1 of the 
JLP. However, as noted above S106 contributions are not viable due to the viability deficit of £3.9m.   
 
On this basis, officers have negotiated an overage arrangement through the S106. This means that if 
the viability of the development improves such that it becomes viable and makes a certain amount of 
profit, the Local Planning Authority will receive a proportion of this.  
 
For ‘Built To Rent’ residential, the profit trigger is 17.5% and for the open market residential the 
profit trigger is 20%. Any overage has been agreed to go towards the contributions as identified 
above. For clarity these S106 contributions are therefore only payable if these levels of profit are 
achieved.  
 
As noted above, due to the consideration of Vacant Building Credit, affordable housing provision is 
not being sought for this development. 
 
12. Equalities and Diversities 
This planning application has had due regard to Section 149 of the Equality Act with regard to the 
Public Sector Equality Duty and has concluded that the application does not cause discrimination on 
the grounds of gender, race and disability.   
 
Consideration has been given to the prevention of suicide from the roof the building. This is 
proposed to be dealt with through a management condition. 
 
A condition has been attached which requires the guideline amount of DDA compliant spaces, both 
for the residential and in the public car park.  
  

Page 56



 

 

OFFICIAL 

The new commercial units are all proposed to be fully accessible with level thresholds, and internally 
there are lifts to access the upper floors. The new public realm is accessible by ramped access. 
 
The residential units are fully accessible, and the lift will be extended to include access to the roof 
entrance amenity space.  
 
13. Conclusions and Reasons for Decision 
Officers have taken account of the NPPF and S38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. In this case the proposal does not fully accord with the development plan, due to not meeting 
NDSS and lack of provision of 3 wheelchair accessible units. Other material considerations have 
been considered, as outlined in paragraphs 220-225 above and the rest of section 8 Analysis of the 
report. It is considered that there are material considerations that carry more weight than the areas 
of non-compliance. 
 
The application is considered to comply with  
SPT1 Delivering Sustainable Development 
SPT2 Sustainable linked neighbourhoods 
SPT3 Provision for new homes 
SPT4 Provision for employment floorspace 
SPT5 Provision for retail development 
SPT6 Spatial provision of retail and main town centre uses 
SPT9 Strategic principles for transport planning and strategy 
SPT10 Balanced transport strategy for growth and healthy and sustainable communities 
SPT11 Strategic approach to the historic environment 
SPT12 Strategic approach to the natural environment 
SPT13 Strategic infrastructure measures to deliver the spatial strategy 
SPT14 European Sites - mitigation of recreational impacts from development 
Strategic Objective SO2 Strengthening Plymouth role in the region 
PLY1 Enhancing Plymouths strategic role 
PLY2 Unlocking Plymouths regional growth potential 
Strategic Objective SO3 Delivering growth in Plymouth City Centre and Waterfront Growth area 
PLY6 Improving Plymouth city centre 
PLY15 Civic Centre and Council House site 
PLY21 Supporting the visitor economy 
PLY22 Cultural Quarters 
DEV1 Protecting health and amenity 
DEV2 Air water soil noise land and light 
DEV6 Hot food takeaways in Plymouth 
DEV14 Maintaining a flexible mix of employment sites 
DEV16 Providing retail and town centre uses in appropriate locations 
DEV18 Protecting local shops and services 
DEV19 Provisions for local employment and skills 
DEV20 Place shaping and quality of the built environment 
DEV21 Development affecting the historic environment 
DEV23 Landscape character 
DEV26 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation 
DEV28 Trees woodlands and hedgerows 
DEV29 Specific provisions relating to transport 
DEV30 Meeting the community infrastructure needs of new homes 
DEV31 Waste management 
DEV32 Delivering low carbon development 
DEV35 Managing flood risk and water quality impacts 
DEL1 Approach to development delivery and viability, planning obligations and the CIL 

Page 57



 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
The application only partially complies with: 
DEV7 Meeting local housing need in the Plymouth Policy area 
DEV9 Meeting local housing need in the Plan Area 
DEV10 Delivering high quality housing 
 
The proposal will make a significant contribution towards the renewal of the city centre, in 
compliance with PLY6. In particular by bringing the prominent building back into use, it will respect 
and celebrate the mid twentieth century built heritage and help to deliver residential within the city 
centre.  
 
In terms of heritage, the proposal will result in less than substantial harm to elements of the listed 
building, however this is considered justified through the NPPF as this will bring the building into a 
number of optimum viable uses, as well as the public benefits as listed above.  Overall, it is 
considered that the proposal will enhance the Civic Centre and Civic Square, in accordance with 
PLY15 and DEV21. The car park site is being safeguarded for future development in accordance with 
PLY15.  
 
The proposal is considered to contribute towards a quality sense of place and character, including 
enhancing a landmark building in the city centre. There will be improvements to the public realm, 
including enhancing the listed park and garden and improving permeability through the site. Overall it 
is considered that the proposal contributes positively towards place shaping and landscape character 
in accordance with DEV20, DEV23 and DEV28. 
 
The proposal will not fully meet British Standards in relation to noise, which means the residential 
units may be subject to noisier periods should windows be required to be open. The residential units 
also do not meet NDSS and 3 x M4(3) wheelchair accessible units are not being provided. These are 
not achievable due to a combination of the constraints of the listed building and viability. On this 
basis the proposal does not fully comply with policies DEV7, DEV9 and DEV10.         
 
The city centre development is considered to be sustainable in transport terms. Cycle parking and 
EVC spaces are being provided, serving the proposed uses and the public car park. The proposal is 
considered to comply with DEV29.    
 
The proposal will also contribute towards the reduction of carbon emissions through allocating 
space for a district heating energy centre and future proofing connection to district energy within the 
building in accordance with DEV32. 
 
The proposal will result in a reduction of downstream flood risk, and complies with DEV35. 
 
Consideration and mitigation has been proposed in relation to the species using the building and 
there are proposed biodiversity enhancements. The proposal is considered to comply with DEV26 
on this basis.  
 
Overall, the scheme is considered to contribute towards the JLP Strategic Objective 2 and 3, by 
strengthening the role of the city centre as a regional hub, unlocking the growth potential within the 
city centre and improved public realm. Given its strategic location on Armada Way and adjacent to 
the Hoe, it’s considered the scheme will contribute towards achieving the vision of Plymouth 
becoming one of Europe’s finest waterfront cities. 

 

14. Recommendation 

Page 58



 

 

OFFICIAL 

In respect of the application dated 28.03.2019 it is recommended to   Grant conditionally subject to 
S106 planning obligation with delegated authority to Service Director for Strategic Planning and 
Infrastructure to refuse if not signed within agreed timeframes. 

 

15. Conditions / Reasons 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans:  

  
1 CONDITION: APPROVED PLANS 
Site Location Plan PL-001 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Site Plan PL-003 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Podium Roof Plan PL-005 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Basement Floor Plan PL-010 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Ground Floor Plan PL-011 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed First Floor Plan PL-012 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Mezzanine and Second Floor Plan PL-013 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Third Floor Plan PL-014 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Fourth Floor (Floors 4 to 5) PL-015 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Sixth Floor Plan (Floors 6 to 9) PL-017 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Tenth Floor Plan (Floors 10 to 13) PL-021 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Roof Terrace PL-025 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Forteenth Floor and Gull Wing Roof Plan PL-026 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Ground Floor - North Block PL-030 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Ground Floor Plan - South Block PL-031 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed First Floor Plan - North Block PL-032 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed First Floor Plan - South Block PL-033 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed North Side Elevation PL-050 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed East Site Elevation PL-051 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed South Site Elevation PL-052 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed West Site Elevation PL-053 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed New Civic Square Elevations PL-054 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Council House Site Elevation PL-055 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed North Elevation PL-060 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed East Elevation - South PL-061 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed East Elevation - North PL-062 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed South Elevation PL-063 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed West Elevation - North PL-064 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed West Elevation - South PL-065 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed New Civic Square Elevation - North PL-066 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed New Civic Square Elevation - South PL-067 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed South Block Council House Elevation PL-068 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Section AA PL-070 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Basement Conservation Floor Plan PL-220 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Ground Floor Conservation Plan PL-221 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Conservation Plan Fifth and Sixth Floor PL-225 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
First Floor Conservation Plan PL-222 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Conservation Plan Mezzanine and Second Floor PL-223 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Conservation Plan Third and Fourth Floor PL-224 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Conservation Plan Seventh and Eighth Floor PL-226 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Conservation Plan Ninth and Tenth Floor PL-227 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Conservation Plan Eleventh and Twelfth Floor PL-228 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Conservation Plan Thirteenth and Fourteenth Floor PL-229 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 

Page 59



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Conservation Plan 15th Floor and Roof PL-230 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Conservation Typical Lift Lobby Plan and Section PL-231 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Conservation - Existing North Elevation PL-250 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Conservation - Existing East Elevation PL-251 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Conservation - Existing South Elevation PL-252 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Conservation - Existing West Elevation PL-253 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Conservation - New Civic Square Elevations PL-254 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Existing South Block Council House Elevation PL-255 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
TR External Staircase PL-300 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
TR External Staircase PL-301 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed North Block North Elevation GF and FF PL-307 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
North Block South Elevation - East Side PL-311 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
South Courtyard - Outward First Floor PL-315 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
South Block - Delabole Slate and Clerestory PL-319 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
South Block - New FF Openings PL-323 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
South Block - New Undercroft Elevation PL-325 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
South Courtyard - Pool Details PL-327 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Facade Section PL-331 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Facade Plans PL-333 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Rooftop and Gullwing PL-337 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Lift Lobby Detail PL-345 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed 1-Bed Apartment PL-350 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed 2-Bed Flexi Apartment PL-355 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Typical M4(2) Flat Layout Plans PL-360 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
Proposed Landscape Plan PL-006 Rev PL3  received 21/10/19 
Proposed Ground Floor Plan External Demise PL-365 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  
Reason: 
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of good planning, in accordance with the Plymouth & 
South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014–2034 (2019). 
 
 
 2 CONDITION: COMMENCE WITHIN 3 YEARS 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years beginning 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: 
To comply with Section 51 of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 3 CONDITION: CONSTRUCTION ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT PLAN 
(CEMP) 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT 
No development shall take place until a detailed Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved plan shall set out the arrangements for managing all environmental effects of the 
development during the construction period including waste.  The agreed CEMP shall be 
implemented in full throughout the duration of the construction works, unless a variation is agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, in advance. 
   
Reason: 
To protect the residential and general amenity of the area from any harmfully polluting effects during 
construction works and to safeguard against pollution and adverse effects on the SPA and SAC and 
to prevent unacceptable impacts on protected wildlife and to avoid conflict with Policies  SPT12, 

Page 60



 

 

OFFICIAL 

DEV1, DEV2, DEV31 and DEV28 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and 
paragraphs  170, 178-180 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 
 
Justification: To ensure that measures will be in place to ensure no adverse effects on biodiversity 
during the construction phase and to ensure that the construction phase does not unduly impact on 
local amenity such as disturbance to local residents or disruption to traffic and parking. 
 
 4 CONDITION: EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS STRATEGY 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT 
Prior to commencement of development an employment and skills strategy shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The strategy shall include details of how local 
people and local businesses will benefit from the development in terms of job opportunities, 
apprenticeship placements, work experience opportunities, business supply chain opportunities and 
other employment and skills priorities. 
 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved strategy, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure employment and skills development in accordance with policy DEV19 and DEV28 of the 
Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan. 
 
Justification: To ensure that construction employment opportunities are assessed prior to 
commencement. 
 
 5 CONDITION: PHASING 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT 
Prior to commencement of works, a phasing plan and assessment of impacts shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, unless development is to commence as a 
single stage. The phasing of the development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
phasing plan unless an alternative phasing plan is first approved by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: 
To ensure that the development proceeds in a satisfactory manner and respects the heritage of the 
building to comply with policies DEV2, DEV20 and DEV21 of the Plymouth and South West Devon 
Joint Local Plan. 
 
Justification: 
To ensure that any implications of phasing are considered prior to commencement.  
 
 6 CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 
PRE COMMENCEMENT 
No works shall commence on-site until there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority a Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP). The said CTMP shall 
include details relating to the detailed programme of works, details of construction vehicle 
movements including number, type and size of vehicles; construction operation hours; routes being 
used by construction vehicles and contractors parking arrangements. The construction works shall 
be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved CTMP.  
 
Reason:  To ensure that the traffic impacts associated with the construction phase of the works does 
not lead to adverse impacts upon the operation of the Local Road Network in accordance with 
Policy DEV29 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2019 and paras SPT12, DEV1, 
DEV2, DEV31 and DEV28 of the NPPF 2019. 

Page 61



 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
Justification: To ensure that the construction phase does not unduly impact on local amenity such as 
disturbance to local residents or disruption to traffic and parking. 
 
 7 CONDITION: DISTRICT HEATING 
PRE COMMENCEMENT: DISTRICT HEATING TIMING AND COMPLIANCE 
No later than 1 month prior to the commencement of the development the developer shall provide 
written notice to the Local Planning Authority for its approval, of its intention to commence 
development and confirmation of the "heat on" date. Should this date be proposed to change once 
approved, it should be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
  
If 12 months in advance of the "heat on" date there is a permanent district energy infrastructure 
connecting to the boundary of the development, the development shall be connected to the district 
energy network, in accordance with details to be agreed through condition 8, and it shall be utilised 
to provide hot water and heating and the option to provide cooling to the development from first 
occupation, and operated as such, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
  
Reason: To ensure the development is designed to be capable of connection to the district heating 
network and a proportionate contribution towards the provision of the network is secured, in 
accordance with SPT1, PLY6 and DEV32 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 
and paras 148, 150 -151, 153 - 154 of the NPPF 2019.  
 
Justification: To ensure the development safeguards the ability to connect to District Heating 
 
 8 CONDITION: DISTRICT HEATING 
PRE COMMENCEMENT: DISTRICT HEATING DETAIL 
Prior to commencement of development, details of a fully connected and compatible design for 
connection to a District Heating System, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
  
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted and approved details 
required below, unless an alternative strategy is agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority 
or the Local Planning Authority do not deliver the District Heating System within the timescales as 
set out in condition 7. 
  
These details shall include - 
  
1)    A plan showing a safeguarded suitable unconstrained route for the future district energy system 
infrastructure and private wire connections between the energy centre and: 
  
o   The northern boundary (Royal Parade) and to the Council House as set out in principle in 
Appendix A of the Civic Centre DEV32 submission. 
o   The ground source heat pump well locations as set out in principle in Appendix A of the Civic 
Centre DEV32 submission. 
o   The commercial units within Civic Centre, for heating and cooling requirements to the extent 
that cooling is required  
  
The routes shall thereafter be safeguarded for the provision of future district energy pipework and 
infrastructure 
  

Page 62



 

 

OFFICIAL 

2)    Details of the secondary system design for the Development, which ensures it is compatible 
with and future-proofed for connection to a future district energy network and compliant with best 
practice. 
 
3)     Notwithstanding the approved plans, an amended basement plan shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority, which provides 350sqm  of space to be retained for the 
district energy centre, together with service connections for water, drainage, data, gas and flues (but 
not for CHP). Once approved the space shall be permanently retained for that purpose. 
 
A. Should the Local Planning Authority not deliver the DH system within the timescale as set 
out in condition x, the developer shall be able to implement an alternative energy strategy, which 
shall be submitted to and approved by the local planning authority prior to commencement of the 
development. This shall include a plan to secure 240sqm of space to be retained for future use as a 
district energy centre and a review period for the provision of the energy centre (5 years after "heat 
on" date). 
  
Reason: To ensure the development is designed to be capable of connection to the district heating 
network and a proportionate contribution towards the provision of the network is secured, in 
accordance with SPT1, PLY6 and DEV32 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 
and paras 148, 150 -151, 153 - 154 of the NPPF 2019.  
 
Justification: To ensure the development safeguards the ability to connect to District Heating.  
 
 9 CONDITION: ARBORICULTURAL METHOD STATEMENT 
PRE COMMENCEMENT 
Notwithstanding the details as indicated on the approved plans, no works shall take place until an 
Arboricultural Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The statement shall detail how trees are to be protected during construction. It 
shall include measures for protection in the form of barriers to provide a 'construction exclusion 
zone' and ground protection in accordance with Section 6.1 of BS: 5837:2012 Trees in relation to 
Design, Demolition and Construction - Recommendations. The measures contained in the approved 
statement shall be fully implemented and shall remain in place until construction work has ceased. 
 
Reason: To ensure that trees or hedgerows retained are protected during construction work and 
thereafter are properly maintained, if necessary by replacement, in accordance with DEV20, DEV23 
DEV26 DEV28 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and paragraphs 124, 127, 
170, and 175 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 
 
Justification: To ensure that trees are protected during the construction phase. 
 
10 CONDITION: RESIDENTIAL VENTILATION STRATEGY 
PRE COMMENCEMENT 
Prior to commencement, a ventilation strategy to serve the residential units will be submitted to and 
approved in writing by Local Planning Authority.  
 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved strategy, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the proposed dwellings hereby permitted achieve a satisfactory living 
standard and do not experience unacceptable levels of noise disturbance to comply with policies 
DEV1 and DEV2 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and para 180 of the NPPF 
2019.  
 

Page 63



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Justification: To ensure that the development can reasonably accommodate ventilation measures that 
are acceptable to the local planning authority. 
 
11 CONDITION: SUSTAINABLE URBAN DRAINAGE SYSTEM  
PRE-GROUND WORKS  
Prior to commencement of any ground works, no further development approved by this permission 
shall be commenced until details of a scheme for the provision of surface water management has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
This shall include: 
 
a) Details of Water discharge rates. For developments in a Critical Drainage Area discharging to 
a sewer, surface water discharge rates will be limited to 1 in 10 year greenfield run off rates with on 
site attenuation required to store surface water volumes over and above these rates to a 1 in 100 
year return period standard of protection with a 40% allowance for climate change. 
b) Review and consideration of options for utilising of the ponds in the vicinity of the Civic 
Centre as SuDS assets for the current or future surface water drainage strategy and to discharge 
surface water to a future surface water drainage corridor in Armada Way to the east of the 
development 
c) Details of a surface water exceedance flow route should be identified on a plan that shows 
the route exceedance flows will take both on and off site and demonstrating that these flows do not 
increase the risk of flooding to properties on and off the site and or to Third Party Land including 
the Public Highway. Exceedance flows should be intercepted and contained on site as far as this is 
reasonably practicable and safe to do so, ensuring that flows are directed away from public access 
areas.  
d) Details of how and when the surface water drainage system is to be managed and maintained. 
 
Prior to occupation of the site it shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority that relevant parts of the scheme have been completed in accordance with the details and 
timetable agreed. The scheme shall thereafter be managed and maintained in accordance with the 
approved details unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: 
To reduce the risk of flooding to and from the development, and minimise the risk of pollution of 
surface water by ensuring the provision of a satisfactory surface water management and disposal 
during and after development. The drainage provisions within the development are adequately 
provided for before development commences and does not cause undue problems to the wider 
drainage infrastructure in accordance with policies PLY6 and  DEV35 of the Plymouth and South 
West Devon Joint Local Plan and paragraphs 156 , 163 and 165 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019. 
 
12 CONDITION: BAT ENHANCEMENTS 
PRE INSTALLATION OF CLADDING 
Prior to the installation of the cladding, details of the proposed bat enhancement measures will need 
to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed measures 
shall be fully implemented and retained unless alternative measures are agreed in writing.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the retention, protection and enhancement of wildlife and features of 
biological interest, in accordance with DEV26 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local 
Plan and Government advice contained in the NPPF (2019) paragraphs 170, 175 -177. 
 
13 LANDSCAPE DESIGN PROPOSALS AND IMPLEMENTATION 
PRE LANDSCAPE WORKS 

Page 64



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Notwithstanding the details as shown on the approved Landscape Plan PL006 rev. PL3, no landscape 
works shall take place until an updated landscape scheme has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The landscape works shall accord with the approved 
Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy updated July 2019. 
The landscape works shall include: 
o Soft landscape details: 
o Full soft landscape specification; plant species and size (to HTA standards), soil/roof buildup details, 
planting spec and establishment care. 
o The arrangement of proposed soft landscape elements and soil layouts/elevation in relation to 
proposed and existing functional services above and below ground (e.g. drainage, power, 
communications cables, pipelines etc., indicating lines, manholes, supports etc.) (min 1:200 scale). 
Plans should include a planting schedule for reference. 
o Planting details (1:20 scale or as appropriate) including (but not limited to) planter details and tree 
pit details. 
o Hard Landscape Details: to provide: 
o Drawings identifying the arrangement of proposed hard landscape elements including (but not 
limited to) paving materials, planters, street furniture and boundary treatment materials (min 1:200 
scale) 
o Plans should include a specification of the hard landscape materials (e.g. paving materials), street 
furniture including lighting, proposed finished levels and any boundary treatments. 
o Boundary treatment details (1:20 scale or as appropriate) 
 
All landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and retained as 
such. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the development. Any 
dead or defective planting shall be replaced with a period of 5 years. 
 
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory landscaping works are carried out in accordance with JLP policy 
DEV20 and DEV23 and Paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 
 
14 PEDESTRIAN ACCESSIBILITY AUDIT 
PRE LANDSCAPE WORKS  
No landscape works shall commence until the applicant has undertaken a Pedestrian Accessibility 
Audit (PAA). The audit shall identify any potential locations where additional pedestrian crossing 
points/infrastructure may be required to facilitate safe access to and from the site by pedestrians and 
any such infrastructure/improvements identified through the PAA shall then be delivered by the 
developer prior to occupation of the development in accordance with details to be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and permanently retained thereafter.  
 
Reason:  To ensure that an appropriate and safe access is provided for pedestrians in the interests of 
public safety, convenience and amenity in accordance with Policy DEV29 of the Plymouth and South 
West Devon Joint Local Plan 2019 and 104, 105, 106 and 110 of the NPPF 2019.  
 
15 CONDITION: EXTERNAL LIGHTING DETAILS 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT OF INSTALLATION OF LIGHTING 
Notwithstanding the details set out on the approved plans no lighting installation shall take place until 
details of any external lighting scheme and associated works have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The lighting scheme shall be fully implemented before any 
building is first occupied and henceforth permanently maintained for the occupiers of the site. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that adequate external lighting is provided for future occupiers of the site in accordance 
with policy DEV20 and DEV21 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and 
paragraphs 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

Page 65



 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
 
16 CONDITION: PROVISION OF PARKING AREAS 
PRE COMMENCEMENT OF WORKS TO CAR PARK INCLUDING BASEMENT PARKING AND 
PRE OCCUPATION 
Notwithstanding the details as shown on the approved Landscape plan PL-006 PL3 and Basement 
Floor plan PL-010 PL1, prior to commencement of works to any area of car park, final details of car 
parking shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Within the surface car park these details shall include provision of: 
- 4 dedicated electric vehicle charging points within the surface  car parking area along with 
infrastructure for the futureproofing for a further 4 bays to be provided 
- 10 DDA compliant spaces 
 
Within the basement car park these details shall include provision of: 
- 5 dedicated electric vehicle charging points within the basement for residential parking along 
with ducts for futureproofing 19 spaces 
- 5 DDA compliant spaces  
 
Prior to commencement of use of the car park, details of the charging regime and method of 
enforcement shall also need to be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. 
 
Each parking space shown on the approved plans shall be constructed, drained, surfaced and made 
available for use and thereafter those spaces shall not be used for any purpose other than the 
parking of vehicles. 
 
Reason: To enable vehicles used by occupiers or visitors to the development and wider City Centre 
area to be parked off the public highway so as to avoid damage to amenity and interference with the 
free flow of traffic on the highway in accordance with Policy DEV29 of the Plymouth and South West 
Devon Joint Local Plan and para 104, 105, 106 and 110 of the NPPF 2019.  
 
17 CONDITION: DETAILED DESIGN AND EXTERNAL MATERIALS 
PRE COMMENCEMENT OF EXTERNAL WORKS 
Prior to commencement of the external works to the tower, south block or north block,  the 
detailed design and materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
- External tower details including: transom/spandrel panel, east and west façade, north and south 
façade, glazed roof pavilion, other roof works and telecommunications 
- First floor balcony details 
- External north block details 
- External south block details including, south block glazed extension 
- External basement works details 
- Other external details such as rainwater goods, lighting, ventilation, servicing, plant details, terrazzo 
flor finish and final finish of columns 
The development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved details and 
permanently retained as such, or such other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and to ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV20 and DEV21 of the 

Page 66



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 
2019.  
 
18 CONDITION: SIGNAGE STRATEGY 
PRE INSTALLATION OF SIGNAGE 
Prior to the installation of any signage, a signage strategy for the development shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Any signage or adverts will be implemented in accordance with the signage strategy as approved and 
permanently retained as such unless an alternative strategy is agreed in writing.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the signage is in keeping with the appearance of the proposed building in 
accordance with Policies PLY6, DEV20, DEV21 of Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 
and paragraphs 124, 127 and 132 of the NPPF (2019). 
 
 
19 CONDITION: CYCLE PROVISION 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
The building shall not be occupied until space has been laid out within the site in accordance with the 
Proposed Basement Floor Plan PL-010 PL1 and Proposed Landscape Plan PL-006 PL3 hereby 
approved for a minimum of 85 bicycles to be securely parked. The secure area for storing bicycles 
shown on the approved plan shall remain available for its intended purpose and shall not be used for 
any other purpose without the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason:  In order to promote cycling as an alternative to the use of private cars in accordance with 
Policy DEV29 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan para 91, 104 and 110 of the 
NPPF 2019.  
 
20 CONDITION: MICROCLIMATIC IMPACT REVIEW 
PRE-OCCUPATION  
Post demolition of the glazed lobby area and prior to the occupation of the development, a review of 
any microclimate impacts including impact from wind, and any subsequent proposed mitigation 
measures, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved scheme and be 
permanently maintained thereafter, or such other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure any of the proposed demolition works do not conflict with the microclimate of 
the surrounding area, and in order to preserve the amenity of the area in accordance with DEV1 and 
DEV20 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan.  
 
21 CONDITION: REFUSE STRATEGY 
PRE OCCUPATION 
Prior to occupation, details of the siting and form of bin storage for disposal of refuse and recycling 
for the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The hereby agreed refuse storage provision for each unit shall be fully implemented before the 
respective unit is first occupied/brought into use and henceforth permanently made available for 
future occupiers/users of the site. 
 
Reason: 
In order to ensure that adequate, safe and convenient refuse and recycling storage provision is 
provided and made available for use by future occupiers and to protect the residential and general 
amenity of the area from noise emanating from delivery and waste collection activities in accordance 
with DEV2 and DEV31 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan. 

Page 67



 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
22 CONDITION: LANDSCAPE AND ECOLOGY MANAGEMENT PLAN 
PRE OCCUPATION 
A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority prior to occupation of the development. The content of the LEMP 
shall include the following 
i. Description and evaluation of features to be managed. 
ii. Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management. 
iii. Aims and objectives of management for both the landscape elements and the biodiversity features. 
iv. Set out maintenance operations for the first year following implementation of the scheme and for 
a further 4 years following establishment for achieving aims and objectives. 
v. Preparation of a work schedule. 
vi. Body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan. 
vii. Monitoring and remedial measures. 
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long term 
implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the management body(s) 
responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that 
conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial 
action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers the fully 
functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The approved plan will be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details and managed in accordance with it thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the retention, protection and enhancement of wildlife and features of 
biological interest and to ensure that satisfactory landscaping works are carried out, in accordance 
with Joint Local Plan Policies SPT12, DEV20, DEV23 & DEV26 and Government advice contained in 
the NPPF paragraphs 170, 174 & 175. 
 
23 CONDITION: ROOF TERRACE MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 
PRE OCCUPATION 
Prior to the occupation of the residential development, a roof terrace management strategy shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include details of: 
- Confirmation of how the area will be monitored 
- Confirmation of training for relevant staff 
- How the area will be managed at night  
-         Details of the public access and how it will be managed 
 
The development shall be managed at all times in strict accordance with the approved strategy, or 
such other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure the development preserves the amenity of the area and contributes towards high 
standards of community safety in accordance with DEV1 and DEV20 of the Plymouth and South 
West Devon Joint Local Plan.  
 
24 CONDITION: INDIVIDUAL COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
Prior to occupation of each commercial unit, details of the individual commercial development plan 
for that unit, including 
 
- Confirmation of use class  
- Hours of operation and opening 
- Refuse strategy 
- Outside seating area management plan 
- Any proposed smoking area  

Page 68



 

 

OFFICIAL 

- Ventilation and extraction details (including vibration and noise levels) 
- Any noise or vibration mitigation measures 
 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
be carried out and permanently managed in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
  
Reason: To protect the residential and general amenity of the area from odour and/or noise 
emanating from the operation of any plant, machinery and equipment installed and from disturbance 
or nuisance caused by the general operation of premises within the commercial aspect of the 
development and avoid conflict with The National Planning Policy Framework and DEV1 and DEV2 
of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan.  
 
25 CONDITION: TRAVEL PLAN 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
The building hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a Travel Plan has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The said Travel Plan shall seek to encourage 
residents, staff and all site users to use modes of transport other than the private car to get to and 
from the building. It shall also include measures to control the use of the permitted car parking 
areas; arrangements for monitoring the use of provisions available through the operation of the 
Travel Plan; and the name, position and contact telephone number of the person responsible for its 
implementation. From the date of occupation the occupier shall operate the approved Travel Plan 
unless an alternative strategy is agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: The Local Planning Authority considers that such measures need to be taken in order to 
reduce reliance on the use of private cars (particularly single occupancy journeys) and to assist in the 
promotion of more sustainable travel choices in accordance with Policy DEV29 of the Plymouth and 
South West Devon JLP 2019 and para 111 of the NPPF 2019. The applicant should contact Plymouth 
Transport and Infrastructure for site-specific advice prior to preparing the Travel Plan.  
 
 
26 CONDITION:  EXTERNAL MAINTENANCE MANAGEMENT PLAN 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
No part of the development hereby proposed shall be occupied until the applicant has submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority for approval a management plan for the external maintenance of the 
building. The said management plan will provide details relating to how all external materials shall be 
maintained in a good, clean condition and appearance as long as the proposed buildings remain on 
the site and how any problems with corrosion, discolouration, weathering or other defects will be 
rectified promptly. Once approved the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
management plan, and maintained in accordance with the agreed details, unless an alternative 
strategy is agreed.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the appearance of the buildings remains satisfactory throughout their lifetime 
and that the buildings are in keeping with the standards of the vicinity in accordance with policies 
PLY20-21 & DEV20-22 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan, and paragraph 127 
of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 
 
27 CONDITION: ENERGY STRATEGY 
GENERAL COMPLIANCE 
Development shall take place in accordance with the Urban Splash DEV32 Response, unless an 
alternative strategy is agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
 

Page 69



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Reason: To ensure the development is designed to be capable of connection to the district heating 
network and a proportionate contribution towards the provision of the network is secured, in 
accordance with SPT1, PLY6 and DEV32 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 
and paras 148, 150 -151, 153 - 154 of the NPPF 2019.  
 
 
28 CONDITION: USE OF LOADING AREAS 
GENERAL 
The land indicated on the approved plans for the loading and unloading of vehicles shall not be used 
for any other purposes unless an alternative and equivalent area of land within the curtilage of the 
site is provided for loading and unloading with the prior consent in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure that space is available at all times to enable such vehicles to be loaded and 
unloaded off the public highway so as to avoid:- (i) damage to amenity; (ii) prejudice to public safety 
and convenience, and (iii) interference with the free flow of traffic on the highway; in accordance 
with Policy DEV29 of the Plymouth and South West Devon JLP 2019 and 104, 108, 109 and 110 of 
the NPPF 2019 
 
 
29 CONDITION: RETAINED TREES 
GENERAL COMPLIANCE 
In this condition "retained tree or hedgerow" means an existing tree or hedgerow which is to be 
retained in accordance with the approved plans and particulars; and paragraphs (a) and (b) below 
shall have effect until the expiration of 5 years from the commencement of development. 
a) Notwithstanding the details as shown on Proposed Landscape Plan PL-006 PL3, no retained tree 
or hedgerow shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any tree be pruned or pollarded 
other than in accordance with the details agreed in conditions 9 and 22 without the written approval 
of the Local Planning Authority. Any pruning approved shall be carried out in accordance with BS 
3998: 2010 Tree Work Recommendations. 
b) If any retained tree or hedgerow is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, or pruned in breach 
of (a) above in a manner which, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, leaves it in such a 
poor condition that it is unlikely to recover and/or attain its previous amenity value, another tree or 
hedgerow shall be planted at the same place and that tree or hedgerow shall be of such size and 
species, and shall be planted at such time, as may be specified in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
c) The erection of barriers and ground protection for any retained tree or hedgerow shall be 
undertaken in accordance with Section 6.2 of BS 5837:2012 Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition 
and Construction - Recommendations before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought 
onto the site for the purposes of the development, and shall be maintained until all equipment, 
machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the site. Nothing shall be stored or placed 
in any area fenced in accordance with this condition and the ground levels within those areas shall 
not be altered, nor shall any excavation be made, without the written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that trees or hedgerows retained are protected during construction work and 
thereafter are properly maintained, if necessary by replacement, in accordance with DEV20, DEV23 
DEV26 DEV28 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and paragraphs 124, 127, 
170, and 175 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 
 
30 CONDITION: BIODIVERSITY MITIGATION AND ENHANCEMENT 
GENERAL COMPLIANCE 

Page 70



 

 

OFFICIAL 

Unless otherwise previously agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the Ecological Mitigation and Enhancement Strategy updated 
July 2019 and the Proposed Landscape Plan PL006 rev. PL3. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the retention, protection and enhancement of wildlife and features of 
biological interest, in accordance with DEV26 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local 
Plan and Government advice contained in the NPPF (2019) paragraphs 170, 175 -177. 
 
31 CONDITION: PUBLIC CAR PARK ALLOCATION AND WORKS 
GENERAL COMPLIANCE 
 
Car parking within the surface level car park, as approved through condition 16, shall be laid out in 
compliance with the approved scheme. 
 
No Space within this car park shall be allocated or retained for residents or businesses located 
within the development hereby approved, unless otherwise agreed through the travel plan condition 
25. 
 
No further works to the public car park shall be undertaken without the prior consent of the Local 
Planning Authority approval. Should a further scheme be approved, development shall commence in 
accordance with the updated approved detail. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the site for future development in accordance with PLY15 and to reduce 
reliance on use of private cars to assist with promotion of sustainable travel choices, in accordance 
with Plymouth and South West Devon of the Joint Local Plan.  
 
 
32 CONDITION: NO VINYL ON WINDOWS 
GENERAL COMPLIANCE 
Notwithstanding Section 55(2)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), the 
windows at ground and first floor shall remain visually transparent - free from any applied vinyl 
advertisements, curtains, display stands or any other features that could restrict views in to the 
premises - at all times, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To maintain the character and appearance of the active frontages and the safety and security 
benefits brought by overlooking through these windows, in accordance with policy DEV20 of 
Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan. 
 
 
33 CONDITION: REPORTING OF UNEXPECTED CONTAMINATION 
GENERAL COMPLIANCE 
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development 
that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning 
Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken and where further remediation 
is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared which is subject to the approval in writing of 
the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological 
systems, and to ensure development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risk to workers, 
neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with DEV2 of the Plymouth and South West 
Devon Joint Local Plan and para 178 and 179 of the NPPF 2019 
 

Page 71



 

 

OFFICIAL 

34 CONDITION: NOISE HABITABLE ROOMS 
GENERAL COMPLIANCE 
AII dwellings shall be constructed in accordance with BS8233:2014 so as to provide sound insulation 
against externally generated noise. The levels as described in Table 4 of the guidance shall be applied, 
meaning there must be no more than 35 dB LAeq for living rooms and bedrooms (0700 to 2300 
daytime) and 30 dB LAeq for bedrooms (2300 to 0700 night-time), with windows shut and other 
means of ventilation provided, unless an alternative standard/noise level is agreed is agreed in writing 
by the LPA. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the proposed dwellings hereby permitted achieve a satisfactory living 
standard and do not experience unacceptable levels of noise disturbance to comply with policies 
DEV1 and DEV2 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and para 180 of the NPPF 
2019.  
 
 
35 CONDITION: SPECIFIED USE RESTRICTION PODIUM 
GENERAL COMPLIANCE 
Notwithstanding the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 
2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), the ground 
and first floor commercial uses hereby approved shall be used only for the purposes of uses falling 
within Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, B1, D1 (Creche / Day Nursery, Art Gallery / Associated Art 
Sales) and D2 (Gymnasium / Indoor Sports Recreation) as defined in the Town and Country Planning 
(Use Classes) Order 1987 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification), and for no other purpose. 
 
Reason: 
The application has been assessed on this basis, and the impact of alternative uses would need 
further consideration to ensure that the development would not impact on the highway network, 
heritage assets and amenity of the area including relationship with the residential use hereby 
approved, in accordance with DEV1, DEV2, DEV21 and DEV29 of the Plymouth and South West 
Devon Joint Local Plan.  
 
 
36 CONDITION: RESTRICT A5 USES 
GENERAL COMPLIANCE 
The development shall provide no more than 100sqm GIA amount of A5 use floor space. 
 
Reason: To preserve the amenity of the area in accordance with PLY6, DEV1, DEV2 and DEV18 of 
the Joint Local Plan.  
 
37 CONDITION: VENTILATION AND EXTRACT STATEMENT 
GENERAL COMPLIANCE 
Unless otherwise previously agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the Ventilation and Extract Statement Rev 2 -02 January 
2019.  
 
Reason: In the interests of ensuring the dwellings hereby permitted achieve a satisfactory living 
standard and do not experience unacceptable levels of noise disturbance to comply with policies 
DEV1 and DEV2 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and para 180 of the NPPF 
2019. 
 

 
INFORMATIVES 

Page 72



 

 

OFFICIAL 

 1 INFORMATIVE: (£0 CIL LIABILITY) DEVELOPMENT DOES NOT ATTRACT A 
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY CONTRIBUTION 
The Local Planning Authority has assessed that this development, although not exempt from liability 
under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended), will not attract a levy 
payment, due to its size or nature, under our current charging schedule. The Levy is subject to 
change and you should check the current rates at the time planning permission first permits 
development (if applicable) see www.plymouth.gov.uk/cil for guidance. 
 
 2 INFORMATIVE: CONDITIONAL APPROVAL (NEGOTIATION) 
In accordance with the requirements of Article 31 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019, the Council has worked in a positive and pro-active way with the Applicant 
Including pre-application discussions and has negotiated amendments to the application to enable 
the grant of planning permission. 
 3 INFORMATIVE: ADVERTISING 
This permission does not give or imply any consent for the advertising material shown on the 
approved plans. Such advertising is controlled under the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisements) Regulations 2007 and the applicants should obtain any necessary consent 
separately. 
 
 4 INFORMATIVE: FUTURE OCCUPANT NOTIFICATION 
All building occupants should be made aware that the open car park is allocated as a future 
redevelopment site allocated in the Joint Local Plan. 
 
 5 INFORMATIVE: MARINE GRADE SPECIFICATION 
All materials should be of marine grade specification. 
 
 6 INFORMATIVE: DISTRICT HEATING BEST PRACTICE 
Your attention is drawn to the best practice compliance with the CIBSE CP1.2 when reviewing 
details for condition 6 above. 
 
 7 INFORMATIVE: SUSTAINABLE URBAN DRAINAGE SYSTEM 
Your attention is drawn to the comments made by the Lead Local Flood Authority dated 14/08/19 
when preparing the submission for condition 11.   
 
 8 INFORMATIVE: DISTRICT HEATING FUNDING 
For clarity, the following District Heating plant and equipment, and connections identified in 
condition 8) 1) above shall be provided and funded by the Council/ District Heating Provider. 
 
 9 INFORMATIVE: HEAT ON DEFINITION 
 "Heat on" date means the date when the first commercial or residential units are ready and fit for 
occupation and are first supplied with hot water and/or heating, whichever is the earliest. 
 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   

PLANNING APPLICATION 
OFFICERS REPORT 

 
 

Site Address Civic Centre   Armada Way  Plymouth  PL1 2AA     

Proposal 
Internal and external works to convert building (inc part demolition), 
glazed extension, alterations to elevation including new cladding, public 
realm and associated works 

Applicant Mr Phillip Yunnie 

Application Type Listed Building Consent 

Target Date    16.05.2019 
Committee 
Date 16.01.2020 

Extended Target Date 28.02.2020   

Decision Category Service Director of SPI 

Case Officer Miss Katherine Graham 

Recommendation Grant Conditionally 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Application 
Number   19/00440/LBC  Item 03 

Date Valid 21.03.2019  Ward ST PETER AND THE WATERFRONT 

Page 75 Agenda Item 6.3



 

 

 
 
This planning application has been referred to committee by Service Director of Strategic Planning 
and Infrastructure due to public interest reasons. 
 
1.  Description of Site 
The Civic Centre is located within the city centre, north of the Hoe. The application site is formed 
of the Grade II listed Civic Centre Tower, a vacant fourteen storey office block, along with two 
storey blocks to the north and south and a reception area, which the Tower sits above.  
 
The application site also includes a disused pond located between the Council House and Civic 
Centre. This forms part of the listed park and garden. Immediately east of the site is Armada Way 
and the Civic Square which is a Grade II listed park and gardens.  
 
The application site also includes two bridge links physically connecting the Council House and Civic 
Centre. These have been enclosed on the Council House side.  

Page 76



 

 

 
The Civic Centre car park is located to the west. Further to the west and in close proximity of the 
site is the Theatre Royal, The Bank, and the Clock Tower, all of which are Grade II listed buildings.  
 
South west of the site is the Theatre Royal multi-storey car park and north of the site is a line of 
trees along Royal Parade. 
 
The site located within the City Centre Conservation Area. 
 
2.  Proposal Description 
This is an application for Listed Building Consent for Internal and external works to convert the 
Civic Centre building (including part demolition), glazed extension, alterations to elevation including 
new cladding, public realm and associated works.  
 
More specifically, these works include: 
• demolition of part of north block and the reception undercroft area  
• proposed glazed extension at ground floor between Civic Centre and Council House to 
create commercial unit 
• replacement façade including new glazing and cladding on the east and west elevations and 
other minor alterations to north and west elevation  
• new public realm including new staircase on Theatre Royal/west elevation and creation of 
new public space under the tower, including retention of terrazzo floor 
• internal works to create 144 residential units within the tower (2nd to 13th floor) 
• re-use of roof structure and  roof space as residential amenity space  
• internal works to create mixed use commercial units at the ground and first floor 
 
3. Pre-application Enquiry 
A pre-application submission was submitted 18/00565/MAJ which was for the “redevelopment of the 
former council offices to provide a mixed use scheme comprising the (C3) residential fit-out of the 
Tower and commercial 'active' uses”.  This included a variety of meetings including with consultees: 
Historic England, Garden History Society and C20th Society. A public consultation was held in June 
2018.  
 
The pre-application enquiry looked at different options for the new glazing/cladding system, and 
made a number of improvements to the scheme including removing a glazed extension to address 
C20th Society objections, removing gates and deck infill proposed between the south block and 
Council House, and retaining the reflective pool between the south block and Council House.  
 
4. Relevant Planning History 
As there have been a large number of applications, the most relevant ones are listed below: 
88/03970/30 Two storey office extension and refurbishment of reception facilities (regulation 4 
proposal) – Granted Conditionally 
94/01473/30 Installation of canopy over main entrance for a temporary period of two years – 
Granted Conditionally  
97/00056/30 Retention of canopy over main entrance - Granted Conditionally 
99/00960/30 Retention of canopy over main entrance for a temporary period of two years – 
Granted Conditionally  
10/02031/FUL Retention of temporary protective shelters at main and staff entrances to the Civic 
Centre for five years, alterations to main entrance shelter, installation of cycle shed and erection of 
fencing around grassed areas to north and east of the Civic Centre – Granted Conditionally  
10/02032/LBC Retention of temporary protective shelters at main and staff entrances to the Civic 
Centre for five years, alterations to main entrance shelter, installation of cycle shed and erection of 
fencing around grassed areas to north and east of the Civic Centre – Application Returned  

Page 77



 

 

13/00507/FUL Retention of front entrance and side entrance canopies for a temporary period of two 
years – Granted Conditionally 
15/01754/LBC Amendment to application 14/01990/LBC first floor separation – Granted 
Conditionally 
16/00126/FUL Retrospective application for hoardings – Grant Conditionally 
18/01117/LBC Structural Investigations – Granted Conditionally 
18/01194/LBC Part strip out of north block, refurbish WC and new partition – Granted 
Conditionally 
 
Associated application on same agenda: 
19/00439/FUL Conversion to 144 residential units (Class C3) and mixed uses including A1, A2, A3, 
A4, A5, B1, D1 & D2 uses, part demolition,  glazed extension , alterations to elevation including new 
cladding,  new public realm including staircase, parking and associated works  
 
5. Consultation Responses 
Historic England (HE) – “Historic England has been involved in considerable pre application 
discussions regarding the Civic Centre over the course of many years, and are pleased to be able to 
support these proposals. We acknowledge that certain aspects of the proposals will harm the 
significance of the listed buildings, but believe that the harm has been minimised, as far as is possible, 
and that the proposals will result in a sustainable new use that will provide for the necessary 
conservation of the building. In our view, the harm to the significance of the building is less than 
substantial, and outweighed by the wider heritage benefits offered by the proposals.” 
Summarised comments: 
- Support removal of 1980s lobby walls to create under croft, “which will provide a visual link 
from the Civic Square to the Theatre Royal”. A strategy for protecting the terrazzo should be 
supplied, or conditioned as part of any planning approval. 
- The new staircase is logical and will assist in connectivity between Civic Centre and newly 
listed Theatre Royal 
- Proposed glazed pavilions (extension) to west end of the south block will terminate the 
undercroft in a logical manner, and is a form of construction of that is new and reversible 
- It is regrettable that the proposals do not extend to restoration of the civic square but 
understand not under applicant control and part of the Council Better Places scheme. Need to 
consider phasing 
- Conversion of tower to residential potentially most contentious. Converting from the civic 
function to private residential will harm historic value however introducing residential use may bring 
about wider benefits through improved public perception of the post war city centre. Lack of 
residential in city centre has meant a lack of sense of ownership. The introduction of residential in 
Civic Centre has potential to change this, and will bring new life into city centre 
- Accept that it is necessary to rebuild two elevations. A 2007 HE report concluded that the 
façades need replacing. Significance of the façades lies more in their design than their actual fabric. 
Given the change of use in the building, it is appropriate for the new façade system to reference the 
existing, but not copy it. Consider that the need to replace the façades will give rise to less than 
substantial harm and has been mitigated through good design and recommend condition requiring 
samples to be agreed. Fibonacci influenced design should be recreated.  
- Public access days for heritage open days should be secured through conditions 
- The gullwing roof is currently littered with telecoms equipment. A condition is recommended 
to seek to remove the telecoms equipment.  
- The applicant has demonstrated that the harm to the building has been minimised. The 
proposals will provide a use that is viable and will lead to the investment in the Civic that is 
necessary for its long-term conservation  
- The proposals will cause harm to the significance of the Civic complex through tangible 
alterations such as the refaçading and also intangible aspects such as a building designed for public 
purposes becoming a private complex of apartments. However, can also appreciate the heritage 

Page 78



 

 

benefits offered by the proposals, chief amongst which is securing a viable use for the building which 
will provide for its long-term conservation. 
 
Historic Environment Officer: Support HE comments and “given that whilst there is a recognition of 
harm the ‘replication’ design offered forms a sufficient level of mitigation especially when weighed 
together with bringing this long vacant building back into beneficial use and to prevent and reverse 
further deterioration of the building’s fabric.” The addition of lettering atop the Civic building (i.e 
CIVIC) is a superfluous and unnecessary embellishment to this listed building, request justification. 
 
The Gardens Trust – Happy to support the proposals 
 
Twentieth Century Society (C20th Society) (summarised) – Object to application as outstanding 
concerns about specific aspects of application that cause avoidable harm. Pleased to have been 
involved in pre-application discussions, and pleased to see some harmful areas of the scheme have 
been reconsidered. The current scheme retains more original fabric, bringing it closer to a 
conservation led approach. 
Support the conversion of the tower to residential and securing public access to plaza, undercroft 
and plinth blocks.  
Outstanding concerns - Principle aspect opposed to is the replacement of the tower façades to east 
and west elevation in a way that departs from the architects original design intentions. Acknowledge 
survey work that recommends components of the façades are replaced and recognise need for 
environmental upgrades required for residential use. The need to replace the glazing is not 
considered to be a reason to introduce floor to ceiling glazing. 
It is considered that the existing façade provides a “sense of rhythm and textural detail to the 
otherwise monolithic tower”, which are “successful in softening the impact upon city skyline”. The 
listing designation also refers to the attention paid to “alleviating the uniformity of the façade with 
the modulation of the component materials and careful arrangement of the granite spandrel panels”. 
The proposed façade design , including the increase in height of the glazing, reduction in height of 
spandrel panels, bronze coloured windows frames, a reduction of the setback of the high level glazed 
units, are major departures from the original design, and will result in substantial harm to the 
buildings architectural and historical significance. These changes will have a far reaching impact due to 
the towers prominence within the city. Departing from the original design concept and materials that 
identify the buildings age, purpose, and quality will harm its historic value as the evidence of ambition 
and investment of the city in the post war reconstruction.  
Concern is also raised in relation to the glazed extension as this will block views through the 
undercroft space and reduce sense of openness, which is a characteristic of Jellicoe’s design. Do not 
consider its potentially temporary nature to reduce the negative impact upon the listed building. 
Recommend the glazed extension is removed from the scheme and the façade design altered to 
maintain the original proportions of the spandrel panels and glazing units. Cannot support the 
scheme as it fails to sustain existing heritage value of the building. 
In line with HE guidance (Conservation Principles Policy and Practice), consider that the surviving 
historic fabric underpins its heritage value and should be retained wherever possible. Where it has 
been shown that the loss of historic fabric is necessary, the optimal solution is to replace it like for 
like. 
Consider the proposal to be substantial harm, and therefore substantial public benefits that outweigh 
the harm need to be shown. Recognise the benefits that will result in bringing the building back into 
use and aspects that seek to enhance the heritage value, however remain unconvinced that on 
balance these benefits outweigh the harm.  
Consider the cumulative harmful impact of the proposals are substantial, primarily due to the 
remodelling of the principle façades. The change of façades will have an irreversible, negative effect 
on existing authenticity and integrity of the buildings historically important design as well damaging its 
role as the centrepiece of Abercrombie’s plan. Object and recommend refusal. 
 

Page 79



 

 

6. Representations 
None 
 
7. Relevant Policy Framework 
The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that, in considering 
whether to grant listed building consent for any works (and planning permission where these impact 
on a listed building) the local planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which 
it possesses.  
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) Chapter 16 Conserving and enhancing the historic 
environment paragraphs 190, 192, 193 are also particularly relevant to this application. 
 
Paragraph 190 states: 
Local planning authorities should identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset 
that may be affected by a proposal (including by development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) 
taking account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise. They should take this 
assessment into account when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or 
minimise conflict between the heritage asset's conservation and any aspect of the proposal. 
 
Paragraph 192 states: 
In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should take account of: 
* the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them to 
viable uses consistent with their conservation; 
* the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable communities 
including their economic vitality; and 
* the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness. 
 
Paragraph 193 states: 
When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, great weight should be given to the asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, 
the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. Significance can be 
harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development within its 
setting. 
As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require clear and convincing 
justification. Substantial harm to or loss of a grade II listed building, park or garden should be 
exceptional. 
 
The relevant heritage assets to this application are the Council House and former Civic Centre, the 
City Centre Conservation Area and the listed park and garden.  
The following buildings are assessed in terms of their setting: 
The Guildhall 
Theatre Royal 
Bank Public House and Clock Tower 
22, 23 and 24 Lockyer Street 
Former Barclays Bank Building 
 
Key policies include JLP policies DEV 21 ‘Development affecting the historic environment’, SPT11 
‘Strategic approach to the historic environment’ and PLY15 Civic Centre and Council House site. 
 

Page 80



 

 

Other material considerations include the policies of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
and guidance in Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), including the National Design Guide. Additionally, 
the following planning documents are also material considerations in the determination of the 
application:   
• Plymouth and South West Devon SPD Consultation Draft (November 2019).   
• Development Guidelines SPD (adopted April 2013) 
• Sustainable Development SPD (adopted July 2009) 
• Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing SPD (adopted 2012) 
 
In terms of weight of the SPDs, the following points should be considered in making the decision: 
• The Plymouth and South West Devon SPD has completed its consultation phase but can 
carry limited weight prior to its formal adoption.  However, at best very limited weight should be 
given to provisions of the SPD that have objected to in a substantive way. 
• The adopted SPDs were set within the context of the previous development plan (Core 
Strategy).  However, provisions of these SPDs would only carry weight where they are clearly 
consistent with the policies of the adopted Joint Local Plan.    
 
8. Analysis 
1. This application has been considered in the context of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as set out in Section 7, the NPPF and the JLP.  
2. The Historic England listing description has been sent to members separately for their 
information.  
 
3. Impacts on the Special Architectural and Historic Interest of the Building 
This application proposes works to a Grade II listed building. As the NPPF places great weight on the 
conservation of heritage assets, this should be given considerable importance and weight. 
Consideration is also given to JLP policy DEV 21 ‘Development affecting the historic environment’ 
and SPT11 ‘Strategic approach to the historic environment’. There is a duty under Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in considering whether to grant 
planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting to have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  The works to the listed building are reviewed 
below. The assessment below has been informed by the comprehensive heritage statement 
submitted with the application.   
 
4. Structural 
A structural statement has been submitted with this application, this states that the externally 
exposed reinforced concrete structure is in a poor condition. Detailed inspections have been carried 
which has identified the amount of corrosion, caused by chlorine attack, and has proposed a 
programme of targeted reinforcement repairs including localised strengthening in certain areas.  
 
5. Proposed Uses 
The north and south blocks are proposed for a number of uses, including: 
A1 (retail), A2 (offices), A3 (cafes/restaurants), A4 (pub/drinking establishments), A5 (hot food 
takeaway), B1 (offices), D1 (non-residential: art galleries, crèche and day nurseries) and D2 (assembly 
and leisure: gym).  
 
6. This mix of uses is assessed in detail in the planning application. The ventilation/extract 
requirements of the commercial mixed use is clarified further below.  
 
7. The tower is proposed to be converted to residential. Historic England (HE) have 
acknowledged that converting the tower to residential will give rise to harm to the historical 
significance of the building, as it will lose its intended civic function. However it is also acknowledged 

Page 81



 

 

that by bringing residential into the city centre this will have a positive impact by bringing new life 
into the city centre, and potentially changing attitudes towards postwar heritage.  
 
8. Tower - Internal works to tower 
Internally, each floor is proposed to be divided into residential units (13 to 15 units on each floor). 
The subdivision of the previously open plan offices will change the character of the listed building. HE 
have not raised any concerns with regard to the internal subdivision and have stated “The open-plan 
former office spaces within the tower and North block are of very little interest and can easily be 
subdivided for new uses with no impact on significance.” The C20th Society supports this aspect of 
the proposal. It is considered that the works to convert the tower to residential will not harm the 
significance of the listed building. A condition is recommended to review and agree the internal 
works to the tower.  
 
9. Tower - Loss of existing east and west façades 
The most significant intervention to the tower is the new cladding and new fenestration (windows 
and glazing), e.g. the façade design, on the east and west elevation. Following inspections and surveys, 
it is stated that the single glazed units and concrete cladding panels are beyond their original design 
life and in need of replacement. This is accepted by HE, who have confirmed that the need to replace 
the east and west elevations was confirmed in a specialist report they commissioned in 2007. The 
C20th Society have also not objected in principle to the loss of the existing façade.  
 
10. The loss of the two elevations will represent a significant loss of historic fabric. As well as the 
glazing, the concrete and Portland stone mullions are also proposed to be replaced. However HE 
advised that they consider “the significance of the façades lies more in their design than their actual 
fabric.” NPPF para 194 states that any harm or loss of significance to a heritage asset requires clear 
and convincing justification and that substantial harm or loss of grade II listed buildings should be 
exceptional.  It is considered that the loss of the façades have been justified through surveys of the 
building. It is acknowledged this is very much an exceptional circumstance where the total 
replacement of two façades of a listed building is considered acceptable by HE, C20th Society and 
the LPA HEO. In this case it has been accepted, and therefore the key consideration is the design of 
the replacement façades.  
 
11. Tower - Proposed replacement of east and west façades 
The proposed replacement façades are not like for like replacements. The proposed replacement 
scheme is full-height floor to ceiling glazing. This will include a high level transom, a central mullion 
and recessed top lights, all of which seeks to reflect an element of the original design.  The vertical 
pilasters and spandrel panels between floors will be clad in fibre cement panels to try and reflect the 
texture and colour of the original design. The new glazing will be double glazed.  
 
12. The proposed replacement façade design was a key area of negotiation in the pre-application 
process, and the current proposal is the result of this negotiation. HE have considered whether the 
façades should be replicas of the existing and have concluded that “we think it is appropriate for the 
new façade system to reference the existing, but not slavishly copy it.” The new cladding panels are 
smaller in depth than the original panels but will still provide an opportunity to reinstate the 
Fibonacci sequence (explained further in para 19 below). The top lights (or clerestorey) of the 
glazing will be recessed from the main glazing façade. This will provide some depth, and HE states 
this will recreate some of the characteristic relief of the original façade.    
 
13. The C20th Society have objected to the proposed façade design. They have stated that the 
need to replace the existing glazing is not justification to introduce floor to ceiling glazing and to 
depart from the original design. The C20th Society consider the existing proportions and materials 
give a sense of rhythm and textural detail to the tower. They consider that the proposals to change 
the design, including the increased height of glazing, the reduction in depth of the spandrel panels, 

Page 82



 

 

introducing bronze coloured frames and reducing the depth of the set back of the top lights, will 
result in “substantial harm to the building’s architectural and historic significance.” C20th Society go 
on to state these changes will have a far reaching impact due to the building’s prominence within the 
city, and that “Departure from original design concepts and materials that identify the building’s age, 
purpose and quality will harm its historic value as evidence of the ambition and investment of the 
City Council in their plan for Plymouth’s reconstruction following WWII.” 
 
14. It is considered that the loss of the existing façades and proposed replacement will result in 
harm. In accordance with the NPPF, it is required to determine whether the works will result in 
substantial harm or less than substantial harm, and then apply the relevant tests. The C20th Society 
consider the proposal to result in substantial harm, therefore para 195 of the NPPF will apply.  
 
15. Paragraph 195 states “Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to (or 
total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse 
consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve 
substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, or all of the following apply: 
a) the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and 
b) no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term through 
appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and 
c) conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or public ownership 
is demonstrably not possible; and 
d) the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use.” 
 
16. HE consider that the works are less than substantial harm, and therefore para 196 applies: “ 
Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal 
including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.” 
 
17. In order to address C20th Society objection to the façade, their comments are broken down 
below with consideration given to their areas of concern. 
 
18. Façade design – Proportions 
The C20th Society object to the departure “from the architects original design intentions” e.g. the 
increased height of glazing and reduction in depth of spandrel panels. In terms of the full height 
glazing, the Council’s Urban Designer has confirmed that the original design intention by Hector 
Stirling was full height glazing, and therefore it could be considered that the proposal is more in 
keeping with the architects original design intentions. Notwithstanding this, it is considered that the 
change in proportions will have a harmful impact upon the significance of the building.  
 
19. Façade design – Materials 
The granite spandrel panels are a key feature of the façade. The list description states “The green 
granite panels below the windows are also modulated with a slight variation of colour and arranged 
in a series in a Fibonacci system of harmonic proportions which was intended to symbolise the 
diversity of activities within the building and alleviate the monotony of what otherwise is a uniform 
façade.” The Old Plymouth Society’s book on the Civic Centre defines the Fibonacci sequence as “a 
series of numbers that is related to the golden ratio and in which each number is the sum of the two 
proceeding numbers”. HE state in their comments that the Fibonacci pattern was intended to 
symbolise the diversity of activities within the building. It is proposed to reinstate the variation of the 
colour of cladding to reinstate the Fibonacci sequencing pattern. This is considered to enhance and 
better reveal the significance of the building, as the pattern is not currently obvious and has faded 
due to weathering over the years. 
 

Page 83



 

 

20. As noted above HE considers the design to have more significance than the fabric of the 
building. It is noted that the proposed cladding material will not be able to be granite aggregate 
panels as per the existing, due to structural constraints. It is suggested by the applicants that the fibre 
cement cladding is the only viable alternative that complies with post Grenfell requirements. Building 
Control advise that residential buildings over 18m should be made of non combustible materials. In 
principle fibre cement is a non-combustible material, however Building Control will need further 
details to agree the exact material including manufacturers specification, proposed insulation and 
how it will be installed and affixed. This will need to be reviewed through the Building Control 
process. HE have recommended a condition to request and agree the cladding material, and a 
specific condition has been recommended. 
 
21. The glazing is proposed to be bronze coloured marine grade powder coated aluminium 
frames. The existing window units are metal windows. The C20th Society’s comments appears to 
object to the colour, as opposed to the material. The change in colour will impact upon the 
appearance of the building, but officers do not consider that the proposed bronze coloured frames 
will result in harm to the significance of the listed building.  
 
22. Façade design – Depth 
The C20th Society have objected to the reduction in the depth of the set back of the top 
lights/clerestorey. Discussions at pre-application stage with HE clarified the need to retain the depth 
within the façade to retain some of the towers detailing. The proposed façade sets back the top 
lights by approx 250mm. This is a reduced amount than the existing, but it is considered it will 
achieve a similar visual impact. The proposed façade will have varying planes of depth, including the 
new glazing and cladding, the recessed top light, and the projecting new pilasters. The existing 
projecting concrete surround is proposed to be retained and repaired. It is considered that the new 
façade proposes a variation in depth, which respects a feature of the existing façade, and therefore of 
significance. 
 
23. Façade conclusion 
The proposed replacement façade design will have a significant impact upon the appearance of the 
building. Key elements of the façade design are retained, including glazing with a central mullion and 
recessed top lights, vertical pilasters and spandrel/cladding panels. These elements also seek to 
reflect the different depths of the existing façade. The proposed cladding panels are proposed to 
reflect the Fibonacci design. Through the retention of these key features in the new design, officers 
consider that the overall appearance of the new façade will respect the existing special character of 
the listed building. The overall appearance will retain the repetition of the existing façade but with 
variations and detail within this repetition.  
 
24. It is also considered that the façade design is not trying to imitate the existing façade. It is 
clearly a modern intervention and therefore not trying to be a pastiche/copy of the existing.  
 
25. Notwithstanding this, there will be a level of harm caused by the new façade. On the basis of 
paragraphs 11 to 24 above, by seeking to retain key elements of the existing façade, albeit in different 
proportions, these will help to mitigate the harm caused.  In addition, it is considered that much of 
the tower’s significance comes from its landmark location and height, and the butterfly roof design, 
which remain unchanged as part of this application. On this basis it is considered that the new façade 
will result in less than substantial harm. This conclusion is consistent with the consultation response 
from HE.   
 
26. Conditions are proposed to deal with the detail of the new façade design. This includes a 
condition HE have recommended, requiring material samples of the proposed transom panels to be 
approved, prior to construction commencing. 
 

Page 84



 

 

27. Roof Area works 
The roof area, including existing glazed pavilion is proposed to be retained and proposed for a 
communal roof terrace and residents lounge. The glazed pavilion is proposed to be refurbished, with 
the existing glazing system retained and refurbished. There will be some minor external works 
including installation of glazed double doors and internal works to create the dining room and winter 
garden. The existing stair core will be retained and painted grey. The existing steel balustrade will be 
retained and timber balustrade is to be replaced. The existing concrete floor is proposed to be 
retained and repaired. All these works are considered to preserve the character and appearance of 
the listed building.  One of the key features of architectural interest is the yellow gull wing roof. This 
will be retained and repaired.  
 
28. The application proposes two illuminated ‘Civic’ signs on the roof, on the east and west 
elevation. This is not specifically referred to in either HE or C20th Society comments.  For the 
planning application, the urban design comments have commented that the signage is considered an 
unnecessary accent feature which clutters the roof space and obscures and distracts from the gull-
wing roof and which should remain the distinctive accent feature in its own right.  The Historic 
Environment Officer has also stated that “the addition of lettering atop the Civic building is a 
superfluous and unnecessary embellishment to this listed building.” The removal of the signage was 
requested on this basis however in discussion with the applicant it was stated that the signage is 
proposed in order to signal a new life of the building. It is considered that the roof signage would 
give rise to less than substantial harm to the listed building and adds visual interest and as such on 
balance is considered acceptable. Consideration is also given to its reversibility.  
 
29. Currently there are various pieces of telecommunication equipment on the roof. HE have 
requested that the equipment should either be removed or relocated out of sight, to restore the 
original streamlined aesthetic of the building. As the equipment is in use as a base station serving 
Plymouth, a condition is recommended to explore whether these could be removal or relocated as 
per the HE request.  
 
30. Roof area - Public access 
Public access to the roof for open days, including heritage open days will be secured through a S106 
Planning Obligation. This addresses one of HE’s requests for a condition which is for public access to 
the rooftop area which guarantees access on at least two weekends per year, one of which will 
coincide with the National Heritage Open Days. The S106 secures 12 days a year public access, 
including a heritage open day. The principle of access to the roof is also supported by the Council’s 
Urban Designer. The design and access statement states that: “public open days to be held each year 
during which escorted groups will be given the opportunity to experience the drama of these 
spaces.”  
 
31. Ground Floor - Demolition of glazed enclosure/reception 
The undercroft glazing that forms the reception area will be demolished. This will create an area of 
open space under the tower of the building, creating a new central square. The undercroft glazing 
dates from the 1980s.  HE support this aspect of the proposals and state it will “increase dramatic 
visual effect of the tower”. C20th Society also support the public access to the undercroft and plaza.  
 
32. One of the features of this area is the original terrazzo floor treatment under the carpet tiles. 
This treatment will be exposed, but treated with a resin bonded finish to ensure it is protected and 
preserved. The first floor internal balcony slab will be retained and extended, with the balcony edge 
extended by 2m. A new timber deck will be laid on top of the existing and new balustrading is 
proposed. The use of this space will be for events and the tenants of the first floor commercial units. 
The plans indicate outside seating. Concrete columns will be will exposed and repaired.  
 

Page 85



 

 

33. Overall, the works of the demolition of the later glazing, and exposing and repairs of the 
terrazzo floor will better reveal the significance of the listed building. With the provision of 
conditions ensuring protection of the terrazzo floor, it is considered that these works do not have a 
harmful impact upon the significance of the listed building.  
 
34. Demolition of west extension  
A two storey extension that runs along the west elevation of the building is proposed to be 
demolished. This is accommodation located the rear of the reception area/adjacent to the car park 
and encloses the reception area. By removing this later extension, it is considered that this will 
better reveal the original proportions of the building and therefore enhances the significance of the 
listed building. HE and C20th Society do not specifically comment upon this element of the scheme.  
 
35. North block works 
The north block consists of the ground and first floor accommodation to the north of the tower and 
adjacent to Royal Parade. This area is proposed for the mix of commercial uses as outlined 
previously.    
 
36. Internally, a new lift and stair core is created at the east end of the building. The existing 
central stair core is retained with a new lift installed. The first floor is already largely open plan due 
to a previous application, however there are some further removal of internal partitions, including 
original masonry on both the ground and first floor.  
 
37. On the north/Royal Parade elevation, the existing glazing and aluminium curtain walling will be 
retained, although the lower spandrel panels will be replaced with clear glazing. The concrete panels 
will be made good, and concrete block painted grey. The east/Armada Way elevation proposes new 
double height glazing. The existing pre cast concrete will be made good and cleaned. The south/new 
civic square elevation will largely be a new elevation, consisting of a glazed façade within existing 
mullions at the first floor level, and a new aluminium glazed system at the ground floor. The existing 
murano glass columns are proposed to be repaired and retained where necessary.  
 
38. Overall, the works to the north block are considered to be sensitive in nature. The 
introduction of glazing will impact upon the appearance of the building, however this is not 
considered to give rise to any harm.  
 
39. South block works 
The south block consists of the ground and first floor accommodation to the south of the main 
tower which incorporates the previous staff entrance to the building and the first floor links across 
to the council house. This area is proposed for the mix of commercial uses as outlined previously, as 
well as the access to the residential units. 
 
40. The existing lift core and south block stairs are retained. There is a new ramped access to 
new entrance lobby doors and glazing on the south elevation, as well as retaining the existing timber 
glazing system. Internally, works are proposed to remove internal partitions, including original 
masonry. At the first floor there are number of offices with timber panelling, which are proposed to 
be removed.  
 
41. On the east/Armada Way elevation the delabole slate panels are proposed to be retained and 
repaired at the ground floor level. At the first floor, which includes the bridge link across to the 
Council House, the existing glazing is proposed to be retained and repaired. The north elevation/new 
civic square elevation proposes new aluminium glazing system at the ground floor. As per the north 
block, the existing murano glass columns are proposed to be repaired and retained where necessary. 
At the first level there are some new glazed openings, combined with the re-use of existing aggregate 
panels proposed to be painted grey. The existing south elevation proposes to retain and repair the 

Page 86



 

 

delabole slate panels as well as an area of aluminium glazing where one corner where the 1980s 
extension is proposed to be demolished. At the first floor, which includes the bridge link across to 
the Council House, the existing glazing is proposed to be retained and repaired. At the first floor, 
the internal courtyard elevation proposes to retain and repair the existing glazing system, and glazing 
the lower panel.  Ventilation and extraction for the commercial uses is proposed to be incorporated 
into plant compounds proposed on the roof of the north and south blocks. These are proposed to 
be screened by dark grey mesh. 
 
42. The most significant intervention to the south block is the glazed extension. The extension is 
proposed at the ground floor to the west of the south block, extends towards the council house and 
partially encloses the courtyard and pool. The design of the extension is proposed to be lightweight 
with full height glazing. In support of the proposal it is suggested that the extension will create some 
activity in the courtyard whilst also providing some shelter when accessing the residential or 
commercial units.  
 
43. The C20th Society has objected to this extension as it is considered it will block views 
through the undercroft space and reduce the sense of openness, characteristics of Jellicoe’s design. 
HE state that “the glazed pavilion will terminate the southern undercroft in a logical manner, with a 
form of construction that is recognisably new and reversible; should the development of the adjacent 
car park ever proceed and it then becomes desirable for the southern undercroft to become more 
visually permeable.”  
 
44. The submitted heritage statement justifies the extension with the following comment “while 
there is nothing intrinsically sacrosanct about the design of the courtyard, the extension – despite its 
transparency – will partly close off the open space within the complex from the Civic Square, 
affecting their designed continuity and connectivity”. On this basis, it is considered that there will be 
harm resulting from the extension, however it is considered that this will give rise to less than 
substantial harm. 
 
45. Heritage – Council House 
The Council House forms part of the same listed building, although now separated from the Civic 
Centre in terms of use, and not included within the application site. On this basis, the impact is 
considered in terms of the impact on the building itself and its setting.  The works of repair to the 
link bridges and proposed elevational treatment are not considered to harm the significance of the 
Council House.  The proposed glazed extension extends towards the Council House and therefore 
has more potential to impact upon the setting. The form and size of the extension is such that it 
does not encroach any further than the edge of the pool. It is considered that these proportions and 
the lightweight design help to mitigate the impact of the extension. Notwithstanding this, it is 
considered that this will give rise to less than substantial harm to the listed Council House, through 
the partial enclosure of the currently open space.  
 
46. Heritage – Setting of Listed Buildings 
The Guildhall is a Grade II listed building located to the east of the Civic Centre. The works to the 
Civic Centre are not considered to harm the significance of the setting of this listed building. The 
landscape works are considered to have a minor impact which improves the setting of this listed 
building. 
 
47. The Theatre Royal is a Grade II listed building located to the west of the Civic Centre. The 
works to the Civic Centre are not considered to harm the significance of the setting of this listed 
building. The works to remove the harmful 1980s extension and changes to the west elevation of the 
Civic Centre including the proposed staircase link are considered to improve the setting of this listed 
building.  
 

Page 87



 

 

48. The Bank public house and clock tower are Grade II listed buildings located to the west of 
the Civic Centre. The works to the Civic Centres are not considered to harm the setting or 
significance of these listed buildings.  
 
49. 22, 23 and 24 Lockyer Street are Grade II listed buildings located to the south west of the 
Civic Centre. The works to the Civic Centre are not considered to harm the setting or significance 
of these listed buildings. 
 
50. The Former Barclays Bank building is a Grade II listed building located to the southeast of the 
Civic Centre. The works to the Civic Centre are not considered to harm the setting or significance 
of these listed buildings. 
 
51. Heritage – Changes to and Setting of Listed Park and Garden 
The application site includes part of the Civic Square which is a listed park and garden. This area 
includes the pool that sits between the Civic Centre and Council House. Works are proposed to 
this pool, by raising the bed to decrease the depth with a new reflective stone finish in order to 
increase the intended reflective nature of this pool. In addition stepping stone slabs will be added to 
create additional access to the residential and commercial uses. Existing finishes such as the raised 
planter, east lawn and cobbles will be retained. These works are considered to enhance the 
significance of the listed park and garden. 
 
52. The glazed extension is located within the listed park and garden, and will encroach into the 
open space between the Civic Centre building and Council House, and will give rise to less than 
substantial harm.  
 
53. The listed park and garden includes the Civic Square to the east of the Civic Centre. Whilst 
this is not included as part of the application site, the setting needs to be considered.  The works as 
detailed above and the creation of a new area of public realm beneath the tower of the Civic Centre 
is considered to enhance the setting of the Civic Square.  
 
54. The Gardens Trust are statutory consultees and have advised they are “happy to support the 
proposals.” 
 
55. HE have commented that it is regrettable that works to enhance the wider Civic Square are 
not included as part of these proposals, but understand these works will come under PCC Better 
Places initiative. The landscape condition will ensure details are consistent with the Better Places 
scheme, when this is delivered.  
 
56. Overall, it is considered that the modest level of harm to the significance of the park and 
garden through the glazed extension, is outweighed by the improvements to the reflective pool 
which will enhance the features of special architectural interest. 
 
57. Heritage – Conservation Areas 
There is a duty under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
to pay special attention to the preservation or enhancement of the character of the surrounding 
conservation area.   During the course of this application, a city centre conservation area has been 
designated, which includes the Civic Centre. The conservation area is centred around Royal Parade 
and the Civic Square.  There is no Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Plan to inform this 
consideration as required by JLP policy DEV21, but the following is based upon the “designation 
assessment” that was produced to enable the designation of the conservation area. The conservation 
area is focused on the post war development as part of the ‘Plan for Plymouth’ and the Civic Centre 
is a key part of this significance. The beaux arts grid is another element of significance. It is 
considered that the proposal for conversion of a highly significant building, which respects the 

Page 88



 

 

current layout of the conservation area is considered to preserve and enhance the character and 
appearance of the conservation area.  
 
58. The proposed elevational changes to the Civic Centre will give rise to harm upon the 
character of the conservation area. It is considered that as the proposal will be deviating from the 
original appearance of a highly prominent building, it will not preserve the character of the 
conservation area. The proposed residential use of the building also deviates away from the originally 
planned use, which formed part of the zoning and another element of character of the ‘Plan for 
Plymouth’.  
 
59. Overall, the harm to the conservation area is considered to be less than substantial and the 
benefits of securing a new use to the building, landscape improvements and improved public access is 
considered to outweigh the harm.  
 
60. The Hoe Conservation area is located to the south of the application site, and the Barbican 
conservation area is located to the south east of the application site. Given the height of the Civic 
Centre, the elevational changes will have a minor impact upon the appearance of these conservation 
areas. However, as post war design is not a key element of significance of these designated 
conversation areas, the changes to the elevation of the Civic Centre is not considered to have a 
harmful impact upon these conservation areas.  The character and appearance of these conservation 
areas are considered to be preserved and therefore complies with Section 72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 
61. Heritage – Planning application implications 
Consideration has been given to the heritage implications of the provision of District Heating. The 
energy centre is proposed in the basement and there is a proposed planning condition which 
requires an amended basement plan. As the basement is not considered to have any particular 
significance, it is not considered that any amendments here would impact upon the significance of the 
listed building. The associated works including routes within the building does have the potential to 
impact upon the fabric of the listed building. The proposed conditions include details of ventilation, 
servicing and plant, as well as final details of the basement area in order to ensure the works do not 
impact upon the features of special architectural or historic interest.  
 
62. Due to potential external noise impacts upon the proposed residential, a ventilation strategy 
condition is recommended on the associated planning application. Any resulting changes upon the 
listed building can be dealt with through conditions on this listed building consent, for example 
through the façade detail condition and/or the internal works to the tower condition.  It is 
acknowledged that the proposed façade is highly sensitive in terms of its character and there will be 
significant challenges in agreeing further changes to this. As noted in the planning application, should 
ventilation not be achieved, a balanced judgement would need to be made by the Local Planning 
Authority, balancing the heritage considerations with the noise impact. 
 
63. The landscape works within the proposed new Civic Square, including tree planters and 
seating, are not considered to give rise to harm of significance to the listed building.       
 
64. The proposed provision of Electric Vehicle Charging points (EVC) within basement are also 
not considered to give rise to harm of significance to the listed building. 
 
65. The proposed biodiversity measures including the provision of nest boxes is not considered 
to impact upon the features of special architectural or historic interest. 
 
66. Heritage – Conclusion 

Page 89



 

 

To summarise the assessment above, the following works are considered to constitute less than 
substantial harm:  
- Loss of Civic use. Harm is mitigated through the introduction of new uses which will help to 
secure the future use of the civic centre 
- Loss, replacement and design of east and west façades. Harm is mitigated through the 
retention of key features of the existing design (glazing, variation in depth, Fibonacci pattern within 
cladding)  
- Civic sign on roof. Harm is mitigated through its reversible nature.  
- Glazed extension to south block. Harm is mitigated through the proposed lightweight glazed 
design 
 
Overall it is considered that the proposal will result in less than substantial harm to the listed Civic 
Centre and Council House.   
 
67. Therefore NPPF para 196 applies: 
“Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal 
including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.” 
 
68. The building has been vacant for a number of years and its condition has deteriorated in that 
time. It is a prominent building in the city centre, and its condition and vacancy has a negative impact 
upon the city centre. Securing the optimum viable use is therefore a key consideration, as per the 
above paragraph of the NPPF. The NPPG states “Harmful development may sometimes be justified 
in the interests of realising the optimum viable use of an asset, notwithstanding the loss of 
significance caused, and provided the harm is minimised”. HE have stated that “In respect of these 
proposals, Historic England are of the view that the applicant has demonstrated that the harm to the 
building has indeed been minimised. The proposals will provide a use that is viable and will lead to 
the investment in the Civic that is necessary for its long-term conservation.” 
 
69. Whilst the viability of the proposals is still uncertain, it is considered that the proposals 
represent an opportunity in securing optimum viable future uses for the Civic Centre.  In addition, 
by bringing the building back into use, there are a number of public benefits including: 
 
- Public access , including access days to the roof, and access at the lower levels for the 
commercial uses in accordance with PLY15 
- Creation of new public realm and improvement to existing public realm including tree 
planting and biodiversity enhancements in accordance with PLY6, PLY15 and DEV26 
- New staircase link to Theatre Royal in accordance with PLY6, DEV20, DEV29 
- Vibrant uses at the ground and first floor which will enhance the vibrancy and vitality of the 
city centre in accordance with PLY6, PLY15, DEV20 
- Delivery of city centre housing and associated benefits to the city centre in accordance with 
PLY6, PLY15, DEV10 
- Provision of space for an energy centre and safeguarding for future connection to the district 
heat network in accordance with PLY6 and DEV32 
 
70. In accordance with DEV21, it is considered that there has reasonable efforts to find new uses 
and to mitigate the extent of harm.  By securing new uses for this building it is also considered that 
this proposal complies with the NPPF (para 193) which states great weight should be given to the 
assets conservation. It is considered that the proposal also complies with SPT11, which gives support 
for heritage led regeneration and requiring development to make a positive contribution to local 
character.  
 
71. Para 192 of the NPPF directs LPA’s in determining planning applications to take account of: 

Page 90



 

 

• The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting 
them to viable uses consistent with their conservation. 
• The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including economic viability and 
• The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness. 
 
 
72. Reflecting on the above, it is considered that this proposal will help to enhance the 
significance of the heritage asset, through removal of later extensions, reinstating Fibonacci pattern, 
repair works, revealing terrazzo floor and improvements to the listed park and garden. Whilst 
securing viable uses for this building is a challenge it is considered that the proposal is an important 
opportunity to secure the future use of the building. The proposed uses are considered to make a 
positive contribution to the city centre, including the creation of a sustainable community. By 
bringing this landmark building back into use, this is considered to support economic viability of the 
city centre and will positively contribute towards local character and distinctiveness.  
 
73. As previously noted, there is a duty under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  
Paragraphs 1 to 74 above evidence the special regard of all the relevant heritage assets, and the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses. 
 
74. Consideration has been given to relevant case law in relation to listed buildings and heritage 
issues when determining planning applications, these include the notable Barnwell case and those 
later cases which followed on from Barnwell, such as Mordue and Tower Hamlets as well as several 
others. This advises that desirability of preserving the settings of listed buildings should not simply be 
given careful consideration but “considerable importance and weight” when carrying out the 
balancing exercise. It is considered that the NPPF policy considerations with regard to harm have 
been applied appropriately, arriving at less than substantial harm and justification on this basis (para 
196). The application is considered to comply with SPT11 and DEV21 of the Joint Local Plan.  
 
9. Human Rights 
Human Rights Act - The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Human Rights 
Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act itself. This Act gives 
further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human Rights. In arriving at this 
recommendation, due regard has been given to the applicant's reasonable development rights and 
expectations which have been balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as 
expressed through third party interests / the Development Plan and Central Government Guidance. 
 
10. Local Finance Considerations 
Under the present Community Infrastructure Levy charging schedule no CIL contribution is required 
for this development. 
 
11. Planning Obligations 
Not applicable 
 
12. Equalities and Diversities 
This planning application has had due regard to Section 149 of the Equality Act with regard to the 
Public Sector Equality Duty and has concluded that the application does not cause discrimination on 
the grounds of gender, race and disability.   

Page 91



 

 

 
The associated planning application has given consideration to the prevention of suicide from the 
roof the building. This is proposed to be dealt with through a management condition. A condition 
has been attached which requires the guideline amount of DDA compliant spaces, both for the 
residential and in the public car park.  
The new commercial units are all proposed to be fully accessible with level thresholds, and internally 
there are lifts to access the upper floors. The new public realm is accessible by ramped access. The 
residential units are fully accessible, and the lift will be extended to include access to the roof 
entrance amenity space. 
 
13. Conclusions and Reasons for Decision 
Officers have taken account of the NPPF and the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and in considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a 
listed building, special regard has been given to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting 
or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  
 
It is concluded that the following works will result in less than substantial harm to the Grade II Listed 
building: 
- Loss of Civic use. Harm is mitigated through the introduction of new    uses which will help 
to secure the future use of the civic centre 
- Loss, replacement and design of east and west façades. Harm is mitigated through the 
retention of key features of the existing design (glazing, variation in depth, Fibonacci pattern within 
cladding)  
- Civic sign on roof. Harm is mitigated through its reversible nature.  
- Glazed extension to south block. Harm is mitigated through the proposed lightweight glazed 
design 
 
Other elements of the scheme are considered to better reveal the significance of the listed building. 
These works include: 
- Removal of later extensions 
- Reinstatement of Fibonacci pattern 
- Repairs to features such as columns and roof  
- Revealing and protecting the terrazzo floor 
- Improvements to park and garden (works to the reflective pool) 
 
Paragraph 196 of the NPPF applies, and the harm has been weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal including securing its optimum viable use. It is considered that the proposals will bring the 
building into a number of uses, as well as the public benefits as listed above.  Overall it is considered 
that the proposal will not cause significant harm to the listed building's special architectural and 
historic interest and therefore, for the reasons discussed above, is recommended for conditional 
approval. 

 

14. Recommendation 

In respect of the application dated 21.03.2019 it is recommended to   Grant Conditionally. 

 

15. Conditions / Reasons 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans:  

  
1 CONDITION: APPROVED PLANS 

Site Location Plan PL-001 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 

Page 92



 

 

  Proposed Site Plan PL-003 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Podium Roof Plan PL-005 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Basement Floor Plan PL-010 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Ground Floor Plan PL-011 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed First Floor Plan PL-012 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Mezzanine and Second Floor Plan PL-013 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Third Floor Plan PL-014 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Fourth Floor (Floors 4 to 5) PL-015 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Sixth Floor Plan (Floors 6 to 9) PL-017 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Tenth Floor Plan (Floors 10 to 13) PL-021 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Roof Terrace PL-025 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Forteenth Floor and Gull Wing Roof Plan PL-026 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Ground Floor - North Block PL-030 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Ground Floor Plan - South Block PL-031 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed First Floor Plan - North Block PL-032 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed First Floor Plan - South Block PL-033 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed North Side Elevation PL-050 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed East Site Elevation PL-051 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed South Site Elevation PL-052 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed West Site Elevation PL-053 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed New Civic Square Elevations PL-054 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Council House Site Elevation PL-055 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed North Elevation PL-060 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed East Elevation - South PL-061 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed East Elevation - North PL-062 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed South Elevation PL-063 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed West Elevation - North PL-064 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed West Elevation - South PL-065 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed New Civic Square Elevation - North PL-066 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed New Civic Square Elevation - South PL-067 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed South Block Council House Elevation PL-068 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Section AA PL-070 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Basement Conservation Floor Plan PL-220 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Ground Floor Conservation Plan PL-221 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  First Floor Conservation Plan PL-222 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Conservation Plan Mezzanine and Second Floor PL-223 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Conservation Plan Third and Fourth Floor PL-224 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Conservation Plan Fifth and Sixth Floor PL-225 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Conservation Plan Seventh and Eighth Floor PL-226 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Conservation Plan Ninth and Tenth Floor PL-227 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Conservation Plan Eleventh and Twelfth Floor PL-228 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Conservation Plan Thirteenth and Fourteenth Floor PL-229 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Conservation Plan 15th Floor and Roof PL-230 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Conservation Typical Lift Lobby Plan and Section PL-231 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Conservation - Existing North Elevation PL-250 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Conservation - Existing East Elevation PL-251 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Conservation - Existing South Elevation PL-252 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Conservation - Existing West Elevation PL-253 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Conservation - New Civic Square Elevations PL-254 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Existing South Block Council House Elevation PL-255 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  TR External Staircase PL-300 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  TR External Staircase PL-301 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed North Block North Elevation GF and FF PL-307 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 

Page 93



 

 

  North Block South Elevation - East Side PL-311 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  South Courtyard - Outward First Floor PL-315 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  South Block - Delabole Slate and Clerestory PL-319 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  South Block - New FF Openings PL-323 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  South Block - New Undercroft Elevation PL-325 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  South Courtyard - Pool Details PL-327 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Facade Section PL-331 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Facade Plans PL-333 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Rooftop and Gullwing PL-337 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Lift Lobby Detail PL-345 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed 1-Bed Apartment PL-350 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed 2-Bed Flexi Apartment PL-355 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Typical M4(2) Flat Layout Plans PL-360 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Ground Floor Plan External Demise PL-365 Rev PL1  received 19/03/19 
  Proposed Landscape Plan PL-006 Rev PL3  received 24/12/19 
 
Reason: 
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of good planning, in accordance with the Plymouth & 
South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014–2034 (2019). 
 
 
 2 CONDITION: TIME LIMIT COMMENCEMENT 
The works hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of 
this consent. 
 
Reason: 
To comply with Section 18 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 
 3 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT: BUILDING RECORDING 
No development to which this permission relates shall commence until an appropriate programme 
of historic building recording and analysis has been secured and implemented in accordance with a 
written scheme of investigation which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with the 
approved scheme. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that historic evidence is appropriately recorded, in accordance with DEV21 of the 
Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 199 of the NPPF 2019. 
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 
 4 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT OF DEMOLITION: DEMOLITION 
WORKS 
Prior to commencement of any demolition works, details shall be submitted and approved with the 
Local Planning Authority showing the areas of masonry to be demolished and setting out the method 
of ensuring the safety and stability of the building fabric identified to be retained throughout the 
phases of demolition and reconstruction. Such details are to include structural engineering drawings 
and/or a method statement. The work shall be carried out fully in accordance with the method 
statement approved.  
 

Page 94



 

 

No demolition works shall take place before evidence has been submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority of a binding contract for the full implementation of the comprehensive scheme of 
development (and associated planning permission for which the contract provides). 
 
Reason:  To ensure that premature demolition does not take place and that an unsightly gap does 
not detract from the character and appearance of the area and in the interests of ensuring that no 
damage is caused to the part of the building which is to be retained and in accordance with DEV21 of 
the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 199 of the NPPF 2019. 
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 
 5 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT TOWER WORKS: SAMPLE OF 
TRANSOM/SPANDREL PANEL MATERIAL 
Prior to commencement of works to the tower, notwithstanding the information shown on the 
accompanying plans, a sample of the proposed materials to be used for the replacement 
transom/spandrel panels in the new façades shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
local planning authority in consultation with Historic England. The development shall be carried out 
at all times in strict accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: 
To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and to ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV21 of the Plymouth 
and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 2019.  
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 
 6 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT TOWER WORKS: EAST AND WEST 
FAÇADE DETAIL 
Prior to commencement of works to the tower, details of the proposed works to the east and west 
façade, including: 
- Details, materials, finishes of the new glazing system 
- Proposed spandrel panel pattern 
- Replacement mullions 
- Works to existing fabric such as the framing panels 
 
Shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The said details shall 
include the repair/ reinstatement designs, materials and methodology. The development shall be 
carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and To ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV21 of the Plymouth 
and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 2019.  
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 
 7 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT TOWER WORKS: NORTH AND 
SOUTH FAÇADE DETAIL 

Page 95



 

 

Prior to commencement of works to the tower, details of the proposed works to the north and 
south façade, including:  
- Details of the transom/spandrel cladding panels to be retained and repaired 
- Details of new aluminium units (design, material, finish) 
- Details of new fibre cement panels 
- Any other finish, such as painted areas 
 
Shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The said details shall 
include the repair/ reinstatement designs, materials and methodology. The development shall be 
carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and to ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV21 of the Plymouth 
and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 2019.  
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 
 8 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT ROOF TOWER WORKS: GLAZED 
ROOF PAVILLION 
Prior to commencement of works to the tower roof, details of the proposed works to the glazed 
roof pavilion, including:  
- Details of elevation treatment, including ventilation, window frame finish and new doors 
- Internal works including layout and ceiling , wall and floor finishes  
- Terrazzo and concrete floor finishes, balustrade and handrails to be made good and cleaned 
for reuse. 
- Lighting  
- Planters and other affixed furniture 
- Lighting, ventilation, servicing and plant 
 
Shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The said details shall 
include the repair/ reinstatement designs, materials and methodology. The development shall be 
carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and to ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV21 of the Plymouth 
and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 2019.  
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences 
 
 9 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT ROOF TOWER WORKS: OTHER 
ROOF WORKS 
Prior to commencement of works to the tower roof, details of the proposed works to the roof, 
including:  
- Balustrade works  
- Landscape works including affixed furniture 
- Final floor finish 
- Repair works to yellow gull wing roof 

Page 96



 

 

- CIVIC sign details 
- Works to Building Maintenance Unit (BMU) 
- New roof membrane 
- Works to aggregate panelling and paint finish 
- Lighting, ventilation, servicing and plant 
- Mansafe systems 
 
Shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The said details shall 
include the repair/ reinstatement designs, materials and methodology. The development shall be 
carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and to ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV21 of the Plymouth 
and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 2019.  
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 
10 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT ROOF TOWER WORKS: 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS EQUIPMENT 
Notwithstanding the information shown on the accompanying plans, prior to commencement of 
works to the tower roof, further details showing the retention, removal or relocation of existing 
telecommunications equipment housed in the rooftop area of the tower shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the local planning authority in consultation with Historic England. The 
development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and to ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV21 of the Plymouth 
and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 2019.  
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 
11 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT DEMOLITION OF ENTRANCE LOBBY:  
TERRAZZO FLOOR FINISH DETAILS 
 
Notwithstanding the information shown on the accompanying plans, prior to the commencement of 
demolition of the entrance lobby, details of the protection (both during construction and final finish) 
for the existing terrazzo floor finishes in the tower lobby shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the local planning authority in consultation with Historic England. 
The development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and to ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV21 of the Plymouth 
and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 2019.  
 

Page 97



 

 

Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 
12 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT TOWER WORKS: INTERNAL WORKS 
TO TOWER 
Prior to commencement of works to the tower, details of the proposed works to the tower, 
including:  
- Works to core areas, including replacement lifts, details of lift doors, lobby wall linings, 
suspended ceiling lighting to be removed, terrazzo and concrete floor finishes, balustrade and 
handrails to be made good and cleaned for reuse 
- Areas of demolition  
- Final finishes including ceiling, wall and floor finishes 
- Internal partitions and fittings to be removed 
- Timber panelling to be removed and details of reuse 
- Lighting, ventilation, servicing and plant 
 
 
Shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The said details shall 
include the repair/ reinstatement designs, materials and methodology. The development shall be 
carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and to ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV21 of the Plymouth 
and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 2019. 
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 
 
13 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT DEMOLITION OF ENTRANCE LOBBY: 
WORKS TO FIRST FLOOR BALCONY 
Prior to commencement of demolition to of the entrance lobby, details of the proposed works to 
the first floor balcony, including:  
- Works to extend the existing concrete balcony slab 
- Timber deck floor finish 
- Balustrading  
 
Shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The said details shall 
include the repair/ reinstatement designs, materials and methodology. The development shall be 
carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and to ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV21 of the Plymouth 
and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 2019. 
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 

Page 98



 

 

14 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT GROUND AND FIRST FLOORS 
WORKS: GROUND AND FIRST FLOOR COLUMN REPAIRS 
Prior to commencement of works to the ground and first floor, details of the proposed works to the 
concrete and murano glass columns shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The said details shall include the repair/ reinstatement designs, materials and 
methodology. The development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and to ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV21 of the Plymouth 
and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 2019. 
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 
15 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT NORTH BLOCK: NORTH BLOCK 
WORKS EXTERNAL 
Prior to commencement of works to the north block, details of the proposed external works to the 
north block, including:  
 
- Works to spandrel panels including glazing lower panels 
- Repair of existing glazing 
- Concrete panel repair and reuse of concrete aggregate panels 
- Paint finishes 
- All new glazing, including glazed doors and louvre panels 
- New aluminium panelling 
- New concrete mullions 
- Roof works, including infill of roof lights, new roof membrane and coping , mansafe systems 
- Lighting, ventilation, servicing and plant 
 
Shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The said details shall 
include the repair/ reinstatement designs, materials and methodology. The development shall be 
carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and to ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV21 of the Plymouth 
and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 2019. 
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 
16 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT NORTH BLOCK: NORTH BLOCK 
WORKS INTERNAL 
Prior to commencement of works to the north block, details of the proposed internal works to the 
north block, including:  
- Partition removal and new partitions 
- Works to columns 
- Repair works to existing service cores and stairs 
- New service cores and stairs 

Page 99



 

 

- Ventilation and service risers 
- Floor, wall and ceiling finish 
- Lighting, ventilation, servicing and plant 
 
Shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The said details shall 
include the repair/ reinstatement designs, materials and methodology. The development shall be 
carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and to ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV21 of the Plymouth 
and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 2019. 
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 
17 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT SOUTH BLOCK: SOUTH BLOCK 
WORKS EXTERNAL 
Prior to commencement of works to the south block, details of the proposed external works to the 
south block, including:  
 
- Ramped access 
- Repair of delabole slate panels 
- Repair of existing glazing 
- Concrete panel repair and reuse of concrete aggregate panels 
- Paint finishes 
- All new glazing, including glazed doors and louvre panels 
- New aluminium panelling 
- New concrete mullions 
- Roof works, including infill of roof lights, new roof membrane and coping, man safe systems 
- Works to council house glazing system 
- Lighting, ventilation, servicing and plant 
 
 
Shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The said details shall 
include the repair/ reinstatement designs, materials and methodology. The development shall be 
carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and to ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV21 of the Plymouth 
and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 2019. 
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 
 
18 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT SOUTH BLOCK: SOUTH BLOCK 
WORKS INTERNAL 
Prior to commencement of works to the south block, details of the proposed internal works to the 
south block, including:  

Page 100



 

 

- Partition removal and new partitions 
- Works to columns 
- Repair works to existing service cores and stairs 
- New service cores and stairs, including new lift installation 
- Ventilation and service risers 
- Floor, wall and ceiling finish 
- Lighting, ventilation, servicing and plant 
 
Shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The said details shall 
include the repair/ reinstatement designs, materials and methodology. The development shall be 
carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and to ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV21 of the Plymouth 
and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 2019. 
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 
 
19 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT SOUTH BLOCK EXTENSION: SOUTH 
BLOCK GLAZED EXTENSION 
Prior to commencement of works to the south block extension, details of the proposed south block 
extension shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The said 
details shall include the design, materials and methodology. The development shall be carried out at 
all times in strict accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and to ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV21 of the Plymouth 
and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 2019. 
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 
 
20 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT BASEMENT: BASEMENT WORKS 
Prior to commencement of works to the basement, details of the proposed works to the basement, 
including:  
 
- External works including roller shutter doors, brick work, paint finish and new doors 
- Lighting, ventilation, servicing and plant 
- Final internal layout including floor, walls, ceiling finish 
 
Shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The said details shall 
include the repair/ reinstatement designs, materials and methodology. The development shall be 
carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 

Page 101



 

 

To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and to ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV21 of the Plymouth 
and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 2019. 
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 
21 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT DETAILS OF  GOODS, LIGHTING, 
VENTILATION, SERVICING AND PLANT DETAILS 
No works to install rainwater goods, lighting, ventilation, serving or plant shall take place until details 
of the proposed lighting, ventilation, servicing and other plant have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The said details shall include the location, design, materials 
and finishes to be used. The development shall be carried out at all times in strict accordance with 
the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and to ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV21 of the Plymouth 
and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 2019. 
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 
22 CONDITION: PRE-COMMENCEMENT PUBLIC REALM: PUBLIC REALM 
WORKS 
Prior to commencement of works to the public realm, details of the proposed public realm works, 
including:  
- Reflective pool 
- New staircase link 
- Repair works to spiral staircase 
- Surface treatment/hard landscape works 
- Tree planters 
- Civic lettering signage 
- Affixed furniture including seating areas and planters 
- Replacement balustrading 
 
Shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The said details shall 
include the repair/ reinstatement designs, materials and methodology. The development shall be 
carried out at all times in strict accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that special regard is paid to protecting the special architectural and historic interest and 
integrity of the building under Section 16of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 and to ensure that the details of the proposed work comply with DEV21 of the Plymouth 
and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and para 190 and 192 of the NPPF 2019. 
 
Pre Commencement Justification: To ensure that important historic features are properly protected 
/ respected before construction commences. 
 

 
INFORMATIVES 

Page 102



 

 

 
 1 INFORMATIVE: PLANNING PERMISSION CONDITIONS 
In the exercise of the Listed Building Consent, regard must be had to the conditions imposed on 
the notice of planning permission 19/00439/FUL relating to the development to which these works 
are associated. 
 
 
 
 2 INFORMATIVE: CONDITIONAL APPROVAL (NEGOTIATION) 
In accordance with the requirements of Article 31 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019, the Council has worked in a positive and pro-active way with the Applicant 
including pre-application discussions and has negotiated amendments to the application to enable 
the grant of planning permission. 
 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



 

OFFICIAL 

            
Plymouth City Council 
Planning Compliance Summary – to end of December 2019  
 
 
 
Cases outstanding 
 

 
             332 

 
Cases received this month 
 

 
                        16 
 

 
Cases closed this month 
 
(No breach identified)  
 
(Informal/formal action taken)  

 
                        48 
 
                       (18) 
 
                       (30) 
 

 
Planning Contravention Notices Issued 
 
Planning Contravention Notices Live 
 

 
                       0 
 
                       0 

 
Planning Enforcement Notices Issued 
 
Enforcement Notices Live 
 
Temporary Stop Notices (TSN) issued  
 
Temporary Stop Notices (TSN) Live 
 

 
                       0 
 
                       2 
 
                       0 
  
                       0  

 
Untidy Land Notices Issued 
 
Untidy Land Notices Live 
 

 
                        1 
 
                        9 

 
Prosecutions Initiated 
 
Prosecutions Live 
 

 
                        3 
 
                        0 

 
END OF 2019 SUMMARY: 
Total Cases Received - 425 
Total Cases Closed – 386  
 
DM/BW/REP.01.01.20 

Page 105 Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Applications Determined Since Last Committee
Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

26/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01551/FUL Mrs M Butt Rear conservatory with terrace 3 Oak Drive Plymouth PL6 5TZ Mr Peter Lambert

26/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01576/FUL Mr & Mrs Eggleton Single storey side extension, garage 
conversion and alterations to driveway.

63 Higher Park Close Plymouth PL7 
1XG

Mr Peter Lambert

26/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01583/FUL Mr & Mrs Douglas Extension to top floor flat and external 
alterations (re-submission of lapsed approval 
15/02290/FUL and 17/02198/S73)

77 Lambhay Hill Plymouth PL1 2NR Miss Amy Thompson

26/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01600/LBC Mr Sean Harrison Refurbishment and repainting of refectory, 
creation of internal wall and fixed seating and 
removal of chandeliers

60 Southside Street Plymouth PL1 
2LA 

Mr Chris Cummings

26/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01622/FUL Mrs Alexis Bowater Statue to commemorate Lady Nancy Astor Grassed Area In Front Of 3 Elliot 
Terrace  Plymouth PL1 2PL 

Mrs Karen Gallacher

27/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/00909/FUL Mr Kelvin Philips Two-storey side extension and creation of 
roof terrace on existing cafe roof

Devils Point Cafe Firestone Bay 
Durnford Street Plymouth PL1 3QR 

Mr Chris Cummings

27/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01242/FUL Miss Rachel Santry Garage and hardstand 133 Bodmin Road Plymouth PL5 
4AR 

Mr Chris King

27/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01594/ADV Co-op Food 1no. Non illuminated Fascia sign, 1no. 
Internally illuminated Internal logo, 6no. Non 
illuminated Aluminium panels

34-38 Hornchurch Road Plymouth 
PL5 2TG 

Mr Macauley Potter

07 January 2020 Page 1 of 16

P
age 107

A
genda Item

 8



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

28/11/2019 Refused 19/01256/AMD Mr Colin Salisman Non-material amendment for application 
17/01997/FUL: Modifications to external 
works and paving levels to the North and East 
elevations and public playground; and 
provision of additional cycle storage lockers

23 How Street Plymouth PL4 0DB Mr Chris King

28/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01450/FUL Mr Steve Wise Two-storey front, side and rear extension 
(Retrospective)

16 Powisland Drive Plymouth PL6 
6AA

Mr Peter Lambert

28/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01513/FUL Mr Jason Gregg Change of use from financial and professional 
services (Class A2) to hot-food takeaway 
(Class A5)

339 Southway Drive Plymouth PL6 
6QR 

Mr Jon Fox

28/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01597/FUL Mr Alan Mitchell First floor rear extension including balcony 
and part ground floor rear extension

43 Tapson Drive Plymouth PL9 9UA Mrs Alumeci Tuima

28/11/2019 Agreed 19/01637/CDM Mr Mike Tossell Condition Discharge: Condition 3 of 
application 19/01065/FUL

101 Underlane Plympton Plymouth 
PL7 1QY 

Mr Simon Osborne

28/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01664/LBC Mr Nick Bishop Internal alterations to Library building Plymouth College  Ford Park 
Plymouth PL4 6RN

Mr Mike Stone

28/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01679/FUL Mrs Jennifer Shellard Continued siting of four portacabin modular 
buildings for a further 5 years (Retrospective).

Royal Citadel  Hoe Road Plymouth 
PL1 2PD

Mr Mike Stone

28/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01683/FUL Mr Rob Bishop Replacement shopfront 17 Wolseley Road Plymouth PL2 
3AA

Mrs Alumeci Tuima

07 January 2020 Page 2 of 16

P
age 108



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

28/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01715/FUL Mr Joynal Abedin Single storey rear extension 13A Alexandra Terrace Plymouth 
PL2 1JZ

Mrs Alumeci Tuima

29/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/00574/FUL Rowan Homes Erection of 9x flats Land Between 2-10 Haystone Place 
Plymouth PL1 5DU 

Mr Thomas 
Westrope

29/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01416/TPO Mr Nigel Coles Beech (T1) and group of Hornbeams  - reduce 
height to level shown in photo (approx 2-
3m). Agreed with agent N. Coles 26/11/19 

4 Coach House Mews Plymouth 
PL9 8FS

Mrs Jane Turner

29/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01417/TPO Mr Nigel Coles Hornbeam (T5 and T6) - to reduce to height 
indicated in photo (approx 2-3m) - agreed 
with agent N.Coles 26/11/19.

4A Coach House Mews Plymouth 
PL9 8FS

Mrs Jane Turner

29/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01541/TPO Mrs Jean Joyce Sycamore (T1) - Fell. Sycamore (T2) - Crown 
reduce by maximum of 4-5m. Sycamore (T3) - 
Crown reduce by maximum of 4-5m.

Rear Of 39 Medway Place 
Plymouth PL3 6HB 

Mrs Jane Turner

29/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01586/FUL Mr S Mahon Replacement of existing diesel generators, 
fuel tanks and associated transformers with 
battery storage containers and transformers 
including retention of the susbstation, 
electrical equipment and acoustic barrier

Ernesettle Stor Ernesettle Way 
Plymouth PL5 2TT 

Mr Simon Osborne

29/11/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01660/TCO Miss Lindy Stephens 1x Oak & 3x Leyland Cypress - Fell The Mews House Dormy Avenue 
Plymouth PL3 5BE 

Ms Joanne Gilvear

02/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01029/ADV Sutton Harbour 
Services Ltd

Car Parking Signs at various Car Parks around 
Sutton Harbour, Plymouth (North Quay car 
Park, Marina Overflow Car Park, Sutton 
Wharf Car Park, Vauxhall Car Park, Guys Car 
Park, Quay Point/Harbour Restaurant Car 
Park, and Marina Car Park).

Car Parks Sutton Harbour Plymouth Mrs Karen Gallacher

07 January 2020 Page 3 of 16

P
age 109



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

02/12/2019 Agreed 19/01520/CDM Mr Mark Salmon Discharge of conditions 6 (Provision for tree 
planting) and 7 (Travel plan) of application 
18/00210/FUL.

53 Valley Road Plymouth PL7 1RF Mr Macauley Potter

02/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01587/TPO Sanctuary Housing 
Group

G1. Oak + Cypress. Side prune Oak and 
Cypress by approx. 2m to suitable growth 
points to clear building by approx. 2m

Compton Leigh Plymouth PL3 5JW Ms Joanne Gilvear

02/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01636/TCO Mrs Lindsey Carter 2x Whitebeam - reduce southern lateral 
branches by 1m. Bay - Reduce by 2m. Maple - 
Trim to clear street light by 1m. Sycamore - 
Raise crown to 2m above ground level.

Gardens Surrounding St Michaels 
Terrace Stoke Plymouth PL1 4QG

Ms Joanne Gilvear

03/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01027/LBC Mr Essy Kamaie To install a new glazed door to the main 
entrance within an existing opening to create 
a more accessible entrance and means of 
escape

Customs House The Parade 
Plymouth PL1 2JL 

Mrs Karen Gallacher

03/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01413/FUL 22 Lockyer Street Ltd 
And The Chamber Of 
Commerce

Change of use from offices (Class B1(a)) to 5x 
flats (Class C3)

22 Lockyer Street Plymouth PL1 
2QW 

Mr Chris Cummings

03/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01414/LBC 22 Lockyer Street Ltd 
And The Chamber Of 
Commerce

Change of use from offices (Class B1(a)) to 5x 
flats (Class C3)

22 Lockyer Street Plymouth PL1 
2QW 

Mr Chris Cummings

03/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01512/FUL Mr Brad Yeo First floor side and rear extension and 
extension and alterations to garage

53 Croydon Gardens Plymouth PL5 
2RH 

Mr Peter Lambert

03/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01578/S73 Ms Denise White Variation of condition 1 (Approved Plans) to 
amend the height of the rear extension under 
application 18/01347/FUL.

3 Elaine Close Plymouth PL7 1SP Mr Macauley Potter

07 January 2020 Page 4 of 16

P
age 110



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

03/12/2019 Agreed 19/01673/CDM Mr John Mutter Condition Discharge: Conditions 3 & 4 of 
application 19/00841/FUL

Former Lark Early Years Centre  
Ham Green Lane Plymouth PL2 2LS

Mr Chris King

03/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01681/FUL Miss Paris Wilson Change of use from light industrial (Class B2) 
to gym (Class D2)

27A Stonehouse Street Plymouth 
PL1 3PE 

Mr Chris Cummings

03/12/2019 Agreed 19/01691/CDM David Watson Condition Discharge: Condition 13 of 
application 15/01940/OUT

Old Mays Nursery, Vinery Lane 
Plymouth PL9 8DE 

Mrs Katie Saunders

03/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01701/FUL Mr G Shaw New dwelling 159 Stanborough Road Plymouth 
PL9 8NY

Mr Chris Cummings

04/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01610/TPO Mrs Naomi Brooks Trim the tops of the trees by a couple of feet 
to maintain a reasonable height. Also trim 
lower overhang (by 0.5m; 2m above ground 
level)

109 Staddiscombe Road Plymouth 
PL9 9LT 

Ms Joanne Gilvear

04/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01642/TPO Mr Thomas Purchase Horse Chestnut (T1) - Reduce crown by 2.5-
3m to appropriate growth points.  Also 
including a crown clean to remove any dead, 
damaged, weak or crossing branches

8 Wantage Gardens Plymouth PL1 
5DN

Ms Joanne Gilvear

05/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01569/FUL Mr Gareth Thomas Rear and part side extension. 33 Weir Road Plymouth PL6 8RR Mr Macauley Potter

05/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01629/FUL Mrs Michaela Beck Replacement of glazed south screen with 
metal cladding and aluminium windows and 
amended metal cladding for pitched roof

The Market House Building, 65 
Duke Street Plymouth PL1 4ED 

Mr Jon Fox

07 January 2020 Page 5 of 16

P
age 111



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

05/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01630/LBC Mrs Michaela Beck Replacement of glazed south screen with 
metal cladding and aluminium windows and 
amended metal cladding for pitched roof

The Market House Building, 65 
Duke Street Plymouth PL1 4ED 

Mr Jon Fox

05/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01657/FUL Mr & Mrs Hooker Front porch and side extension wraparound 
on west and south facing elevations, 
extension on north facing elevation, removal 
of boundary hedge and replacement with 
wall, minor extension to hardstand and 
minor garden alterations

24 Cot Hill Plymouth PL7 1SB Mr Macauley Potter

05/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01672/TCO Mr James Elliott 3x Ash - Fell due to signs of ash die-back 101 Milford Lane Plymouth PL5 
4NG 

Mrs Jane Turner

05/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01720/FUL Mr & Mrs Dowell Single storey extension to existing side porch 19 Raynham Road Plymouth PL3 
4EU

Mrs Alumeci Tuima

05/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01752/FUL Mr S Jones Side and rear extension 17 White Lady Road Plymouth PL9 
9GA 

Mr Mike Stone

05/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01886/ADV The Range 2no. additional graphics on existing totem 
sign (retrospective)

Units 29-34, Sugar Mill Industrial 
Estate Billacombe Road Plymouth 
PL9 7HT 

Mr Sam Lewis

06/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01017/LBC Mr Didier Cavrot Replace 2x wooden French doors with 
powder-coated aluminium units

Ground Floor Flat 25 Grand Parade 
Plymouth PL1 3DQ 

Mr Mike Stone

06/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01066/FUL Mr C J Matthews Erection of 3no. dwellings 15 Frogmore Avenue Plymouth PL6 
5XH 

Ms Marie 
Stainwright

07 January 2020 Page 6 of 16

P
age 112



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

06/12/2019 Refused Permisson in 
Principle

19/01646/PIP Mr N Bishop 4no. terraced dwellings inc. associated works 21 Mutley Road Plymouth PL3 4SB Miss Amy Thompson

09/12/2019 Refused 19/00988/FUL Mr N Cole Proposed domestic garage with home office 
and workshop above inc. formation of new 
vehicular access

21 St Vincent Street Plymouth PL2 
1JH

Mr Peter Lambert

09/12/2019 Refused 19/01516/FUL Mr Neil Mercer Change of use from office (Class B1) to 
residential (Class C3), including an extension 
to form 2 additional storeys creating four 
new dwellings

5 Alton Place Plymouth PL4 8JR Miss Amy Thompson

09/12/2019 Agreed 19/01638/CDM Mr Richard Cox Condition Discharge: Conditions 3, 4 & 5 of 
application 19/00221/FUL

98-100 Vauxhall Street Plymouth 
PL4 0DD 

Miss Amy Thompson

09/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01644/S73 Mr Neal Hiscocks Variation of Condition 7 (Opening Hours) of 
applica on 06/01869/FUL 

33 Notte Street Plymouth PL1 2AZ Mr Mike Stone

09/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01668/FUL Mr Theo Montagu-
Andrews

Reconfigure the existing 2 horizontally split 
maisonettes into 2 vertically separated 3 
storey houses (C4 HMO) (retrospective).

8 Connaught Avenue Plymouth PL4 
7BX 

Mr Mike Stone

09/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01718/FUL Mr Doug Richmond Loft conversion to provide additional activity 
areas/rooms

Plymstock Community Centre 
Plymouth PL9 9GH 

Mr Mike Stone

09/12/2019 Refused 19/01798/AMD St James Place 
Property Unit Trust

Non-material amendment: Subdivision and 
change of use of part of existing retail unit 
(Class A1) to provide 2x restaurants (Class A3) 
and 1x retail unit (Class A1), together with 
associated internal and external alterations 
including the creation of new shopfronts for 
application 19/00121/FUL.

Part Of Former BHS Unit, 33-39 
Cornwall Street City Centre 
Plymouth PL1 1NR 

Miss Amy Thompson

07 January 2020 Page 7 of 16

P
age 113



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

09/12/2019 Refused 19/01972/AMD Mr Ben May Non-material Amendment: Removal of 
window W13. Replace Door ED4 with a 
window for application 19/00449/FUL

23 Boston Close Plymouth PL9 7NR Mr Mike Stone

10/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01307/FUL Mr Stephen Hill Construction of mixed-use games area and 
modular changing rooms with WC

University Technical College Park 
Avenue Devonport Plymouth City 
Of Plymouth PL1 4RL 

Mr Jon Fox

11/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/00968/FUL Mr Simon Worthington Replacement garage and ground floor side 
extension with rear disability ramp access. 
Retrospective raised rear decking.

139 Alma Road Plymouth PL3 4HQ Mrs Alumeci Tuima

11/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01266/FUL Mr Liam Lynch Change of use to first and second floors from 
office to 2 residential units (Class C3)

Marine House  Commercial Road 
Plymouth PL4 0LE

Miss Amy Thompson

11/12/2019 Refused 19/01468/OUT Will Tall Outline planning permission for 2x semi-
detached dwellings with all matters reserved

72 Billacombe Road Plymouth PL9 
7EX

Miss Amy Thompson

11/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01560/LBC Christina Kusytsch Installation of stair lift to west wing staircase Pearn House Eggbuckland Road 
Plymouth PL3 5JP 

Mrs Karen Gallacher

11/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01603/LBC Plymouth City Council Hard landscape improvements to Prysten 
House forecourt area inc. new granite paving 
design incorporating existing cobbles, 
bollards, seating, tree planting, soft 
landscape enhancements and accessibility 
improvements

Abbey Place Plymouth  Mrs Karen Gallacher

07 January 2020 Page 8 of 16

P
age 114



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

11/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01606/TPO Mr David Young Group 1 (G1)  - various tree pruning works to 
20 trees to raise crowns over road and 
loading bay up to 6m above ground level and 
trim back overhanging branches as detailed 
on applica on form. Group 2 (G2) - 2 Ash and 
1 Sycamore fell due to poor condition. 1 Ash 
reduce limb over southern boundary.

Airport Business Centre, 10 
Thornbury Road Plymouth PL6 7PP 

Mrs Jane Turner

11/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01607/TPO Mr David Young T1 mature Oak: reduce the lowest major 
lateral on the SE side by approx 3m and 
reduce the lateral limb on the NE side by up 
to 3m. Cut stub of lost branch back to the 
trunk.

Airport Business Centre, 10 
Thornbury Road Plymouth PL6 7PP 

Mrs Jane Turner

11/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01614/TCO Reverend Keith Robus Area 1 - To remove an unmanaged 20 year 
old bay hedge and griselina and replant with 
other shrubs. Area 2 - To remove 2 bay trees 
and replant with climbing and flowering 
shrubs. Area 3 - Reduce apple tree by 2m.

6 Underhill Road Plymouth PL3 
4BP 

Mrs Jane Turner

11/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01635/FUL Consuelo Quimson Conversion of car repair garage and 
extension to form a new dwelling (Class C3)

155 Vauxhall Street Plymouth PL4 
0DF

Miss Amy Thompson

11/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01706/FUL Mr Roger Goulding Single storey rear extension 23 Greenacres Plymouth PL9 7EW Mrs Alumeci Tuima

11/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01726/TCO Mrs Gregory T1 - Willow - Reduce in height by 2.5M and 
crown spread by 1.5M T2 - Leylandii - Fell

73 Molesworth Road Stoke 
Plymouth PL1 5PG 

Ms Joanne Gilvear

12/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01217/FUL Mr Dara Mohammed Side extension to form a vehicle repair 
workshop (Retrospective)

1 Bounds Place Plymouth PL1 3LS Mr Mike Stone

07 January 2020 Page 9 of 16

P
age 115



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

12/12/2019 Agreed 19/01667/CDMLB Hesmondhalgh Homes 
And Prime Property Ltd

Condition Discharge: Conditions 3 & 5 of 
application 19/01113/LBC

9 Parade Plymouth PL1 2JL Miss Amy Thompson

12/12/2019 Refused 19/01709/FUL Mr Cheng Feng Guo Change of use of 1st & 2nd floors from self-
contained flat (Class C3) to 4-bed HMO (Class 
C4) (retrospective)

45 Ebrington Street Plymouth PL4 
9AA 

Mr Sam Lewis

12/12/2019 Refused 19/01723/FUL Mr Marc Norman Hardstanding (retrospective) 63 Church Road Plymstock 
Plymouth PL9 9AT

Mr Sam Lewis

12/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01738/FUL Ms Lorna Smith Dormer roof extension for passenger lift 
(Part -retrospective)

Parkwood House Nursing And 
Residential Home 72-74 Exmouth 
Road Plymouth PL1 4QJ 

Mrs Alumeci Tuima

12/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01741/FUL Mr Murat Haykir Subdivision of existing 32-bed HMO into 
three 8-bed and one 9-bed HMO's (Sui 
Generis) with associated demolition works

10 - 13 Gordon Terrace Plymouth 
PL4 6EP 

Mr Chris Cummings

12/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01781/FUL Mr Barrie Douglass Continued use of Western Zone as temporary 
Pay & Display Car Park (for a duration of 2 
years) together with retention of boundary 
hoardings

Car Park, Derrys Cross Plymouth 
PL1 2SP 

Mr Chris Cummings

13/12/2019 Refused 19/01044/S73 Mr Anthony Collins Variation of Condition 2 (Approved Plans) of 
application 14/01537/FUL to allow for 
internal and external alterations to the 
dwelling, boathouse and amendments to site 
layout

Turnchapel Boatyard, Clovelly View 
Plymouth PL9 9SY

Miss Amy Thompson

13/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01589/FUL Mr Philip Hanrahan Two-storey side extention and front porch. 9 Hareston Close Plymouth PL7 
1QJ 

Mr Peter Lambert

07 January 2020 Page 10 of 16

P
age 116



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

13/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01685/FUL Mr Andy Wise Single storey front extension 20 St Bridget Avenue Plymouth PL6 
5BB

Mr Peter Lambert

13/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01743/TCO Mr Mark Laville Cherry Tree (C1) - Fell due to instability and 
unsafe structure caused by previous 
lightening damage

14 South Hill Stoke Plymouth PL1 
5RR

Mrs Jane Turner

16/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01517/FUL Mr Johns Front porch, single storey rear and side 
extension and decking.

14 Harewood Crescent Plymouth 
PL5 3PT

Mr Peter Lambert

16/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01658/FUL Sarah Lock Front dormer window 9 Thorn Park Plymouth PL3 4TG Mrs Alumeci Tuima

17/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01675/TPO Mr John Stenning Row of Sycamore, Hazel and Holly: Reduce 
the height to previous pruning points by 1m.   
Sycamore: Reduce crown by 4m to natural 
growth points and shape to reduce stress on 
union at base.

19 Elmwood Close Plymouth PL6 
7JY 

Mrs Jane Turner

17/12/2019 Refused 19/01703/FUL Mr Richard Mitchell New dwelling adajcent to 10 Pollard Close 
(demolition of existing outbuildings)

10 Pollard Close Plymouth PL9 9RR Mr Chris Cummings

17/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01712/TPO Mr Jon Manning Ash (1) - reduce to previous pruning points 
(approximately 2-3m) to natural growth 
points. Review trees condition in Summer 
2020 to assess extent of Ash Die back. Horse 
Chestnut (2) - reduce low limb growing 
towards house by half to reduce the leverage 
on the limb where it meets the main stem. 
Review condition of tree in Spring/Summer 
2020 to assess extent of bleeding canker that 
may be present. Amendments agreed with 
owner 10/12/19.      

4 The Folly Plymouth PL9 8TZ Mrs Jane Turner

07 January 2020 Page 11 of 16

P
age 117



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

17/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01799/FUL University Hospitals 
Plymouth NHS Trust

Infilling of existing lightwell to provide 
additional theatres, ancillary medical rooms 
& staff facilities (Class D1)

Derriford Hospital  Derriford Road 
Plymouth PL6 8DH

Mr Chris King

18/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01522/LBC Mrs Rebecca Elwell Repair and restore features including internal 
plaster coving, existing glass shop facade, 
doorways and windows

43 Southside Street Plymouth PL1 
2LD 

Mr Mike Stone

18/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01665/FUL Mr Aslett Single storey side and partial rear extension 16 Parkstone Lane Plymouth PL7 
2DF

Mr Macauley Potter

18/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01677/TPO Fogell Lawson Cypress (T1 & T2) - Crown reduce by 
up to 2m and shape top. Ash (T3 & T4) - Self 
set trees within T1 & T2 - fell to ground level.

11 Bickleigh Close Plymouth PL6 
5ND

Ms Joanne Gilvear

18/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01678/FUL Darren Edwards Single storey side and rear extension inc. 
construction of raised rear terrace

162 Dunraven Drive Plymouth PL6 
6AZ

Mr Macauley Potter

19/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01338/FUL Mr Yasin Azizi Conversion of existing building into a 
restaurant with ancillary bar (Class A3), 
function room (Sui Generis) and single storey 
extension and balconies

Pier Masters Office Phoenix Wharf 
Madeira Road Plymouth PL1 2NX 

Miss Amy Thompson

19/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01339/LBC Mr Yasin Azizi Work associated with the conversion of 
existing building into a restaurant with 
ancillary bar and function room including 
balconies and single storey extension

Pier Masters Office Phoenix Wharf 
Madeira Road Plymouth PL1 2NX 

Miss Amy Thompson

19/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01526/FUL Mr Wakeham & Jeffery Marquee function room & bar facility in rear 
grounds (retrospective)

Morley Arms, 4 Billacombe Road 
Plymouth PL9 7HP

Mr Chris Cummings

07 January 2020 Page 12 of 16

P
age 118



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

19/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01527/LBC Mr Wakeham & Jeffery Marquee function room & bar facility within 
the rear grounds (retrospective)

Morley Arms, 4 Billacombe Road 
Plymouth PL9 7HP

Mr Chris Cummings

19/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01604/FUL Pentrebay Properties 
Ltd

Change of use of dwelling to guest house 
(Class C1) (retrospective)

16 Manor Street Plymouth 
Plymouth PL1 1TL 

Mr Chris Cummings

19/12/2019 Agreed 19/01682/CDM Persimmon Homes 
South West

Condition Discharge: Condition 2 of 
application 18/01104/REM

Saltram Meadow Primary School 
The Ride Plymouth PL9 7JA  

Ms Marie 
Stainwright

19/12/2019 Agreed 19/01702/CDMLB Plymouth City Council Condition Discharge: Condition 8 of 
application 16/02427/LBC

City Museum & Art Gallery Drake 
Circus Plymouth PL4 8AJ  

Mr Tim Midwood

19/12/2019 Refused 19/01717/FUL Mr & Mrs J Dowse Single storey front extension 23 Staple Close Plymouth PL6 7DP Mr Peter Lambert

19/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01747/FUL Mr Chris Pearce Single storey extension to rear of garage / 
side and rear of dwelling, including increased 
eaves height.

27 Lotherton Close Plymouth PL7 
1QQ

Mr Peter Lambert

19/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01759/FUL Mr & Mrs Martin New dwelling and refurbishment of existing 
dwelling to form garage and workshop and 
associated external works (re-submission of 
19/00859/FUL)

Small Acres  Arcadia Plymouth PL9 
8EF

Mr Chris Cummings

19/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01787/FUL Mr Kevin Briscoe Erection of two garage blocks, containing 
eight garages in total, each with an attached 
store; and a stand-alone detached store

Land At Dale Road/East Park 
Avenue Plymouth

Mr Sam Lewis

07 January 2020 Page 13 of 16

P
age 119



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

19/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01790/TCO Mr Samuel Woods Sycamore (T1) - Re-pollard as part of routine 
maintenance

3 Sussex Place Plymouth PL1 2HT Mrs Jane Turner

19/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01828/LBC Mrs Vash Stimpson General refurbishment, replacement 
windows, roof repairs and internal works 
(Resubmission)

9 Clarence Place Stonehouse 
Plymouth PL1 3JN 

Mrs Alumeci Tuima

19/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01830/FUL Mr & Mrs Rumsby Rear extension including a rear raised terrace 5 Castleton Close Plymouth PL3 5AE Mrs Alumeci Tuima

20/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01585/FUL Mr P Scantlebury Demolition of single storey warehouse to rear 
of Eurotech House and construct 30no. new 
build industrial sheds (Class B2, B8) in two 
detached blocks with associated access road, 
car parking, hard and soft landscaping

Eurotech House  Burrington Way 
Plymouth PL5 3LZ

Mr Chris King

20/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01758/TPO Mrs Marian Dangerfield T1 Ash & T2 Ash: Fell due to Ash die back. 36 Furland Close Plymouth PL9 9NG Mrs Jane Turner

20/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01783/TCO Man For All Seasons Lime - Fell stem (after crown has been 
removed due to dangerous condition)

Land Adjacent 16 Craigie Drive 
Plymouth PL1 3FW  

Mrs Jane Turner

20/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01821/TCO Mr Fred Sheehan Silver Birch (T1) - remove 3 small lowest 
branches only, no reduction required. 
Amendment agreed 17/12/19. Mountain Ash 
(Rowan) (T2) - reduce whole crown by up to 
2m  to nearest growth points and shape.

9 The Grove Stoke Plymouth PL3 
4AL 

Mrs Jane Turner

20/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01833/TCO Mrs Clark Lime (T1,T2,T3 & T4) - Re-pollard. Beech (T5) - 
Crown lift to 5.2m above ground level.

1 Fitzroy Terrace Fitzroy Road 
Plymouth PL1 5PX 

Mrs Jane Turner

07 January 2020 Page 14 of 16

P
age 120



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

23/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01545/FUL Mr & Mrs Martelette Demolition of boot room and construction of 
side extension on north-east facing elevation.

1 Glenholt Close Plymouth PL6 7HZ Mr Peter Lambert

23/12/2019 Refused 19/01612/FUL Mr & Mrs P & A Turner Rear dormer 97A Foulston Avenue Plymouth 
PL5 1HN 

Mr Peter Lambert

23/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01693/FUL Mr Darren Gregory Storage and parking (amendments from 
application 18/01590/FUL)

BSS, Unit G, St Modwen Road 
Parkway Industrial Estate 
Plymouth PL6 8LH  

Mr Macauley Potter

23/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01698/FUL Mr Alex Bennett Two-storey side extension 48 Cobbett Road Plymouth PL5 3LF Mr Peter Lambert

23/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01750/ADV Mr Jeff Lyon 2x illuminated box signs and 3x fascia signs 2 - 4 St Modwen Road Plymouth 
PL6 8LH 

Mr Macauley Potter

23/12/2019 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01754/FUL Mr Martin Lyons Retention of posts and associated festoon 
lighting to rear decked area and coverings to 
external stand-alone chiller (retrospective)

Chaddlewood Inn  100 Glen Road 
Plympton Plymouth PL7 2XS

Mr Macauley Potter

02/01/2020 Agreed 19/01906/CDM Mrs Kate Foot Condition Discharge: Condition 6 of 
application 18/00018/FUL

Land Off Towerfield Drive 
Plymouth  

Mr Chris King

06/01/2020 Refused 19/01767/FUL Mr Boote Erection of rear balcony and dormer and 
insertion of window on side elevation

58 Shaw Way Plymouth PL9 9XH Mr Chris Cummings

06/01/2020 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01784/FUL Mr Paul Matthews Front extension 7 Brimhill Close Plymouth PL7 1XP Mr Macauley Potter

07 January 2020 Page 15 of 16

P
age 121



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

06/01/2020 Agreed 19/01794/CDM Mr James Barron Condition Discharge: Condition 3 of 
application 19/01006/FUL

214 Ladysmith Road Plymouth PL4 
7NR 

Mr Chris Cummings

06/01/2020 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01825/FUL Mr Angelos Sanders Layout alterations to change from 9 flats to 7 
flats (Class C3)

120 Devonport Road Plymouth PL1 
5RF

Mr Chris Cummings

06/01/2020 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01865/FUL Mrs Laura Lambert First floor extension above main entrance, 
conversion of hipped roof to gable (east 
elevation) and addition of roof lights.

56 Dunstone Road Plymstock 
Plymouth PL9 8SF

Mr Mike Stone

06/01/2020 Granted 
Conditionally 

19/01908/FUL Russell Hooper Conversion of 10-bed HMO (Sui Generis) into 
5 one-bed dwellings (Class C3)

18 Addison Road Plymouth PL4 8LL Mr Chris Cummings

06/01/2020 Agreed 19/02001/CDM Mr & Mrs Simon 
Millmore

Condition Discharge: Condition 3 of 
application 19/01323/FUL

38 Dean Hill Plymouth PL9 9AD Mr Mike Stone

06/01/2020 Agreed 19/02032/CDM Mr Trow Condition Discharge: Condition 16 of 
application 17/01701/FUL

North Prospect Phase 5 
Cookworthy Road, Foliot Road, 
Woodville Road And Briardale 
Road Plymouth  

Mr Chris King

07 January 2020 Page 16 of 16

P
age 122



Appeal Decisions between 26/11/2019 and 06/01/2020
Decision Date
19/12/2019

Appeal Reference
2019/0006

Inspectors Decision
Appeal Dismissed

Inspectors Reference Number
APP/N1160/W/19/3222904

Ward
Plymstock Radford

Address
Land/Garage Site R/o 15-59 Randwick Park Road Plymouth 

Application Description
Outline application for erection of  4 dwellings (details of access, appearance, landscaping, layout & scale, reserved for future consideration)

Appeal Process 
Written Representations

Officers Name
Mr Simon Osborne

Synopsis
The inspector agreed that the the development would fail to provide a safe and suitable access for all users in conflict with policy DEV29 of the Joint Local Plan (JLP).  The 
inspector  also agreed that the proposal would be harmful to the character and appearence of the area and would therefore fail to comply with Policies DEV10 and DEV20 of 
the JLP.

Original Planning Application 

18/00710/OUT

07 January 2020 Page 1 of 1

P
age 123

A
genda Item

 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Voting Schedule 5 December 2019, 05/12/2019 Planning Committee

	6.1 14 West Hill Road - 19/01457/S73
	6.2 Civic Centre - 19/00439/FUL
	6.3 Civic Centre - 19/00440/LBC
	7 Planning Enforcement
	8 Planning Application Decisions Issued
	9 Appeal Decisions

